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MESSAGE FROM THE WATERMASTER BOARD

As the Antelope Valley completes its third year of the Judgment, many details for

implementation are in place. 2016 and 2017 were marked by building of the Watermaster

team and development of roles and responsibilities for working together. During 2018, the

foundation was laid for ongoing implementation of the Judgment as evidenced by a list of

accomplishments:

• Approval of Rules and Regulations for administrative assessments, well

application approval and Small Pumper qualifying process, transfers, and

storage agreements

• Approval and management of budgets

• Adopting a Replacement Water Assessment for fiscal year 2018

• Completion of the Second Annual Report and acceptance by the Court

• Initiation of other key sections of the Rules and Regulations

• Board and Court approval of moving the annual report due date to August 1

• Resolution of important issues, including pre-rampdown for Exhibit 3 Parties

• Participation in a Basin-wide groundwater monitoring program.

This year was also the first year that required rampdown of production. As production is

reduced, the flexibility of the Judgment becomes more important to ensure both reliability

of shared groundwater supplies and management of the groundwater basin. Through

transfers, carryover, new wells, and storage agreements for groundwater banking, the

Watermaster is well-positioned to monitor and manage groundwater in compliance with the

Judgment.

The Antelope Valley Watermaster Board would like to extend its appreciation to all involved

for their contributions during this year of action. We continue to be impressed by the

cooperative effort and appreciate the opportunity to work together toward our shared goal

of achieving groundwater sustainability in an equitable manner.

Watermaster Board of

Directors, July 24, 2019

From left to right:

John Calandri,

Dennis Atkinson,

Kathy MacLaren

(alternate),

Dwayne Chisam

(alternate), and

Adam Ariki
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1 INTRODUCTION

The Judgment and Physical Solution for the Antelope Valley Groundwater Adjudication
represents more than 15 years of complex proceedings among more than 4,000 parties
including public water suppliers, landowners, small pumpers and non-pumping property
owners, and the federal and state governments. Through four phases, the adjudication
defined the boundaries of the Basins, considered hydraulic connection throughout the
basin, established the safe yield, and quantified groundwater production. The Judgment
identified a state of overdraft, established respective water rights among groundwater
producers, and ordered a rampdown of production to the native basin safe yield.

The adjudication provides a framework to sustainably manage the basin and reduce
groundwater level declines and subsidence. The Final Judgment was entered on December
23, 2015 and is posted on the Watermaster website for reference

(www.avwatermaster.net). To administer the Judgment, the Court directed appointment of

the Watermaster— afive-member board representing the Parties. In 2016, the Watermaster
Board and an Advisory Committee (both entities required under the Judgment) were
formed. In 2017, the Board awarded Todd Groundwater athree-year contract as
Watermaster Engineer to fulfill certain requirements of the Judgment.

Under the Judgment, the Watermaster Engineer has the responsibility of preparing annual
reports for the Court; this document is the third such report. In 2018, the Watermaster
Board requested and was granted a permanent filing date of August 1St for submittal of the
Annual Report to the Court covering the previous calendar year. This 2018 Annual Report is
being provided to the Court in compliance with the August 1, 2019 deadline.

1.1 BACKGROUND

The Antelope Valley Groundwater Basin is located in the western Mojave Desert, covering
1,580 square miles in portions of Los Angeles, Kern, and San Bernardino counties (Figure 1).
The groundwater basin boundaries have been defined by the California Department of
Water Resources (DWR Basin Number 6-44) and extend beyond the Adjudication Area.

The Antelope Valley Area of Adjudication covers approximately 1,390 square miles of the
groundwater basin (Figure 1). The Adjudication Area does not include the adjacent alluvial
portions of the groundwater basin to the northeast and south and is truncated at the Los
Angeles-San Bernardino County Line in the southeast. Subsurface flows between these
adjacent alluvial areas and the Adjudication Area are generally considered nominal and the
portion of the Antelope Valley Groundwater Basin that extends southeast into San

Bernardino County is within the Mojave Basin Area adjudication.

The Adjudication Area was divided into five subareas for management purposes (Figure 1):

1 The Final Judgment defines Basin as the Area of Adjudication determined by the Court. Basin is
capitalized in this report when referring to the Area of Adjudication. To avoid confusion, the terms
Antelope Valley Groundwater Basin or groundwater basin refer to the DWR-defined groundwater
basin.
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• Central Antelope Valley Subarea

• West Antelope Valley Subarea

• South East Subarea

• Willow Springs Subarea

• Rogers Lake Subarea.

A native safe yield of 82,300 acre-feet per year (AFY) was established by the Court for the
Antelope Valley Area of Adjudication and the adjudication Parties were divided into various
classes to establish respective water rights among groundwater producers. To achieve
sustainable groundwater elevations, groundwater production would be reduced (ramped
down) over aseven-year period (2016-2022) to a final Production Right. The diagram on the
right side of Figure 2z shows the Judgment's apportionment of native safe yield to the
various Judgment classes.

The Physical Solution portion of the Judgment provides direction for the reduction of

groundwater use within the Adjudication Area. During the Rampdown Period, certain
Parties to the Judgment are allowed to produce groundwater in excess of their Production

Right (beginning with aPre-Rampdown Production amount) that does not incur a
Replacement Obligation. Certain Parties are also allowed credit for Imported Water Return
Flows, Carry Over water, and Stored water under the distinct circumstances defined in the
Judgment. Certain Parties can also pump more than their allowed Production Right provided
they pay a Replacement Water Assessment. A schematic diagram showing these seven

potential production categories is shown on the left side of Figure 2 and summarized briefly
below.

The Production Right is the portion of the Native Safe Yield assigned to each Party

(see diagram on the right of Figure 2). Production Rights for specific Parties are
defined in the Judgment in Exhibit 3 (Non-Overlying Production Rights), Exhibit 4
(Overlying Production Rights), and in Paragraphs 5.1.3, 5.1.4, and 5.1.5 for the Small
Pumper Class, Federal Reserved Water Rights, and State of California, respectively.

Rampdown Production is defined in the Judgment as the reasonable and beneficial

use of groundwater, excluding Imported Water Return Flows, at a time prior to the
Judgment, or the Production Right, whichever is greater. During the seven-year
Rampdown Period, production is reduced — or ramped down —from the Pre-
Rampdown Production Right to the Production Right for certain Parties with Pre-
Rampdown Production rights.

I mported Water Return Flows represent water brought into the basin from outside
of the watershed that provides a net increase in groundwater supply (i.e., does not
include consumed or evaporated imported water). Return flows for agriculture were
established in the Judgment at 34 percent of imported water use and at 39 percent
for municipal and industrial uses.

2 The sum of the individual production rights is 82,280.63 AFY; this sum was rounded in the Judgment
to 82,300 AFY.
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Carry Over Water is the right to an unused portion of an annual Production Right or

a right to Imported Water Return Flows in a year after the year in which the right

was originally available.

Stored Water is water held in storage in the basin as a result of direct spreading or

other methods for subsequent withdrawal and use pursuant to an agreement with

the Watermaster. It does not include Imported Water Return Flows.

Other Rights to Produce Groundwater are outlined in Paragraphs 5.1.7 through

5.1.10 and other portions of the Judgment. Such rights include entities that are

required to switch to recycled water when available and production rights granted

to non-stipulating Parties (also referred to as Supporting Landowners). This category

also includes the right of Phelan Pinon Hills Community Services District to produce

groundwater from the basin for export to its service area under specific conditions

in the Judgment (¶6.4.1.2).

Additional Production is pumping that does not fall into the other categories and

would include Production based on Watermaster approvals for new production, and

Production by Parties to the Judgment in excess of other rights. This production

would be subject to a Replacement Obligation; for such pumping, the producer

would need to pay a Replacement Water Assessment. Replacement Water will be

purchased by the Watermaster or otherwise provided to satisfy the Replacement

Obligation.

The Judgment limits the amount of groundwater production that can be produced without

incurring a Replacement Obligation (i.e., purchase of imported water to offset the

production). Types of production that do not incur a Replacement Obligation include

Production Rights (up to the Native Safe Yield), recovery of Imported Water Return Flows, or

recovery of Stored Water. While this report indicates that reductions in Production will

occur as Parties are ramping down production rights to the Native Safe Yield, such

reductions may not be required to the extent that the over-production is offset with

Replacement Water.

1.T PURPOSE AND SCOPE

The Watermaster Engineer is responsible for preparation of annual reports for submittal to

the Court. The purpose of the annual report is to document the progress and details

regarding implementation of the Judgment including a review of Watermaster activities.

I nformation is provided regarding the operation and management of the groundwater basin

and water supplies during the preceding year. A list of the minimum required elements to

be compiled in the annual reports is provided in Paragraph (¶) 18.5.18 of the Judgment;

these elements are reproduced in Table 1, with reference to the associated locations in this

report. If there are any conflicts or ambiguities related to legal provisions or interpretations

between the Judgment and the Annual Report, the Judgment controls.
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Table 1. Minimum Required Elements for the 2018 Annual Report

.•

18.5.18.1 Replacement Obligations

-..

Section 4.6, Appendix E

18.5.18.2 Hydrologic Data Collection Section 3

18.5.18.3 Purchase and Recharge of Imported
Water

Section 4.4, Section 4.8, Appendix C

18.5.18.4 Notice List Appendix L

18.5.18.5 New Production Applications Section 4.11, Appendix H

18.5.18.6 Rules and Regulations Section 1.5.7

18.5.18.7 Measuring Devices Section 3.9

18.5.18.8 Storage Agreements Section 4.8, Appendix G

18.5.18.9 Annual Administrative Budget Section 1.6, Appendix K

18.5.18.10 Transfers Section 4.7, Appendix F

18.5.18.11 Production Reports Section 4.3, Appendix B

18.5.18.12 Prior Year Report Section 2

18.5.18.13 Amount of Stored Water owned by
each Party

Section 4.8, Appendix G

18.5.18.14 Amount of Stored Imported Water

owned by each Party
Sections 4.3, 4.4 and 4.8, Appendices B,

C and D

18.5.18.15 Amount of Unused Imported Water
Return Flows owned by each Party

Section 4.4, Appendices B and D

18.5.18.16 Amount of Carry Over Water owned by
each Party

Section 4.3 and 4.5, Appendix B

18.5.18.17 All Changes in Use Section 4.10

Z.3 REPORT ORGANIZATION

The report provides background and supporting information about Watermaster activities

and safe yield monitoring for 2018, and detailed water accounting for 2018 groundwater

use by the Parties to the Judgment. These topics are organized into five primary sections
and accompanying appendices as described below.

Section 1 of this report provides an introduction and context for the 2018 Annual Report,
including purpose and scope. Section 1.4 summarizes the stakeholder review process
including posting and notice of the report and the public hearing. Information on the
Watermaster management structure including an organization chart is provided in Section
1.5. That section also summarizes the current roles and responsibilities of the Watermaster
Board, administrative staff, the Advisory Committee, Watermaster legal counsel, and the
Watermaster Engineer. Section 1.6 provides a summary of Watermaster finances.

Section 2 summarizes specific activities of the Watermaster in 2018 and discusses the issues

and topics involved this year in implementing the Judgment.
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Section 3 presents relevant data from the monitoring of Safe Yield components in the basin.

To provide context for these data, a summary of the safe yield calculation in the Judgment is

provided in Section 3.1. This summary includes a brief review of the components of natural

groundwater recharge relating to the hydrologic system (see Schematic Diagram on Figure

3). Components of both the Native Safe Yield and the Total Safe Yield are also discussed,

including natural recharge, return flows from urban and agricultural water use, and

imported water (including return flows from imported water use). Components of the Total

Safe Yield are represented conceptually on Figure 4. Section 3.2 documents the monitoring

of safe yield components and provides preliminary analyses on current groundwater levels

and change in groundwater in storage for 2018.

Section 4 provides details on the water accounting for the Parties to the Judgment. Rights to

produce groundwater under the Judgment are summarized in Section 4.1. Water accounting

includes documentation of the Rampdown schedule (Section 4.2), 2018 Production and

water accounting (Section 4.3), imported water use and Imported Water Return Flows

(Sections 4.4), Carry Over water (Sections 4.5), and information on Replacement Obligations

(Section 4.6), Transfers (Section 4.7), Stored water and Storage Agreements (Section 4.8).

The Drought Program is discussed in Section 4.10. Changes of use and well applications for

new or replacement production wells are discussed in Sections 4.10 and 4.11 and finally,

Section 4.12 provides details on the wastewater and recycled water practices that occurred

within the Adjudication Area in 2018. As illustrated in Table 1 above, much of the water

accounting— including reported groundwater production — is provided in appendices to this

report.

Section 5 lists the technical documents reviewed and referenced in this 2018 Annual Report.

The appendices contain supporting material and details of the water accounting process.

The attached appendices are printouts of active water accounting files; on occasion, a cell

will contain a notation "#VALUE!" This signifies an incomplete formula in the electronic file;

these have been retained to maintain the operational integrity of the electronic file. Table 2

provides a detailed description of each of the appendices and sub-appendices for reference.

Table 2. Description of Appendices

Appendix ~ Title

A ', Rampdown Schedules

I A-1. Exhibit 3Non-Overlying

and Supporting Landowner

Producers Rampdown Schedule

A-2. Exhibit 4 Overlying

~ Producers Rampdown Schedule

B ~~ Water Accounting Tables

B-1. Exhibit 3Non-Overlying

'~ Producers Water Accounting

Description

Appendix A tables contain the Rampdown

schedule for 2016 through 2022 for each

Party. Beginning in 2018, Pre-Rampdown

Production is reduced in equal increments

each year to reach the Production Right by

the end of the Rampdown Period.

Appendix B presents detailed accounting of

water sources (Production Right,

Rampdown, unused Federal Reserved
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B-2. Exhibit 4 Overlying

Producers Water Accounting

B-3. Other Parties (Non-Exhibit

3 or Exhibit 4) Water

', Accounting

B-4. New Production Water

"~ Accounting

C Imported Water, 2018

D 'i Imported Water Return Flows

E Replacement Obligations,

2018

_____ ___
Water Rights, Imported Water Return

Flows and Carry Over water) for 2018 for ',

each Party to the Judgment. Note that all

', Parties may not have rights to all source

types. In addition, Table B-4 presents water

accounting for entities granted New

Production.
--

Appendix C-1 provides details on the

amounts of water imported into the

Antelope Valley watershed, amounts

~' recharged (banked), and the amounts sold

', to customers by AVEK, PWD, and LCID in

2018.

i Appendix G2 summarizes the amount of

imported water stored at the beginning of

~~, 2018, the amounts spread and recovered in

', 2018, and the amount of recoverable

imported water stored at the end of 2018

', for AVEK, Willow Springs Water Bank, and

Tejon.

Appendix D presents annual imported

water use for 2011 through 2018 and

I mported Water Return Flows for 2016

I through 2019 by the 37 Parties on Exhibit

8. Return flows from agricultural imported

water use are set in the Judgment at 34

percent and return flows from municipal

and industrial imported water use are set in

the Judgment at 39 percent of the amount

of imported water used.

~~ Replacement Obligations and Replacement

', Assessments for 2018 are listed in

Appendix E.

Transfers Appendix F-1 provides details on all

transfers that have occurred since

implementation of the Judgment.

Appendix F-2 lists the amounts of water

that are not associated with a transfer of

Production Rights that were transferred to

other Parties.

G ~i Storage Agreements ~~, The Storage Agreements Rules and

Regulations are in the process of being

~ ~ finalized and will follow requirements of

', the Judgment (e.~., Section 14). In future
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__ __ __

~' _ _ _ _
H Approved Well Applications

and Small Pumper Qualifying

Documentation

Metering Requirements

- - _ _ __
annual reports, Appendix G will contain

Storage Agreement information._ __ _______
Appendix H contains a table of the well

applications and Small Pumper Qualifying

Documentations that have been approved

through 2018.

The approved section of Meter
'. Requirements for the Rules and

Regulations document is provided in

i ', Appendix I.

J ~ Wastewater and Recycled ,Antelope Valley area wastewater is treated

Water, 2018 at LACSD's Palmdale and Lancaster WRPs,
EAFB Air Force Research Laboratory

Treatment Plant and the Main Base WWTP,

and the RCSD's WWTP. Quantities of

effluent and reuse for 2018 are tabulated in

', Appendix J.
r—_

K ! Watermaster Financial ', Appendix K contains detailed Watermaster

~~ Budgets ' financial budgets including a detailed

~, K-1. Financial Budget, 2018 ' budget summary table for 2018 and a

~~~ K-2. Proposed Financial Budget, ', proposed budget for 2019. It also contains

2019 I an audit of all revenue and expenditures

K-2 Financial Audit, 2018 for 2018.

L ,Notice List Appendix L contains a list of parties to
', ' receive notices from the Watermaster.

M ', Delinquent Administrative 'Current lists of delinquent assessments and

1 Assessments and Delinquent delinquent production reports are included

Production Reports _ _ _ ~ in Appendix M.

N Forms Appendix N contains the following forms:

• Annual Water Production Report, 2018

Calendar Year

• Monthly Flowmeter Production
Reporting Form (1 Meter)

• Monthly Flowmeter Production

Reporting Form (2 Meters)

• Request for Information

', • Parcel Location Request

• Small Pumper Qualifying
Documentation

• Replacement Well Application (for

Existing Production Rights or New Non-

Production Well)

• New Point of Extraction Application

• New Production Application
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• Water Conservation Practices for Single

Family Home

• Transfer Request Form

O , Financial Analysis Study for Appendix 0 contains a financial analysis of

~~, Replacement Water I the imported water costs associated with

Assessment 'Antelope Valley State Water Contractors
' Association's groundwater basin recharge
' and of Replacement Water Assessment

I fees to be assessed on property owners or
', _ _ : agencies outside of AVSWCA's service area.

Although many sections of the Rules and Regulations have been completed and approved

by the Court, other sections are at various stages of preparation, and Regulations are not

yet complete. Accordingly, some data sets remain imperfect for the purposes of complete

water accounting and reconciliation of water supply and demand. Preparation of this third

Annual Report has further identified procedures and steps to prioritize for future data

reporting and analysis.

Some background material from the adjudication and the Judgment are repeated from the

two previous Annual Reports for context and reference. In addition, Todd Groundwater is

adding new analyses and information to each new annual report (recognizing budget

constraints) to further the monitoring and understanding of the shared groundwater

resources for all Basin users.

Z.4 STAKEHOLDER AND PUBLIC REVIEW AND COMMENT

This third annual report will be submitted to the Court on or by August 1 in compliance with

the filing deadline approved by the Court3. A Draft Annual Report was posted on the

Watermaster website on June 10, 2019 and reviewed by the Watermaster at its regular

board meeting on June 26, 2019. After incorporating comments from various Parties and the

Advisory Committee, the Watermaster Engineer produced a Revised Draft version on July 8,

2019.

The Watermaster Board held a noticed public hearing on July 24, 2019 to consider public

comments on the Revised Draft 2018 Annual Report. On July 24, 2019, the Watermaster

unanimously voted to consider and incorporate additional comments received prior to and

at the July 24 public hearing. The Watermaster also unanimously approved the filing of the

Final 2018 Annual Report, which incorporates the Board-recommended comments, to the

Court by August 1, 2019 (Resolution No. 19-22).

3 Paragraph 18.5.17 of the Final Judgment requires that the Annual Report be filed no later than April

1 of each year. Recognizing the time needed for data reporting and compilation, along with the

required public review process, the Watermaster Board requested and received approval from the

Court to permanently move the filing deadline to August 1 of each year.
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1.5 ANTELOPE VALLEY ADJUDICATION MANAGEMENT

The Judgment identified the powers and duties of specific entities charged with carrying out

the Physical Solution. The Watermaster Board functions as the arm of the Court and is

assisted by the Watermaster Engineer, the Watermaster Legal Counsel, and administrative

staff to implement the Physical Solution. The Advisory Committee acts in an advisory

capacity and makes recommendations on discretionary determinations by the Watermaster

Board. The Subarea Advisory Management Committees, while not yet formed, will also act

in an advisory capacity regarding recommendations on discretionary determinations made

by the Watermaster Engineer that may affect that subarea.

The Advisory Committee and Watermaster Board are currently working to better define the

lines of communication and working relationships among the Watermaster entities. A

general organization chart that illustrates current working relationships is provided as

follows.

Antelope Valley Watermaster Organization Chart

ubarea Advisory WatermasterManagement 
goadCommittees

Watermaster ~ ( Administrative
Engineer l Support

Advisory
Committee

Legal Counsel

Roles and responsibilities of these entities are summarized in the following sections,
recognizing that these role and responsibilities are currently being better defined by the

Advisory Committee and Watermaster Board.
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1.5.1 Watermaster Board

The Court-appointed Watermaster Board is made up of five members including:

One representative from the Antelope Valley-East Kern Water Agency (AVEK)

One representative from the Los Angeles County Waterworks District No. 40

(District 40)

One public water supplier selected by District 40, Palmdale Water District (PWD),

Quartz Hill Water District (QHWD), Littlerock Creek Irrigation District (LCID),

California Water Service Company (Cal Water), Desert Lake Community Services

District (DLCSD), North Edwards Water District (NEWD), City of Palmdale, City of

Lancaster, Palm Ranch Irrigation District (PRID), and Rosamond Community Services

District (RCSD), and

Two landowner representatives (exclusive of public agencies and members of the

Non-Pumper and Small Pumper Classes) who are selected by majority vote of the

landowners identified on Exhibit 4 of the Physical Solution (or their successors in

interest) based on their proportionate share of the total Production Rights identified

on Exhibit 4.

The current Board members and their alternates are:

• AVEK: Robert Parris, alternate: Dwayne Chisom

• District 40: Adam Ariki, alternate: Richard Gomez

• Public Water Suppliers: Leo Thibault, alternate: Kathy MacLaren

• Landowners: John Calandri and Dennis Atkinson, alternates: Derek Yurosek and

Adrienne Reca

The Watermaster Board has certain responsibilities and powers including:

• A responsibility to implement and enforce the Judgment through actions, motions,

and service of notices, determinations, requests, demands, reports and other

methods pursuant to the Judgment and the Rules and Regulations

• An obligation to carry out its duties in an impartial manner and to rely on best

available information to support Judgment implementation

• Selection of Watermaster Engineer

• Preparation of Annual Administrative budgets and associated accounting and billing

• Documentation of groundwater use and transfers and other pertinent information

• Review of new production applications

• Maintenance of a notice list

• Conduct of regular meetings at least quarterly and in accordance with the Ralph M.

Brown Act

• Oversight of the preparation of annual reports and a Rules and Regulations

document

• Powers and duties as provided in Paragraph 18.4 of the Judgment.

The Board typically meets on the fourth Wednesday of each month, with all meetings

conducted in compliance with the Ralph M. Brown Act. The Watermaster Board has

conducted its affairs transparently, including holding interviews and deliberations in open
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session. All Watermaster decisions to date have been achieved through unanimous vote of
the Board, although the Watermaster provided for meeting minutes to be approved using a
simple majority vote.

1.5.2 Watermaster Engineer

Todd Groundwater was selected unanimously by the Watermaster Board as the
Watermaster Engineer for the April 2017 to December 2019 period. The Watermaster
Engineer is to "perform engineering and technical analysis and water administration
functions as provided for in this Judgment" (¶3.5.53 of the Judgment). Duties include:

• Monitor safe yield components and collect hydrologic data

• Require Producers (other than unmetered Small Pumper Class members) to submit
Production Reports

• Ensure reduction in groundwater production to the Native Safe Yield during the
2016 to 2022 Rampdown Period

• Propose measuring devices to monitor Production

• Determine Replacement Obligations

• Purchase and recharge Replacement Water

• Establish a new production application procedure, review applications and
recommend approval or denial of such applications

• Maintain accounting of water stored under Storage Agreements

• Ensure that no person reduces the amount of storm flows that would otherwise
enter the Basin

• Encourage appropriate regulatory agencies to enforce reasonable water quality
regulations affecting the basin

• Establish memoranda of understanding with Kern and Los Angeles counties
regarding well drilling ordinances and reporting

• Beginning in 2034, consider and potentially recommend change to Native Safe Yield

• Beginning in 2034, consider and potentially recommend changes to the calculation
of Imported Water Return Flow percentages

• Rely on best available information to support Judgment implementation.

• Prepare an Annual Report for filing with the Court by August 1. The Watermaster
requested and was granted a permanent extension to August 1 from the April 1
date in the Judgment

• Preparation of Rules and Regulations for Watermaster proposal to the Court
(¶18.4.2 of the Judgment).

Although not specified in the Judgment, the Watermaster also has reporting requirements
under the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA) for adjudicated basins (Cal.
Water Code §10720.8). Required data on water use, groundwater monitoring, and other
information are due to the California Department of Water Resources (DWR) by April 1 of
each year (California Water Code Section 10720.8). Adjudicated basins that have Court filing
dates for their Annual Reports after April 1 (such as the Antelope Valley Adjudication) are
allowed to complete reporting later than April 1. DWR requires an initial filing on the SGMA
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website by April 1 of each year to notify DWR that requested data are not yet available;

SGMA reporting can be completed when data become available. For the Antelope Valley

Watermaster, this would occur concurrently with the Court filing of the Annual Report on

August 1. Todd Groundwater will fulfill SGMA compliance reporting for the Watermaster.

1.5.3 Watermaster Legal Counsel

Watermaster Legal Counsel advises the Board on legal matters and takes direction directly

from the Board. In November 2017, the Watermaster unanimously selected Craig Parton of

Price Postel &Parma LLP to provide legal services to the Board, including provision of legal

opinions on implementation of the Judgment.

1.5.4 Administrative Staff and Functions

Since 2016, administrative functions of the Watermaster are shared between selected staff

members of AVEK and Palmdale Water District (PWD). The Watermaster has agreed to

reimburse AVEK and PWD for the costs of providing administrative services to the

Watermaster. The Advisory Committee and Watermaster will continue to review the roles

and responsibilities of the administrative staff to improve the level of service provided to

the Watermaster. Currently, administrative staff perform the followings tasks for the

Watermaster:

• Provide general oversight of all Watermaster activities and provide direction to

consultants

• Work with the Watermaster Board to establish priorities and policy

• Provide accounting services (accounts receivables and bill payables)

• Administer assessment billings and collection process

• Serve as primary point of contact for producers and the public

• Prepare and manage Watermaster budgets

• Administer Watermaster contracts (Engineer, Legal, Audit, etc.)

• Prepare Watermaster staff reports

• Prepare, distribute, and post Watermaster meeting agendas and public notices

• Maintain contact lists and notice list

• Maintain Watermaster website

• Coordinate attorney input

• Coordinate Advisory Committee input

• Coordinate Subarea Advisory Management Committees input

• Assist Watermaster Landowner Board member elections

• Staff Watermaster meetings

• Prepare meeting minutes

• Administer meeting services and equipment (Audio/Visual, Teleconference, and

Video-Conference)

• Maintain liability insurance

• Manage work tasks as directed by Board

• Recommend timelines for tasks.
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1.5.5 Advisory Committee

The Judgment directed Producers to form an Advisory Committee to act in an advisory

capacity and make recommendations on discretionary determinations by the Watermaster

Board. The Watermaster Board facilitated the formation of the Advisory Committee, which

is formed and functioning, and has provided input into various Watermaster Board

decisions. The Advisory Committee consists of 16 members representing a broad range of

interests:

• Fourfrom agricultural interests

• One industrial landowner

• One public landowner (County Sanitation Districts Nos. 14 and 20 of Los Angeles

County or the City of Los Angeles)

• Two Los Angeles County public water purveyors (PWD, QHWD)

• One Kern County public agency (RCSD)

• Two mutual water companies (one each in Los Angeles and Kern counties)

• Two small pumpers

• Two ex-officio members per Judgment (Federal and State), and

• One ex-officio member to provide technical advice (Producer associated with

Rottman Drilling).

Advisory Committee meetings are open to the public, noticed on the same webpage as the

Watermaster meetings, and held on a regular basis (typically monthly in the week before

the Board meeting).

1.5.6 Subarea Advisory Management Committees

The Judgment directs Producers in each of the five Management Subareas to form Subarea

Management Advisory Committees. Each committee will consist of five Management

Advisors to advise and make recommendations on discretionary determinations made by

the Watermaster Engineer that may affect that subarea. Meetings should be held on a

regular basis (at least semi-annually) with the Watermaster Engineer and should be open to

the public.

Subarea Advisory Management Committees have not yet been formed, however, members

from the various subareas are currently active in the implementation of the Judgment

through the Advisory Committee. The Judgment provides that the Subarea Advisory

Management Committees be composed of nominated and elected candidates by parties in

that subarea; elections are to be held every three years. According to the Judgment, Parties

will be entitled to one vote for each acre-foot of Production Right. It is anticipated that

these committees will be in place in 2020.

1.5.7 Rules and Regulations Development

The Watermaster Engineer is required by the Judgment to prepare Rules and Regulations for

Watermaster approval and proposal to the Court (¶18.4.2). The Rules and Regulations

provide procedures and processes for implementation of the Judgment. Development of the
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Antelope Valley Watermaster Rules and Regulations was initiated in 2017. Draft sections are

being prepared on a priority basis, with a focus on those sections that are associated with a

deadline under the Judgment (e.g., well metering requirements) or that provide immediate

water management flexibility for the Parties (e.g., transfers or storage agreements). To date,

approximately 10 key sections of the Rules and Regulations have either been approved or

are in draft form for Advisory Committee and Board review. The status of the proposed

Rules and Regulations sections are listed in Table 3.

As documented in the Judgment (¶18.4.2), the Court may adopt appropriate rules and

regulations proposed by the Watermaster pursuant to the Judgment. Further, the

Watermaster is required to hold a public hearing prior to proposing the Rules and

Regulations to the Court. Thirty (30) days prior to the public hearing, the Watermaster must

provide to all Parties a notice of the hearing and a copy of the proposed rules and

regulations being considered. As discussed above, the Rules and Regulations are being

developed in sections; each approved section has been considered in a public hearing and

approved separately by the Court.

Table 3. Rules and Regulations —Sections and Status

Section Status
Public

Hearing

RESOLUTION COURT

No. Date Hearing ORDER

Meter Requirements Approved 9/27/2017 R-17-07 9/27/2017 11/17/2018 11/28/2017

Administrative Assessments Approved 1/24/2018 R-18-01 1/24/2018 3/7/2018 Waiting on Court

Annual Report Filing Date Approved 2/28/2018 R-18-06 2/28/2018 4/30/2018 Waiting on Court

New Production Requests /Well Applications Approved 2/28/2018 R-18-OS 2/28/2018 4/30/2018 Waiting on Court

Transfers Approved
4/25/2018;

OS 23 2018

R-18-12

R-18-19

4/25/2018

5 23 2018
6/27/018 Waiting on Court

Carry Over Water Approved 5/23/2018 R-18-17 5/23/2018 6/27/2018 Waiting on Court

Storage Agreements Approved
5/23/2018;

6 27 2018
R-18-16 6/27/2018 8/9/2018

Pre-Rampdown Production Approved R-18-22 6/27/2018

Watermaster Administration In progress

Advisory Committee /Subarea Committees In progress

Board Procedures -Voting, Subcommittees Pending

I mported Water and Return Flows Pending

Small Pumpers Assessments Pending

Replacement Water Assessments Pending

Balance Assessment Pending

Drought Program Pending

Recycled Water Pending

Monitoring and Reporting

includin SGMA Com liance
Pending

Compliance/Enforcement Pending

Forms In progress
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1.6 WATERMASTER FINANCES

1.6.1 Watermaster Administrative Budgets

The Watermaster Board approved an administrative budget for 2018, which resulted in a

$5.00 per acre-foot administrative assessment. The Watermaster 2018 Budget is

summarized below.

2018 Administrative Budget Summary

Final Budgeted Actual

Operating Revenue $635,195 $517,050

Non-Operating Revenue $ 78,000 $181,276

Operating Expenses ($682,708) ($783,145)

Net $ 30,487 ($ 84,819)

The Watermaster experienced a budget shortfall in 2018 and in response to that shortfall,

the Watermaster reacted by reducing 2019 expenses by deferring work and re-assigning

tasks previously conducted by the Watermaster Engineer to Administrative Staff.

The 2018 Operating Revenue Budget listed above includes 2018 Fixed Assessments and

2017 Variable Assessments.

• Fixed Administrative Assessments are based on each acre foot of a Party's

Production Right and are levied at the beginning of the year in which the Production

Right occurs.

• Variable Administrative Assessments are based on either (1) production by a Party

in excess of the Production Right or (2) the right to produce Imported Water Return

Flows. Administrative assessments on production under (1) above are levied each

Spring after total Production is reported for the preceding year; administrative

assessments on the right to produce Imported Water Return Flows under (2) above

are determined for the current year based on an average of the amounts of

imported water used in the five preceding years (¶5.2.2). Variable Administrative

Assessments are collected on:

o each acre foot (AF) of a Party's right to produce Imported Water Return

Flows (¶5.2)

o each acre foot of a Party's production for which a Replacement Water

Assessment has been imposed (¶9.2)

o each acre foot used of allon-Overlying Production Right holders' allocation

of the unused Federal Reserved Water Right (¶9.1)

o each acre foot during Rampdown of a Party's production in excess of the

sum of its Production Right, Imported Water Return Flows, and Production

subject to a Replacement Water Assessment.
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Appendix K contains detailed Watermaster financial budgets as follows:

Appendix K-1 contains a detailed budget summary table for 2018. The budget

summary is broken down into revenues and expenses.

• Appendix K-2 contains a proposed budget for 2019.

The Administrative budget for 2019 has been approved. The 2019 Administrative

Assessment was set at $5.00 per acre-foot, the same as the Administrative

Assessment for 2018.

Payment from Small Pumpers has been deferred due to the large cost associated

with collection of an Administrative Assessment for the more than 4,000 Parties

listed in Exhibit C of the Judgment. It is anticipated that the Small Pumper Class will

begin to receive invoices in 2020 for 2016 through 2020 Administrative

Assessments4.

• Appendix K-3 contains an audit of all revenue and expenditures for 2018.

1.6.2 Replacement Water Assessments

Replacement Water Assessments are charged by the Watermaster to pay for costs incurred

to buy and recharge Replacement Water. The purpose of Replacement Water is to ensure

that each Party may fully exercise its Production Right by keeping the Basin in hydrologic

balance. The Watermaster shall impose a Replacement Water Assessment on any Producer

whose production of groundwater is more than the sum of such Producer's rights to pump

groundwater including Production Rights, Carry Over water, Imported Water Return Flows,

in-lieu production, and Stored water. Appendix E lists the Replacement Obligations for

2018.

During the first two years of the Rampdown Period (2016 and 2017), Producers were

generally not subject to Replacement Water Assessment fees. An exception to this was

Phelan Pinon Hills Community Services District (PPHCSD). It does not have Production

Rights, but according to the Judgment is allowed to pump up to 1,200 AFY from its Well #14

provided such use does not cause Material Injury and PPHCSD pays a Replacement Water

Assessment and any other costs deemed necessary to protect Production Rights defined in

the Judgment, on all water produced and exported.

The amount of the Replacement Water Assessment due is the sum of excess Production

m ultiplied by the cost to the Watermaster of replacement water, including any Watermaster

spreading costs. All Replacement Water Assessments collected by the Watermaster are used

to acquire imported water from AVEK, LCID, PWD, or other entities. If the Watermaster

encounters issues in acquiring imported water, as much water as possible will be purchased.

The Watermaster will allocate the imported water for delivery to areas on an equitable and

practicable basis pursuant to the Watermaster Rules and Regulations, including when the

4 Small Pumper Administrative Assessments for 2016 through 2020 would be $20.40/Party (1.2
AF*$1/AF for 2016 + 1.2 AF*$1/AF for 2017 + 1.2 AF*$5/AF for 2018 + 1.2 AF*$5/AF for 2019 + 1.2
AF*$5/AF for 2020 = 1.2+1.2+6.0+6.0+6.0 = $20.40).
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available amount of imported water is insufficient to fully meet the Replacement Water
obligations.

A Replacement Water Assessment fee for Producers within the AVEK service area was set at
$415 per acre-foot for the 2016 through 2018 period. The other two State Water
Contractors within the Antelope Valley (PWD and LCID) also agreed to use this same rate for
this period. The Watermaster has not yet defined the Replacement Water Assessment rate
for 2016, 2017, and 2018 for lands outside of the State Water Contractor service areas.

The State Water contractors in the Antelope Valley area (AVEK, PWD, and LCID) hired an
independent contractor to determine the Replacement Water Assessment fee in areas
inside and in areas outside of the State Water Contractor service areas (copy included in
Appendix O). The Replacement Water Assessment fee for 2019 was set at $451 per acre-
foot for Producers within the State Water Contractor service areas and at $948 per acre-foot
for Producers outside the State Water Contractor service areas, with the differences
reflecting capital costs paid through property taxes by Parties inside the State Water
Contractor service areas. Imported water will be purchased from AVEK, PWD, LCID, or other
entities and recharged to make up any Replacement Water Obligations.
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2 WATERMASTER ACTIVITIES IN 2018

I n this third year for the Judgment, the Watermaster Board has continued to make
considerable progress toward implementation of the adjudication. The Board held ten
regular Board meetings and one special Board meeting (combined November and December

meeting) in 2018. Board meetings were generally preceded by an Advisory Committee
meeting the previous week. In 2018, the Board considered 33 resolutions and unanimously

approved 29 resolutions (available on Watermaster website) as listed below:

• R-18-01Adopting Rules &Regulations Concerning Administrative Assessments

• R-18-02Approving Budget and Administrative Assessment for 2018

• R-18-03Approving 1/17/18 Memo — Approval of Well Applications

• R-18-04Approving 1/5/18 Memo —Legal Issue with PPHCSD —Obligated to pay
Replacement Water Assessment

• R-18-05Adopting Rules and Regulations Concerning Process and Procedure of Well
Applications

• R-18-06Adopting Annual Report Deadline —August 1 of each year

• R-18-07 Consenting to enterJPIA—Joint Powers Insurance Authority

• R-18-08Adopting a Replacement Water Assessment for FY 2018

• (R-18-09 NotApprovedJ

• R-18-10Approving Small Pumpers and New or Replacement Well Applications

• (R-18-11 Not Approved)

• R-18-12 Adopting Rules and Regulations Concerning Transfers

• (R-18-13 Not Approved)

• R-18-14Approving New and Replacement Wells

• (R-18-15 Not Approved)

• R-18-16Adopting Rules and Regulations Concerning Storage Agreements

• R-18-17 Adopting Rules and Regulations Concerning Carry Over Water

• R-18-18Approving Small Pumpers and New or Replacement Well Applications

• R-18-19Adopting Rules and Regulations Concerning Transfers

• R-18-20Approving Small Pumpers and New or Replacement Well Applications

• R-18-21Approving Applications for Transfers

• R-18-22Adopting Pre-Rampdown Production Amounts for Exhibit 3

• R-18-23Approving New or Replacement Well Applications

• R-18-24Approving Applications for Transfers

• R-18-25Approving 2017 Annual Report

• R-18-26Approving Small Pumpers and New or Replacement Well Applications

• R-18-27Approving Applications for Transfers —First Solar Land Holdings

• R-18-28Approving Small Pumpers and New or Replacement Well Applications

• R-18-29Approving Small Pumpers and New or Replacement Well Applications

• R-18-30Approving Budget and Administrative Assessment for FY 2019

• R-18-31Approving Small Pumpers and New or Replacement Well Applications

• R-18-32Approving Applications for Transfer— WDS CA II to Palmdale Water District
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• R-18-33 Authorizing Specified Individuals to Transact Business with Citizens Business

Bank

Notable actions taken by the Board in 2018 are highlighted below:

• Held a Public Hearing to approve a proposed calendar year 2018 Administrative

budget with an Administrative Assessment of $5 per acre foot.

• Requested a permanent change in the filing date of the annual report from April 1

to August 1. The change was approved by the Court.

• Held landowner elections for landowner representative and alternates.

• Approved and submitted the 2017 Annual Report to the Court.

• Complied with the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA) reporting

requirements for adjudicated basins.

• Adopted a Replacement Water Assessment in the State Water Contractors service

areas of $415 per acre foot for 2018.

The Judgment requires the Watermaster to annually certify a list of unpaid delinquent

assessments. Administrative staff regularly provide the Watermaster with a list of

outstanding assessments as part of their financial report in each Board packet. Current lists

of delinquent administrative assessments and delinquent production reports are included in

Appendix M. Future annual reports will also include a list of delinquent Replacement

Assessments and Balance Assessments.

Notice List. The Judgment requires the Watermaster to maintain a current list of Parties to

receive notices on Watermaster activities. The Parties have an obligation to provide the

Watermaster with their current contact information. For Small Pumper Class members, the

Watermaster will initially use the contact information contained in the list of Small Pumper

Class members filed with the Court by class counsel. The current Notice List is in Appendix L.

This list will be updated and refined as appropriate. The Watermaster's website

(www.avwatermaster.net) tyill also be used to notify interested parties of Watermaster

activities.

Measuring Devices. In 2017, the Watermaster developed requirements for meter installing,

testing, and reporting. These requirements were approved by the Court by order dated

November 28, 2017 and are available on the Watermaster website and will ultimately be

incorporated into a complete set of the Rules and Regulations document. By March 1, 2018,

all Parties other than the Small Pumper Class were required to install meters on their wells

for monitoring production and submit proof thereof to the Watermaster. The Watermaster

requested and was granted an extension to the meter installation date from January 1, 2018

to March 1, 2018 to allow time for all producing Parties to comply with the requirements.

Additional information is provided in Section 3.9.1 of this report.

Meter installations are also required for any member of the Non-Pumper Class who has

complied with the New Production Application Procedure specified in ¶18.5.13 of the

Judgment. As provided in the Judgment, Producing Non-Pumper Class members shall report
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production to the Watermaster, and prior to the commencement of production, shall install
a meter consistent with the requirement of the Rules and Regulations (¶9.2.2).

Rules and Regulations. As previously discussed, development of Rules and Regulations is
underway. The Judgment will be used to guide the implementation until the Rules and
Regulations document has been finalized and approved by the Watermaster and the Court.
Once complete, the Rules and Regulations document will be available on the Watermaster
website (www.avwatermaster.net).

Several forms have been developed for reporting annual production and monthly meter
readings; requests for information; Small Pumper qualifying documentation; requests for
replacement wells, new points of extraction, and new production; and request for transfers.
These are in Appendix N at the end of the report, are available on the Watermaster website,
and will be included in the Rules and Regulations document. Other forms, such as those for
reporting annual storage and for a storage agreement are under development and will be
available on the Watermaster website when finalized.

Prior Year's Report. As provided in the Judgment, Annual Reports should also include the
Annual Report from the prior year. To streamline this 2018 Annual Report, the 2017 Annual
Report has been posted on the Watermaster website for easy downloading and reference
(www.avwatermaster.net).
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3 MONITORING OF SAFE YIELD COMPONENTS

The Judgment requires monitoring of the safe yield components in the Adjudication Area.

The monitoring program established for the basin includes the compilation of data involving

natural recharge, managed aquifer recharge (i.e., groundwater banking), amounts and use

of imported water, groundwater production, and return flows. To assist with future

analyses, groundwater levels, water quality, subsidence, groundwater production, and

changes in groundwater in storage are also part of the monitoring program. Some data sets

represent components of the Safe Yield calculation that can be monitored directly. Other

data sets support analyses to estimate components or check the reasonableness of

components. The text below describes the types of data collected.

I n addition to the 2018 data compiled for this 2018 Annual Report, the Watermaster

Engineer has continued compiling historical hydrologic and hydrogeologic information

regarding the safe yield components for the Watermaster based on available data. This

hydrologic and hydrogeologic database supplements the water accounting spreadsheets

developed by the Watermaster Engineer for the purposes of tracking production categories

and other requirements of the Judgment. It is anticipated that more detailed analyses of

safe yield components will occur in future annual reports when the Watermaster Engineer

has sufficient funding to cover such analyses.

3.Z GROUNDWATER BASIN AND ADJUDICATION AREA

The Antelope Valley Groundwater Basin underlies an alluvial valley with ground surface

elevations ranging from 2,300 to 3,500 feet above mean sea level (msl). The basin is

bounded on the southwest and northwest by the San Gabriel Mountains and the Tehachapi

Mountains, respectively, and on the southeast by a series of low ridges, buttes, and hills.

The southwest and northwest boundaries are controlled by two major geologic fault

systems —the San Andreas fault at the base of the San Gabriel Mountains and the Garlock

fault at the base of the Tehachapi Mountains. The northern boundary is defined by the

contact of alluvial deposits with bedrock. An approximate five-mile section of the northern

boundary abuts with the alluvial deposits of the Fremont Valley and is separated only by a

previously-defined groundwater divide (Figure 1). To the east, a groundwater divide —

generally located along the San Bernardino county line —has been used to separate the

Antelope Valley from the EI Mirage Valley and the Mojave adjudicated area. The Antelope

Valley Adjudication Area as defined by the Court is slightly smaller than the groundwater

basin (compare the shaded blue groundwater basin with the Adjudication Area on Figure 1).

Prior to development, groundwater flowed from the surrounding uplands toward natural

surface depressions at ephemeral lake beds in the north (Rosamond Lake) and northeast

(Rogers Lake). These natural flow directions have been re-directed locally toward pumping

wells.
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The basin has a long tradition of agricultural use dating back to the late 1800s. As both
agriculture and urban land uses increased during the post-World War II era, groundwater
provided about 90 percent of the overall supply. Reliance on groundwater decreased
somewhat in the 1970s and 1980s after imported water was available in the basin.
However, urban growth, an increase in irrigated acreage, and limitations on availability of
imported water resulted in increases in pumping during the 1990s. In 2011, the Court ruled
that the basin was in overdraft and required a physical solution to bring the basin into
balance.

The physical solution in the Judgment establishes a safe yield for groundwater production
and an allocation of that safe yield among basin producers. Two estimates of safe yield are
provided in the Judgement:

• Native Safe Yield: 82,300 AFY
Includes estimates of natural recharge plus return flows from groundwater use

• Total Safe Yield: 110,000 AFY
Considers supplemental supply of imported water and associated return flows.

Native Safe Yield, set by the Court at 82,300 AFY, is based on estimates of natural
groundwater recharge from the hydrologic system including subsurface inflows from the
surrounding bedrock (referred to as mountain front recharge) and infiltration from
precipitation and streamflow. Native Safe Yield also accounts for return flows from basin
pumping (described below). As shown on Figure 2, the Native Safe Yield is the amount
allocated among most of the basin producers. Recognizing that the importation of
supplemental surface water adds to the safe yield, a Total Safe Yield of 110,000 AFY was set
by the Court, based on average estimates of available imported water. Allocations of return
flows from imported water are assigned to various Parties as determined by the Judgment.

To provide context for the collection of data for the monitoring of safe yield components, a
summary of the Judgment's safe yield calculation is summarized below. The details of the
safe yield determination have been documented in the Phase 3 Summary Expert Report
(Beeby, et al., 2010)5.

3.T SAFE YIELD DETERMINATION IN THE JUDGMENT

The process to develop a safe yield for the Adjudication Area of the groundwater basin
involved years of detailed hydrogeologic analyses by numerous technical experts
representing various parties in the litigation. The analyses involved delineation of basin
boundaries, descriptions of the geologic and hydrogeologic setting, evaluation of aquifers
and aquitards, examination of water levels, assessment of groundwater occurrence and
flow, and detailed accounting of the water budget, including inflows and outflows from the

5 This report was prepared in association with Phase 3 of the trial. It is recognized that there were
multiple phases that are not discussed herein; the Phase 3 Expert Report contains the most relevant
information for summarizing the Safe Yield determination in the Judgment.
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groundwater system and change in groundwater in storage. These analyses culminated in a
Summary Expert Report, published in July 2010 (Beeby, et al., 2010).

3.2.1 Natural Groundwater Recharge

Estimates of natural recharge to the groundwater basin developed by technical experts

during litigation were used as the foundation of the safe yield determination. For the

purposes of this discussion, the use of natural recharge refers to recharge associated with

the natural hydrologic environment such as precipitation and streamflow. It specifically

excludes the concept of return flows associated with groundwater pumping or use of
imported water.

It is recognized that the amount of natural recharge does not always equate to the amount

of groundwater that can be pumped sustainably from a basin because it is difficult to

capture all of the replenished water without losing a significant amount to natural

groundwater discharge (e.g., subsurface outflow from a basin). For the Antelope Valley,
discharge to the dry lakes appears to be minimal and to occur only during wet periods.
Subsurface outflow is uncertain, but likely occurs along limited segments of the basin

boundary. Therefore, estimates of natural recharge developed by technical experts during
litigation served as a first approximation of the average annual amount of groundwater that

could be used sustainably.

The natural groundwater recharge components were estimated by the technical experts

during litigation using two separate methods: 1. a tabular mass balance (referred to as a

water balance) approach, which accounted for each inflow and outflow associated with the
groundwater system independently, while conserving the mass from the hydrologic cycle,

and 2. estimates for changes of groundwater in storage over time —developed through a
comparison of groundwater elevation contour maps —and then using pumping estimates to
solve for inflow (natural recharge). These two methods and results are described below.

3.2.1.1 Natural Groundwater Recharge using a Mass Balance Method
A mass balance approach to the water budget for the basin involves tracking of water into
(inflows) and out of (outflows) the groundwater basin. This water tracking is illustrated by a
schematic diagram on Figure 3 (modified from Beeby, et al., 2010). The diagram represents

the physical system of the groundwater basin and surrounding watershed. The mountains or
uplands that surround the groundwater basin are shown on the left side of Figure 3; the
playas (dry lakes) that represent a natural discharge area of the groundwater basin are
shown on the right. Annual average flows estimated in the 2010 analyses are shown on the
diagram in AFY for illustration purposes. In general, groundwater flows northeasterly from

the upland areas to the dry lakes.

Precipitation provides the primary water source for the basin, including rainfall (or

snowmelt) in the surrounding uplands and rainfall on the valley floor. In the uplands, rainfall

either leaves the system through evapotranspiration (ET), runs off the surface into stream

channels, or infiltrates into the fractured bedrock (upper left area of Figure 3). Some of the

infiltrated water discharges back to the stream channels as baseflow; the remaining amount

Final 2018 Annual Report TODD GROUNDWATER
Antelope Valley Watermaster 23 Watermaster Engineer



is available for groundwater recharge, also referred to as mountain front recharge. The 2010
analysis by the technical experts during litigation estimated this amount at about 19,800

AFY, as shown on Figure 3.

As mountain streams reach the valley floor, most of the water infiltrates into the permeable
alluvium and serves as groundwater recharge (see the mass balance of streamflow on Figure
3). This component is considered the largest source of groundwater recharge with estimates
of about 30,000 to 40,000 AFY (shown as 36,600 AFY from the mass balance on Figure 3).

The water budget also recognizes that a small amount of streamflow is diverted for use prior

to infiltration. During wet years, flood flows reach the playas, where water pools and

evaporates. Some of the flood water may infiltrate the surFicial deposits, but the low

permeability of the lake bed sediments restricts deep percolation and groundwater
recharge. When groundwater levels are high, small amounts of groundwater can also
discharge to the playas.

Given the desert climate of the area, rainfall rates on the groundwater basin floor are small,
with most of the area receiving less than eight inches per year on average. Given the

corresponding high rates of ET in the basin, most of this rainfall evaporates quickly, limiting
the available water for infiltration into the basin sediments. The 2010 analyses concluded
that groundwater recharge from soil infiltration does not likely occur in basin areas with an
average annual rainfall of less than eight inches (Beeby, et al., 2010); that conclusion is

supported by numerous technical studies on groundwater recharge in desert basins. While
minor recharge occurs from direct precipitation in localized alluvial fan deposits along the
northwestern rim of the basin (western edge of the West Antelope Subarea, see Figure 1),

the overall mass balance indicates that groundwater recharge from direct precipitation is
small; as such, it is not quantified on Figure 3.

I n summary, the two primary sources of natural recharge were determined by the technical
experts during litigation to be mountain-front recharge (about 19,800 AFY on Figure 3) and
infiltration from streamflow (about 36,600 AFY on Figure 3), resulting in a total estimated
natural recharge of 56,400 AFY.

3.2.1.2 Natural Groundwater Recharge using a Change in Groundwater in Storage

Method

The estimates for groundwater recharge above were checked for reasonableness by the

technical experts during litigation through a separate analysis involving the change in

groundwater in storage over time. This method involved preparation of nine groundwater

elevation contour maps for nine years spanning a 59-year period from 1951 through 2009
(study period). These maps were used to assess water level changes (rise or declines) during
eight specific time intervals and over the entire study period. Water level surfaces at the
beginning and end of each period were electronically subtracted to estimate changes over

the entire basin for each period (Beeby, et al., 2010).

In order to relate the water level changes to a volume of groundwater gain or loss, aquifer

textures (e.g., percentages of sand, gravel, silt, and clay) were estimated using geologic logs.
Textures were assigned a storage property, referred to as specific yield (Sy). Sy is defined as
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the ratio of the volume of water that will drain under gravity compared to a unit volume of

the aquifer (expressed as a percentage) and is used to estimate the volume of water

released from storage for a unit change in head. Because Sy varies throughout the aquifer

system, the method determined the Sy that corresponded to the interval of the aquifer

where water levels had changed. This analysis provided the Basin-wide change of

groundwater in storage for various time intervals.

The change in groundwater in storage was applied to the water balance equation as shown

below:

Change in Groundwater in Storage =Inflows (recharge) -Outflows

Because outflows consisted primarily of groundwater pumping, investigators estimated

pumping (less return flows) for the same time intervals as the contour map analysis. With

estimates for both Outflows and Change in Groundwater in Storage, the equation above

could be re-arranged to solve for inflows (natural recharge). The change in storage method

indicated average annual natural recharge between 55,000 to 58,000 AFY, results very

similar to the results of the mass balance analysis described above (56,400 AFY). Recognizing

uncertainty in the analysis, a natural groundwater recharge of 60,000 AFY was selected by

the technical experts during litigation for the purposes of the safe yield analysis (Beeby, et

al., 2010).

3.2.2 Native Safe Yield

Safe yield is defined in the Judgment as "the amount of annual extractions...over tlme equal

to the amount of water needed to recharge...groundwater...and maintain it in equilibrium..."

Because safe yield is defined in terms of groundwater extraction, the efficiency of

groundwater use requires consideration.

All groundwater pumped from a well may not be consumed; if unused water is allowed to

percolate back into the groundwater basin, the amount is referred to as return flows.

Because it is difficult for irrigation systems to be 100 percent efficient, return flows result

from almost all irrigation applications including agricultural, municipal (e.g., landscaping,

parks), and domestic (e.g., lawns). In addition to irrigation, other water use practices can

result in return flows including conveyance system losses, percolation of wastewater, or

septic systems. A conceptual diagram of various groundwater uses and associated return

flows is provided on Figure 46. The amount of return flows varies with irrigation method,

type of losses, soil properties, evapotranspiration, and other factors.

Because these return flows provide recharge to the groundwater basin in addition to the

natural recharge components (also included on Figure 4), the amount of sustainable

production from the Antelope Valley Groundwater Basin can be higher than the 60,000 AFY

estimate for natural recharge. For example, if return flows were 25 percent of pumping

6 As noted on Figure 4, the diagram was developed to illustrate the concepts of safe yield and does

not depict the complexity of the multi-aquifer system of the Antelope Valley Groundwater Basin.
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(indicating that 75 percent of groundwater production is consumed through evaporation,
crop transpiration, or human consumption), then a safe yield of 80,000 AFY would allow for
consumption of the 60,000 AFY of recharge and 20,000 AFY of return flows (60,000/0.75 =
80,000).

Using a mix of historical and recent land use practices, the Summary Expert Report
evaluated various return flow estimates for the purposes of developing a sustainable yield
(Native Safe Yield) for the Basin. Given the mix of land use practices observed over a recent
15-year period, an overall return flow of about 27.1 percent' was estimated to be
reasonable. Applying this to the 60,000 AFY estimate for natural recharge, a Native Safe
Yield of 82,300 AFY was derived. As shown on Figure 2, this value was used for the total
Production Right in the Basin.

3.2.3 Total Safe Yield

Total Safe Yield is defined in the Judgment as the amount of groundwater that may be safely
pumped from the Basin on a long-term basis and is specified as the sum of the Native Safe
Yield plus return flows from imported water (¶3.5.51 of the Judgment). Beginning in the
1970s, supplemental surface water supplies were imported into the Basin from the State
Water Project (SWP). This supplemental water decreased the reliance on groundwater
supply and provided water to meet the growing demand of the valley. Depending on use,
the SWP water also provides an additional component of groundwater recharge through
return flows, increasing the overall safe yield for the Basin. This amount varies substantially
with the availability and use of imported water.

I n order to consider this supplemental supply in the adjudication, the team of technical
experts during litigation evaluated amounts of imported water and its use over time. This
analysis led the team to conclude that return flows from imported water resulted in about
27,700 AFY of additional groundwater supply to the Basin. Adding to the Native Safe Yield of
82,300 AFY, this amount provided a Total Safe Yield of 110,000 AFY.

Credits for imported water return flows are assigned in the Judgment according to use (see
Section 4.4 for a description of these credits). Some imported water may be delivered to a
recharge facility (e.g., a spreading basin) and recharged directly into the groundwater basin
for subsequent recovery and use; such a recharge facility is illustrated conceptually on
Figure 4. When imported water is recharged directly, there are not "return flows" as defined
by the Judgment; return flows occur only after imported water is used directly in the Basin.

The technical analysis in 2010 recognized that safe yield is not necessarily a constant value
and can change over time with varying land use and water management practices. As
described above, the Native Safe Yield has embedded assumptions of land use and return

'These groundwater return flows are different from Imported Water Return Flows specified in the
Judgment. Imported Water Return Flows are a new water source for the basin and are associated
with a different land use mix (i.e., more imported water is used for municipal purposes, a use
associated with a larger percentage of return flows compared to agricultural use).
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flows. The Total Safe Yield will change based on average amounts of imported water

available to the Basin over time. The Judgment allows the Watermaster Engineer to initiate

a recommendation to change the Native Safe Yield ten years after the seven-year

Rampdown Period (Year 17 of the Judgment).

3.3 CLIMATE DATA

Precipitation in the Antelope Valley watershed is the primary source of natural groundwater

recharge and controls the location and pathways of natural recharge in the Basin. Average

annual precipitation across the Antelope Valley watershed ranges from 4 inches to 47 inches

with an area-weighted average of 8.3 inches (Beeby et al., 2010). Upland areas within the

watershed but outside of the Adjudication Area account for most of the precipitation. Area-

weighted average precipitation amounts in the upland watershed are listed below:

• San Gabriel Mountains —15.4 inches per year

• Tehachapi Mountains —13.1 inches per year

• Eastern buttes — 8.7 inches per year

• Northern buttes — 9.2 inches per year

Average annual precipitation on the valley floor is typically less than 8 inches per year. Most

subareas have an average annual precipitation rate less than about 5 inches per year.

For the 2010 analyses, precipitation data for 23 stations covering a 57-year period (1949-

2005) were compiled and analyzed. A portion of these data sets has been compiled for

Watermaster files, with an emphasis on active state- orfederal-operated weather stations.

Data were also obtained from additional stations with recent data to support analyses in

this Annual Report (Calendar Year 2018). Many of these stations also provide other climate

information such as reference ET (ETo) and temperature.

Precipitation (and other climate) data for the Antelope Valley Adjudication Area and

surrounding watershed are available from the following primary sources: Los Angeles

County, California Irrigation Management Information System (CIMIS), and National

Weather Service cooperative stations (data available through the Desert Research Institute -

DRI). Data have been downloaded from these sources for 46 stations through May 2019 (or

the most recent data available); monitoring at three of these stations has recently been

discontinued and future data will not be available (Station ID 1291, 299 F, and 4558). Table 4

provides station summary information; station locations are shown on Figure 5.

Precipitation data for 2018 are used to determine whether the year was wet, dry or average

compared to long-term data. A graph of cumulative monthly 2018 precipitation was

compared to similar curves for representative wet, average and dry conditions, using data

from the Palmdale station (CIMIS and DRI). These data are shown graphically in the top

chart on Figure 6; the general location of the Palmdale Station is highlighted on Figure 5.
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Table 4. Precipitation and Evapotranspiration Stations
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1 Mojave 35.04917 -118.16194 DRI Jan-1904 Current Monthly

10058 County Fire S[a [ion q8l 2,767 34.51917 -118.28694 LA County Oct-2016 Current Daily

10178 Li the Rock Crk Above Dam Percip 3,267 34.47778 -118.02472 LA County Oct-2016 Current Daily

10588 Palmdale W.D. 2,627 34.58806 -118.09194 LA County Oct-1999 Current Daily

10608 Little Rock-Syca more Ca mp Pcp 4,012 34.41722 -117.97028 LA County Ocb2016 Curren[ Daily

11668 Mile High Ranch 5,280 34.41111 -117.77083 LA County Jan-2003 Dec-2017 Daily

117 Vctorville Z ~890 34.47591 -117.26351 CI MIS Feb-1994 Current Daily

120 County Fire S[ation #80 3,120 34.48833 -118.14194 L4 County Oct-2016 Current Dai ly

1212 La nca ster Fss/Faa 2,320 34.73333 -118.21667 LA County Oct-1999 Sep-2017 Dai ly

1240 Pea rbl ossom-CALI.DW.R. Booster 3,050 34.50889 -117,92083 LA County Oct-1999 May-2018 Dai ly

1242 Rocky Buttes Precip 2,540 34.64611 -117.84528 L4 County Oct-2016 Current Dai ly

1243 Redman Precip 2.397 34.76500 -117.92611 L4 County Oct-2016 Curren[ Dai ly

1244 Roper Ranch Precip 2,438 34.67306 -118.01083 LA County Oct-2016 Current Daily

1245 Quar[z Hi ll Precip 2,427 34.64944 -118.21722 LA County Oc[-2016 Current Daily

1246 Scott Ra nch Precip 2,718 34.79056 -118.45972 LA County OCF2016 Curren[ Daily

1247 North Lancaster Precip 2,340 34.76111 -119.10722 LA County Oct-2016 Current Daily

1248 Mescal Smith Precip 3,810 34.46667 -117.71111 LA County Oct-2016 Current Daily

1249 G368 Pump 5[a [ion 2,941 34.73444 -117.82833 LA County OcU201fi Jun-2018 Daily

1250 Avek Precip 2,825 34.52333 -117.92389 L4 County Oct-2016 Current Daily

1258 San Francisquito Canyon Power House No. 2,105 34.59028 -118.45417 LA County Oc[-1999 Curren[ Daily

1267 Lancaster Reclamation Plan[ 2,302 34.77722 -118.15306 LA County Oct-1999 Sep-2017 Daily

1268 Palmdale Reclamation Plant 2.565 34.59167 -118.08611 lA County Oct-2016 Curren[ Daily

1288 El iza 6eth Lake-Warm Springs Cmp Pcp 2,075 34.60833 -118.55944 LA County Apr-2005 Current Daily

1291 Rollin Ranch-Valyemo 5,040 34.41722 -117.75722 LA County Mar-2011 Current Dai ly

197 Palmdale 2,550 34.61498 -118.03249 CI MIS Apr-2005 Current Daily

2 La ncaster FF 34.74111 -118.21167 DRI Jan-1974 Current Monthly

220 Palmdale Central 2,630 34.59222 -118.1275 CI MIS Mar-2011 Curren[ Daily

299E Li the Rock -Schwab 2,800 34.53667 -117.97861 LA County Oc[-2016 lun-2017 Daily

3 Pear Blossom 34.50278 -117.89444 DRI Jan-2015 Current Monthly

321 Pine Canyon Patrol Station p78 3,304 34.67417 -118.43083 LA County Oc[-1999 Current Daily

3 22 Munz Val ley Ra nch 2,600 34.71389 -118.35417 L4 County Oct-1999 Apr-2018 Dai ly

4 Palmdale DRI 34.61498 -118.03249 DRI Jan-1903 Curren[ Monthly

4098 Pyra mid Reservoir 2,505 34.67611 -118.77972 LA County Oct-2016 May-2018 Daily

4558 La ncaster-State Hwy. Maintena nce Sta. 2,395 34.68250 -118.13389 LA County Oc[-1999 lan-2018 Daily

5178 Lewis Ranch Precip 4,615 34.41972 -117.88611 LA County Oct-2016 Current Daily

542 Fairmont 3,050 34.70417 -118.42778 L4 County Oct-2016 Apr-2018 Daily

564C Llano 3,394 34.48556 -117.83444 LA County Oct-2016 Curren[ Daily

598D Neena ch-Check 43 2,973 34.79472 -118.62222 LA County Oct-1999 Curren[ Dai ly

747 San6erg-Airwa ys Station 4,510 34.74333 -119.72500 LA County Oct-1999 Current Daily

82F Ta 6le Mountain 7,420 34.38222 -117.6775 L4 County Oct-2016 May-2018 Daily

838 Big Pines Recrea [ion Park Pcp 6,860 34.37889 -117.68889 L4 County Oct-2016 Current Daily

AL388 Fire Station 114 (lake Los Angles) 2,710 34.60667 -117.82556 LA County Oct-2016 Current Daily

AL468 Fire Sta tion 77 3,459 34.75972 -118.79778 LA County OCF2016 Current Daity

AL480 Fire Station p112 (Antelope Ac res) 2,428 34.75444 -118.28833 LA County Oc[-2016 Current Dai ly

AL481 Fire Sta[ionp140 (Leona Valley) 3,172 34.61778 -118.28500 LA County Oct-2016 Current Daily

AL485 Lancaster Waterworks 2,460 34.66694 -118.12528 LA County Oc[-2016 Curren[ gaily

Current -Operational as of May 2, 2019

As indicated on Figure 6, average annual precipitation in this area of the Basin is about 7.1
inches per year (e.g., 2001, a representative average year); annual precipitation ranges from
about 15.4 inches per year in a wet year (e.g., 1983, a representative wet year) to a low of
about 2.9 inches per year (e.g., 2012, a representative dry year). The 2018 annual
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precipitation was 3.74 inches, well below the average. As indicated by the cumulative
precipitation curve, the highest rainfall months were March (1.80 inches) and December
(1.37 inches).

The 2018 monthly precipitation, along with average monthly precipitation, is shown on the
lower chart on Figure 6. This chart has been extended through March 2019 for purposes of
the discussion of groundwater levels, presented in Section 3.5. As shown on the bottom of
Figure 6, 2018 rainfall was above average for March and December 2018, but less than
average in the other months of 2018. In early 2019, rainfall was close to monthly averages
for January and March; however, February 2019 precipitation of 2.06 inches was more than
double the monthly average (0.97 inches) (Figure 6).

3.4 STREAMFLOW DATA

As described above, runoff from the surrounding watershed provides significant
groundwater recharge to the Basin (see Figure 3). Streams originate in the uplands and flow
out onto the valley floor, where most of the water infiltrates into the basin sediments (as
illustrated conceptually on Figure 4). The most hydrologically significant streams include
drainages in the San Gabriel and the Tehachapi mountains, as listed below (Antelope Valley
IRWMP, 2013):

• San Gabriel Mountains
o Big Rock Creek
o Little Rock Creek
o Amargosa Creek

• Tehachapi Mountains
o Oak Creek
o Cottonwood Creek

The 2010 analyses compiled streamflow data from 18 stations spanning a 61-year period
(1949-2009). These data were supplemented with characteristics of channel geometry at
gaged and ungaged sites to allow for a more comprehensive assessment of runoff. Almost
all historical data from these stations have been downloaded to supplement the
Watermaster Engineer data files. Only six of these stations remain active. Table 5 provides
summary information for 24 streamflow stations, including most of the 18 stations used in
the litigation, additional stations with available data, and three one-time measuring
stations; the active stations provide data through April 2019 (indicated as ̀ current' in the
last column of Table 5). Locations of these streamflow stations are shown on Figure 5 (a few
closely-positioned stations appear as one location on the map).

As shown in Table 5, discharge volumes are available for 19 streams (including tributaries to
primary streams) at 24 gaging stations in the Adjudication Area and surrounding watershed.
Also included in Table 5 are three one-time measurement sites on Amargosa Creek, where
the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) documented infiltration rates for a potential enhanced
recharge project for the City of Palmdale (see first three sites in Table 5).
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Little Rock Creek contains an upstream reservoir, Littlerock Reservoir, jointly owned by PWD

and LCID. As shown in Table 5, natural inflows are monitored by gage station ID 10264000.

PWD maintains records of the discharge and diverts water from the reservoir. In 2018, PWD

diverted 1,188.36 AF.

Table 5. Streamflow Gaging Stations

{Cl ~tatfvtt t~r~;s'ipt1A17 SiAuf~~ p 
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Amargosa C Nr Leona Siphon Nr Palmdale, CA(infiltration data only) USGS 11/29/2013

Amargosa CA25 h̀ Street W Nr Palmdale, CA(infiltratlon data only) USGS 11/29/2013

AmargosaCNrPalmdale,CA(infiltrationdataonly) USGS 11/29/2013

10264503 Barrel Springs Trib A Ca Aq Xing Nr Palmdale Ca USGS 10/21/1988 2/13/1992

10263630 Big Rock C Ab Pallett C Nr Va lyermo Ca
USGS/LA
Coun

11/2/1988 Current

10263500 Big Rock C Nr Valyermo Ca USGS 1/25/1969 Current

10263675 Big Rock C Wash A Hwy 138 Nr Llano Ca U5G5 12/12/1988 3/17/1993

10264640 Buckhorn C A E 120th Ave Nr Rogers lake Ca USGS 12/10/1996 3/7/2001

10263900 Buckhorn C NrValyermo Ca USGS 5/8/1991 5/8/1991

10264550 City Ranch C Nr Pal mdale Ca USGS 1/13/1993 1/13/1993

10264555 Estates C Nr Quartz Hill Ca U5G5 5/1/1959 2/18/1993

10264510InnCAPalmdaleCa USGS 12/16/1988 1/13/1993

10264605 Joshua C Nr Mojave Ca USGS 4/1/1992 3/16/1993

10264501 lJttle Rock C A Hwy 138 Nr Llttlerock Ca USGS 4/10/1989 2/24/1992

10264000 Little Rock C At Little Rock Res Nr Littlerock Ca
USGS/LA
Coun

1/1/2000 Current

10264682 Mescal C Nr Plnon Hills Ca
USGS/LA
Coun

1/1/2000 5/21/2018

10264658 Mojave C A Forbes Ave A Edwards AFB Ca USGS 12/6/1997 9/27/2000

10264660 Mojave C A Rosamond Blvd A Edwards Ca USGS 12/6/1997 3/7/2001

10264600 Oak C Nr Mojave Ca USGS 12/21/1988 3/16/1993

10263665 Pallett C A big Rock C Nr Valyermo Ca USGS/IA
Coun

11/3/1988 Current

10264502 Peach Tree C NrLittlerockCa USGS 12/16/1988 3/31/1992

10264530 Pine C NrPalmdale Ca USGS 1/13/1990 3/18/1993

10264675 Rogers Lk Trib A Edwards Afb Ca USGS 2/3/1998 2/3/1998

10264100 Santiago Cyn C Ab Little Rock C Nr Littlerock Ca
USGS/lA
Coun

1/1/2000 Current

10264636 Sled Track Cyn A W ncaster Blvd Nr Rogers Lake Ca U5G5 12/10/1996 3/7/2001

10264508 SomersetCAPalmdaleCa USGS 1/24/1989 2/17/1994

10264560 SpencerCyn C NrFairmontCa U5G5 2/14/1992 2/14/1992

Current -Operational as of May 2, 2019
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Previously, USGS monitored stream gage stations listed in Table 5 and published data on the
USGS National Water Information System (NWIS). Currently, USGS monitors only one station
(Big Rock C Near Valyermo Ca). Los Angeles County now monitors five of the former USGS
stations including Big Rock Creek, Little Rock Creek, Mescal Creek, Pallett Creek, and
Santiago Canyon Creek (Table 5).

Although data are limited with respect to the number of streams being actively monitored,
data from Big Rock Creek and Little Rock Creek provide consistent, long-term data for
analysis. In addition, previous work by USGS for the City of Palmdale provides some
measured infiltration rates along Amargosa Creek to assist with estimating future
groundwater recharge.

3.$ GROUNDWATER LEVELS

USGS currently monitors water levels in approximately 170 wells within and adjacent to the
Antelope Valley Adjudication Area. Wells in recent USGS monitoring programs are shown on
Figure 7. The number of wells in this regional monitoring program varies from year to year
based, in part, on access and well status/operation. Water level monitoring occurs in Spring
and Fall of each year, typically with all wells measured in March and a smaller subset
measured in October. The network contains relatively good coverage for each of the
Management Subareas (Figure 7). The network also contains wells in alluvial areas adjacent
to the Adjudication Area including Fremont Valley and north of the Rogers Lake Subarea, if
needed.

The USGS monitoring program was developed, in part, to comply with the California
Statewide Groundwater Elevation Monitoring (CASGEM) program for the groundwater
basin. This program was developed by the Antelope Valley State Water Contractors
Association (District 40, 2014$); program costs were previously shared by AVEK, LCID, and
PWD, with additional funding from USGS. Recognizing its benefits for the safe yield
component monitoring, the Antelope Valley Watermaster has agreed to share in the
program costs and has provided about $15,000 to $16,000 per year to the program since
2017.

Most of the wells in the monitoring program are production wells rather than dedicated
monitoring wells. USGS has implemented monitoring protocols to avoid inaccurate water
levels measurements that may be affected by recent pumping. To supplement these data,
the Watermaster Engineer has been identifying and requesting data from monitoring wells
owned by others in the Basin to incorporate into the program. In addition, water level data
have been provided for both monitoring and production wells by many of the public water
suppliers, imported water suppliers, and mutual water companies in support of the Annual
Report analyses.

8 District 40 prepared the CASGEM Monitoring Plan for the Antelope Valley State Water Contractors
Association on file with DWR.
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3.5.1 Hydrograph Development and Analysis

To examine water level changes over time in representative wells, hydrographs have been

prepared for wells with relatively long records in the Watermaster Engineer database.

Working hydrographs were initially developed for more than 5,000 wells with elevation data

and reviewed to identify representative wells. A quantitative approach was developed for

hydrograph selection based on the number and duration of water level measurements, local

trends and fluctuations, and the spatial distribution of hydrographs throughout the Basin.

Specifically, each hydrograph in the program was rated using a simplified point system (low-

5 points, medium-10 points, or high-15 points) for the following criteria:

• Ongoing/Recent monitoring —Wells that are part of the current USGS monitoring

network or have recent data were prioritized. If a well had recent data from 2018 or

2019, it was scored high; wells with the most recent data occurring in 2010 to 2017

were scored medium; all other wells were scored low for this criterion.

• Historical monitoring —Wells were evaluated for the length of the monitoring

record by prioritizing wells that provide sufficient data to compare water level

trends over the last few decades. Wells with data extending back to 1973 were

given a high rating; wells with data only in the last five years were rated low with

records in between scored medium.

• Number of measurements —Each hydrograph was assessed for continuity of

monitoring to better evaluate local fluctuations in the Basin. Wells with greater than

50 measurements were scored high, greater than 25 and 15 were medium and low

respectively. Wells with less than 15 measurements were not scored.

• Location —Wells were prioritized for broad distribution across the Basin,

distribution in each subarea, and availability of other wells nearby. Wells were

scored based on a high score for unique locations and a low score for numerous

wells in clusters.

• Trends —Finally, each hydrograph was assessed on a qualitative basis for continuity

of monitoring, representation of local or regional trends, and presence of outliers or

unrealistic/questionable data. Wells demonstrating representative trends with

consistent data were scored high, wells with representative trends but without

consistent monitoring were scored medium, and remaining wells were scored low.

The 17 top scoring wells (60 points and higher) are shown on Figure 7. For wells with similar

trends and data, one from each trend group was selected for display. Accordingly, the

selected wells are judged to adequately represent the range of local groundwater conditions

across the Basin. Backup hydrographs can be used for local specific analyses as needed.

Hydrograph data are displayed from 1997 to 2019 representing the last 22 years of

groundwater elevations. Although groundwater elevations vary across the Basin, all vertical

scales on the hydrographs cover 100 feet to facilitate comparison of water level changes.

As shown on Figure 7, most wells indicate an overall declining trend of varying magnitudes

over the 22-year period including at least one well in each Basin Subarea (e.g., hydrographs

shown clockwise by USGS_84501, USGS_94301, USGS_03501, USGS_85001, USGS_02001,
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USGS_52901,USGS_31001,USGS_45101,USGS_54801,USGS_25201,USG5_44001,and

USGS_14101). For some wells with overall declining trends, water levels have stabilized in

recent years. In general, declines are less significant in the northern Basin and other areas

with lower amounts of pumping (e.g., USGS_94301, USGS_75101, USGS_03501,

USGS_85001, and USGS_02001). The largest decline is indicated in the east-central portion

of the Central Antelope Valley Subarea where one hydrograph indicates an overall decline of

about 60 feet (USGS_25201). In addition, two representative hydrographs indicate areas

where water levels are rising (USGS_91101, USGS_44401), including one well near a

groundwater banking project.

A detailed local analysis of water level trends and fluctuations is beyond the scope of this

Annual Report; hydrographs are presented in the report for the first time to allow for

improved monitoring and understanding of Basin-wide trends and fluctuations in the future.

to addition, it is recognized that the Antelope Valley groundwater basin consists of multiple

aquifers, which require consideration in any water level analysis. Well construction

information is limited and needs to be matched to water level data to the extent available.

Additional construction data are being compiled for future analyses on an aquifer-specific

basis.

3.5.2 Groundwater Elevation Contour Maps

To further examine groundwater conditions for the 2018 Annual Report, two Basin-wide

groundwater elevation contour maps have been prepared for March 2018 and March 2019.

These time periods were selected based on the large amount of available data and the

ability to analyze changes in groundwater levels over aone-year period. In addition, Spring

measurements are less likely than Fall measurements to be preceded by heavy pumping

associated with the summer irrigation season9. By developing these two maps one year

apart, a change in groundwater in storage can be approximated for calendar year 2018, the

period covered in this Annual Report.

Well locations with water level measurements in either March 2018 or 2019 are shown on

Figure 8. Wells are color-coded by the agency (source) that provided the data. The number

of wells for each of these data sets is summarized in Table 6.

9 It is recognized that March irrigation occurs for some crops in the Antelope Valley, such as alfalfa
and carrots, among others. According to a land use study by California State University, Los Angeles

(Qiu, 2013), October appears to be the month when most crops in the Antelope Valley are not

irrigated (i.e., end of the growing season for carrots and onions and prior to irrigation for winter

grains). However, late fall measurements may be complicated by recovering water levels. In addition,

other water supply wells may be pumping more in October than in spring. Spring data are also

preferred by DWR for adjudication basin reporting. For these and other reasons, spring

measurements are retained for the purposes of monitoring water levels and groundwater storage in

the Basin.
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Table 6. Water Level Data by Source

- . ..
~ ~. ~ ~. .

i U.S. Geological Survey (USGS)
-~ - --

167 170

~Department of Water Resources (DWR) 62 14 ~

Sanitation Districts of Los Angeles County (LACSD) ~

_

80

~

~~ 47
r- ------ -------
Antelope Valle -East Kern Water A enc (AVEK _ __ TY g Y ) 25 ~ 23

Los Angeles County Depart. of Public Works (LACDPW) ! 52 52

it Palmdale Water District (PWD) 21 ! 20
k - ——
Quartz Hill Water District (QHWD) '~ 10

-~
I

--
0

~ R samond Community Services District (RCSD) ~ 3 3 ~

City of Lancaster 1 ~ 0

Contours were generated from these data using an electronic contouring program and

adjusted locally, as needed. Wells outside the Adjudication Area were used to slightly adjust

the orientation of the contours along the northern edge of the Adjudication Area, but those

wells are not shown on the contour maps to avoid confusion. These areas outside of the

Adjudication Area were not included in the change in storage analysis. Wells with

measurements in only one of the two-time periods were reviewed to determine if the

incomplete data created artificial differences in the two contour maps. Where this occurred,

wells were removed for the purposes of the change in storage analysis.

Management Subareas defined in the Judgment are included on the groundwater elevation

contour map (subarea names are on Figure 8). Because some of these boundaries were

developed along known or inferred geologic faults, data were examined to determine if

groundwater elevations indicated a discontinuity across the boundary. In the southeast, the

subarea boundary between the South East Subarea and the Central Antelope Valley Subarea

was observed to create a discontinuity, but the line of discordance was slightly different

from the Judgment-defined subarea boundary. For purposes of the groundwater elevation

analysis, an additional line was added in that area for purposes of contouring the data.

The contour maps for March 2018 and March 2019 are presented on Figures 9 and 10,

respectively and discussed below.

March 2018 Water Levels: As shown on Figure 9, groundwater elevation contours in the

southeast and west-northwest portions of the map indicate relatively large hydraulic

gradients (contours closely spaced) and groundwater flow toward the central portion of the

Basin. Water levels are lowest in the Palmdale area and adjacent areas to the northeast -

areaswhere much of the groundwater production occurs in the Basin. The lowest water

levels during March 2018 are below 2,050 feet msl in Palmdale (Figure 9). Relatively low

groundwater elevations (below 2,200 feet msl) are also observed in the Rogers Lake Subarea
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beneath Edwards Air Force Base in the north. This dry lake area represents one of the

natural discharge areas of the Basin.

A portion of the South East Subarea is excluded from the contouring (see red-outlined area

on Figure 9). In this area, groundwater is relatively shallow and contours must be manually

controlled to prevent water levels appearing higher than the ground surface elevation. The

area is sparsely populated and production or monitoring well data are unavailable. The lack

of data, shallow depth to groundwater, and large hydraulic gradients produce inaccurate

contours in this area; accordingly, the area is excluded from the analysis to prevent artificial

changes in groundwater in storage from being calculatedlo

As indicated by the contours on Figure 9, there are two subarea boundaries that appear to

impede water levels and create discontinuities in water levels. In the northwest, the

boundary between the Willow Springs Subarea and the West Antelope Subarea creates such

a discontinuity as indicated by a break in the contours (Figure 9). This boundary generally is

located along the Willow Springs, Cottonwood, and Rosamond faults, indicating that the

faults disrupt water levels in the subsurface. The change in water levels across the faults

ranges from about 300 feet on the eastern part of the boundary to more than 400 feet in

the west.

I n the southeast, the boundary between the Central Antelope Valley Subarea and the South

East Subarea also indicates an area of disruption in water levels. The presence of the buttes

and bedrock outcrops near and along the boundary suggests the possible presence of faults

(inferred) and the subarea boundary has been based on both geologic (faults) and
hydrogeologic (water levels) data. Although recent data confirm a discontinuity in

groundwater elevations along the northern portion of the subarea boundary, the line of

discontinuous groundwater elevations diverges from the subarea boundary along its

southern portion (on Figure 9, compare the Management Subarea boundary shown in black

with the line of discontinuous groundwater elevations shown in orange). For contouring

purposes, an additional boundary line (shown in orange on Figure 9) has been interpreted.

The water level declines around pumping wells northwest of the boundary do not appear to

be affecting water levels southeast of the boundary. Water level differences of about 100

feet (northeast part of the boundary) to more than 300 feet (along the contouring zone

boundary) are indicated on Figure 9. The remaining Management Subarea boundaries of the

Central Antelope Valley Subarea (with the Rogers Lake Subarea to the northeast and the

West Antelope Subarea to the northwest) do not appear to impede groundwater flow.

March 2019 Water Levels: Groundwater elevation contours for March 2019 are shown on

Figure 10. Given the scale and contour interval of the maps, water levels on Figure 10

appear almost identical to water levels on Figure 9. Previous analyses indicate that, except

in areas of localized recharge or near certain pumping centers, water levels only change a

to There is at least one well in the excluded area of the South East Subarea that will be prioritized for
water level monitoring in the future. The Watermaster Engineer has identified additional data from
the Mojave adjudication just east of the Los Angeles-San Bernardino county line for compilation and
incorporation into future analyses, as needed.
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few feet in most Basin areas from year to year; this observation is consistent with the 2018

and 2019 data. Patterns of groundwater flow and hydraulic gradients are also similar on

both contour maps. The two Management Subarea boundaries that created breaks in the

contours for 2018 on Figure 9 are also seen on Figure 10.

The area of shallow groundwater excluded from contouring in the South East Subarea is also

excluded from contouring on Figure 10. As explained above, this exclusion prevents the

need to artificially lower contours to some unspecified depth to prevent water levels from

appearing to be above the ground surface. This also prevents a calculation of change in

groundwater in storage that would be an artifact due to the lack of data.

Water Level Change from March 2018 to March 2019: Notwithstanding the similarities in

Figures 9 and 10, several local areas have experienced significant water level changes from

March 2018 to March 2019. For illustration purposes, the two contour maps have been

electronically subtracted to develop a contour map of water level change, as presented on

Figure 11. The changes are highlighted with color —areas of water level rise shown in blue,

and water level declines shown in orange. Light yellow represents areas where water levels

are generally unchanged. Contours have also been added to the map to more clearly

differentiate among the areas of water level changes.

As shown on Figure 11, there are numerous areas of localized changes, the largest of which

appear to be associated with local pumping centers or groundwater banking areas. For

example, the AVEK Westside Water Bank in the eastern portion of the West Antelope

Subarea indicates local water level declines of more than 30 feet (Figure 11). In 2018, a large

volume of Stored water from the State Water Project was recharged in the bank, resulting in

a relatively large area of high water levels. By March 2019, this mounding had dissipated,

resulting in a decline in water levels beneath the bank. Even with this large local decline in

water levels, most of the remaining subarea experienced an overall water level rise resulting

in a positive change in groundwater in storage.

Recharge areas for two additional AVEK water banking projects are also shown on Figure 11

for reference. Those two projects include the High Desert Water Bank in the southwestern

portion of the West Antelope Subarea and the Eastside Water Bank in the South East

Subarea. Although some water was recharged in both of these projects in 2018-2019,

monitoring well data were not available for the time period represented on the contour

maps. The analysis highlights the benefits of a local groundwater monitoring program that

allows the changes in water levels over time to be better documented, especially in banking

areas where larger changes in water levels occur. The Watermaster Engineer will work with

water banking operators to ensure adequate monitoring of local water levels to incorporate

into this analysis. Rules and regulations for Storage Agreements to be executed with these

banking projects were approved in 2018; templates for legal agreements are currently being

drafted (2019) for future use.

Other areas of localized water levels changes are observed in the southeastern portion of

the Central Antelope Valley Subarea (near Palmdale and Quartz Hill). As indicated by the

blue shading on Figure 11, water levels have risen more than 10 feet over a broad area in
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the southeast and extending to the northwest and northeast. Pumping for public water
supply is concentrated in the southeastern area, where water levels have risen the most.
This area has been associated with low water levels and cones of depression on previous
maps (see Figure 9). However, as indicated on Figure 11, 2019 water levels have risen from
2018 levels, likely due to wet Spring conditions in 2019 (see Figure 6), which are associated
with increases in recharge and surface water supply coupled with decreases in pumping.

The South East Subarea had the largest area of overall declines in 2019. Although most wells
indicated a decline of less than 10 feet, the changes occurred over a relatively broad area of

the subarea.

Although an area of sparse data, the Willow Springs Subarea and the Rogers Lake Subarea

did not change significantly from 2018 to 2019, although most wells indicated a slight

decline in water levels.

3.5.3 Change in Groundwater in Storage

The surface of water level change on Figure 11 was used to estimate the volume of
groundwater change for each subarea and the total Adjudication Area. The methodology

involves the application of the aquifer specific yield (a unitless hydraulic parameter) to the

change in water levels to estimate the change in groundwater in storage between Spring
2018 and Spring 2019. For this analysis, a methodology was employed similar to the one
used in the 2010 Summary Expert Report (Beeby, et al., 2010), whereby alocally-estimated
value of specific yield (Sy) was correlated to the depths of water level change at the

monitoring locations (as discussed previously —see Section 3.2.1.2 above).

The intervals of change from the March 2018 and March 2019 maps (prepared by the
Watermaster Engineer) were exported and compared to the Sy data. A Sy value was
selected from the 2010 data set for each interval where water levels had either risen or

declined. In this manner, the 2018-2019 water level changes occur within the same intervals

and texturesll used to derive a Sy value. The storage changes are combined for each

subarea as summarized on Table 7.

11 In this context, texture refers to the physical nature of the aquifer according to the relative
proportions of sand, silt, and clay. These proportions affect aquifer storage parameters including
specific yield.
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This analysis indicated a relatively small increase of approximately 1,312 AF of groundwater
in storage from March 2018 to March 2019 in the Basin. As shown on Figure 11 and in Table
7, these changes varied from subarea to subarea across the Basin. Overall increases in
groundwater in storage for the West Antelope and Central Antelope subareas were offset
by losses of groundwater in storage for the South East, Rogers Lake, and Willow Springs
subareas.

To provide context for these changes, Table 8 summarizes the historical change in
groundwater in storage calculations for 2016, 2017, and 2018 and indicates a total
cumulative change in groundwater in storage of 65,783 AF since 2016. In brief, data suggest
a net increase in groundwater in storage for the West Antelope and Central Antelope Valley
subareas and a net decline in the remaining subareas. The most significant decline in
groundwater in storage is indicated in the South East Subarea. It is noted that the
groundwater conditions in the South East Subarea are not well-defined, and a portion is
excluded from the analysis due to insufficient data in areas of shallow groundwater.
Additional data collection and analysis may be warranted for an improved understanding of
local groundwater conditions.
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3.E SUBSIDENCE MONITORING

The historical decline of groundwater levels has been linked to land subsidence in the Basin.

Water level declines cause a decrease in the aquifer pore pressure, allowing for re-

arrangement and compaction offined-grained units (i.e., clay) in the subsurface. As these

sediments compact, the land surface can sink.

Land subsidence from groundwater pumping has been documented by USGS and others in

the Antelope Valley. Between 1930 and 1992, up to 6.6 feet of land subsidence occurred

near Lancaster. At Edwards Air Force Base, land subsidence has caused cracked (fissured)

runways and accelerated erosion on Rogers lakebed. USGS reports that this subsidence has

also permanently reduced groundwater storage capacity by about 50,000 AFlz.

Figure 12 shows the distribution of land subsidence in the Antelope Valley from 1930 to

1992 (Ikehara and Phillips, 1994). Historical land subsidence has primarily affected the

northern half of the Central Antelope Valley Subarea, and small portions of the West

Antelope and Rogers Lake subareas (Figure 12). An analysis of satellite-based InSAR

(interFerometric synthetic aperture radar) data indicate an additional 0.2 to 0.6 feet of land

subsidence occurred between 1993 to 2005 in sections of the subsidence-prone area. Land

subsidence from groundwater level declines can be a relatively slow process and continue

for years after the pore pressure changes have occurred.

Additional information and data on historical land subsidence are available through USGS,

which has established a network of 85 elevation benchmarks for the purposes of monitoring

land subsidence, as shown on Figure 12. In addition, three extensometers have been

installed at Edwards Air Force Base to measure land subsidence directly. However, other

than at Edwards Air Force Base, there is no formal subsidence monitoring program that can

be accessed for the purposes of the Antelope Valley Watermaster to analyze subsidence on

an ongoing basis. A periodic subsidence monitoring program, conducted in cooperation with

USGS and using either benchmark surveys or InSAR data could be explored in the future, if

warranted.

Currently, the Watermaster Engineer is using the ongoing water level monitoring program

as a proxy for subsidence monitoring. If water levels are maintained above historic lows in

key areas of historical subsidence, then decreasing pore pressures in previously un-

compacted clay layers can be avoided. By monitoring water levels and maintaining levels

above historic lows, when possible, further land subsidence from groundwater pumping can

be mitigated. It is recognized that local subsidence could continue as a result of historical

conditions, but if water levels are maintained, exacerbation of this situation can be

mitigated.

lZ In general, this loss of capacity is due to a one-time compaction offine-grained layers that did not
likely store significant quantities of usable groundwater.
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3.7 GROUNDWATER QUALITY

Groundwater provides ahigh-quality water supply for the beneficial uses in the Antelope

Valley groundwater basin (SNMP, 2014). Total dissolved solids (TDS), an indicator of overall

salts and mineral content, are present in groundwater at an average concentration of 300 to

350 milligrams per liter (mg/L) (DWR, 2004; SNMP 2014). In general, water quality has

naturally lower TDS in the southern and central parts of the Basin; TDS concentrations

increase in the northern Basin and range up to about 800 mg/L near the dry lakes.

Consistent with other desert basin aquifers in Southern California, trace element

concentrations can be elevated locally in the Antelope Valley, including arsenic and boron

(USGS and SWRCB, 2013). In general, groundwater quality meets drinking water standards

and management goals throughout most areas of the Basin (SNMP, 2014).

As part of the CASGEM monitoring plan, USGS samples a subset of Antelope Valley wells for

groundwater quality. Sampling occurs in the 35 CASGEM wells on a rotational basis.

Typically, about 10 wells are selected for chemical analyses, with the remaining wells

sampled for specific conductance and temperature.

In addition to the USGS analyses, public water suppliers are required to sample groundwater

quality in public supply wells. Each entity has groundwater quality monitoring requirements

associated with its permit from the Division of Drinking Water, State Water Resources

Control Board (DDW, SWRCB). Data are summarized in Consumer Confidence Reports

prepared annually by the water purveyors. DDW (formerly Department of Public Health)

also maintains these data in a public water quality database. Several public water suppliers

have provided recent groundwater quality data to the Watermaster Engineer.

The Salt Nutrient Management Plan forthe Antelope Valley (SNMP) has developed a

groundwater quality monitoring plan using wells from the SWRCB Groundwater Ambient

Monitoring and Assessment (GAMA) program (SNMP, 2014). The plan includes 23 wells

owned and operated by established water utilities or the U.S. Air Force in central and

southeast portions of the Basin. The program supplements ongoing groundwater monitoring

programs by monitoring constituents associated with management goals in the Basin

including TDS, nitrate, chloride, arsenic, total chromium, fluoride, and boron.

Data from these monitoring programs can be accessed by the Watermaster Engineer as

needed to evaluate changes in any key constituents of concern in local areas.

3.H SURFACE WATER QUALITY

Numerous local agencies monitor the various sources of surface water in the Adjudication

Area. Collection of the quality data for imported water (State Water Project water), recycled

water, and stormwater is ongoing; data can be compiled into the Watermaster database in

the future for analysis depending on priorities and budget.
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SWP water is treated at the PWD Leslie 0. Carter Water Treatment Plant (WTP) for use by

PWD and LCID. SWP water is also treated at the four AVEK treatment facilities (Quartz Hill

WTP, Eastside WTP, Rosamond WTP, and Acton WTP). SWP water is high quality with TDS

concentrations typically in the upper 200 mg/L range.

Recycled water is produced at the Los Angeles County Sanitation District's (LACSD) Palmdale

and Lancaster water reclamation plants (WRPs), Edwards Air Force Base (EAFB) Air Force

Research Laboratory Treatment Plant and the Main Base Wastewater Treatment Plant

(WWTP), and the RCSD's WWTP. Tertiary treated effluent from LACSD is used for

agriculture, purple pipe system (parks, landscaping, etc.), and environmental purposes.

Treated water from the two EAFB plants is used only on the base. The RCSD WWTP has the

capacity to treat 1.3 million gallons per day (mgd) of secondary-treated water and 0.5 mgd

of tertiary-treated water. The RCSD WWTP is in the process of being permitted and

currently discharges all its wastewater in clay-lined ponds.

Recycled water in the Antelope Valley meets most drinking water standards (SNMP, 2014).

EAFB recycled water quality tends to have higher salt and nutrient concentrations (e.g., TDS,

nitrate, chloride); elevated TDS and chloride concentrations have been linked to the higher

mineral content in the lower aquifer, which serves as the source water for recycled water in

that area (SNMP, 2014).

Littlerock Reservoir, jointly owned by PWD and LCID, collects runoff from the San Gabriel

Mountains. Water from Littlerock Reservoir discharges to Lake Palmdale and is subsequently

treated at the PWD treatment plant. Water quality in Lake Palmdale is considered good with

TDS concentrations of about 150 mg/L (SNMP, 2014).

3.9 GROUNDWATER PRODUCTION MONITORING AND METER INSTALLATION

The Physical Solution allocates groundwater production of the Native Safe Yield among

numerous parties to the Judgment including the U.S. Federal Government, the State of

California, Overlying Producers (Exhibit 4 of the Judgment), Non-Overlying Producers

(Exhibit 3 of the Judgment), and members of the Small Pumper Class (see Figure 2).

Although exact locations for all production wells are not known, locations of active wells

were compiled (or approximated) during the trial to support development of a groundwater

model. This work was conducted by Geoscience Support Services as technical experts in the

litigation to analyze the recovery of the basin with reduced groundwater pumping.

Model input files were obtained from Geoscience Support Services by the Watermaster

Engineer in February 2018 to support future analyses. These files contain locations of a

partial list of wells owned by Parties in the Judgment as shown on Figure 13. The map shows

locations of water supply wells owned by the Public Water Suppliers (yellow), Agricultural

Landowners (green), the U.S. Federal Government (brown) and the State of California (blue).

The service areas of the Public Water Suppliers are also shown to better differentiate among

the wells.
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The production wells owned by Mutual Water Companies (MWCs) (included on Exhibit 4 of
the Judgment) are represented in the model well files by parcels served, as shown on Figure
13. Well locations for additional Exhibit 4 Parties and other Parties with rights to produce
groundwater (e.g., the Supporting Landowners) were not available in the files; missing wells
will be added in the future as locations become available.

Production by the Small Pumper Class members is represented by parcel locations shown on
Figure 14. Approximately 8,000 parcels were included in these files. Although wells were
assigned to these parcels in the groundwater model for the purposes of the analysis, actual
well locations were not known. The large number of the model-assigned wells for the Small
Pumper Class members are not shown on Figure 14 to avoid confusion.

3.9.1 Production Monitoring and Metering

The Judgment requires the Watermaster Engineer to monitor safe yield components,
including groundwater production, and to ensure that reductions in pumping take place
pursuant to the terms of the Judgment (¶18.5.2). As Watermaster Engineer, Todd
Groundwater developed a form for 2018 production monitoring (i.e., reporting) that
included documentation of how each Party measures the reported production. Although
production in public water supply wells is measured directly with well meters, many of the
agricultural and other wells in the Basin did not historically install meters. As such, reported
production for those wells has historically been estimated using a variety of methods
including electrical records or crop consumption data.

As stated by the Judgment, all Parties (except the Small Pumper Class) have been required
to install meters on their wells by December 23, 2017 (within two years after the Judgment)
to measure production directly. The Watermaster requested and was granted an extension
to March 1, 2018 to complete the required meter installation. This process is not complete.
The Watermaster Engineer has developed Rules and Regulations (approved by the Court)
providing guidance and requirements for selection, installation, and testing of well meters
(see Appendix I).

To ensure that meters were properly installed, the Watermaster Engineer has selected
numerous contractors and qualified personnel as Pre-Qualified Meter Installers. All Pre-
Qualified Meter Installers were required to comply with consistent reporting and
documentation of new meter installations. In addition, the rules required documentation of
existing well meters to ensure that all wells were metered in compliance with the
regulations. The requirements also allow for a variance in the rules if well owners can
demonstrate that an alternative meter installation will result in accurate production
monitoring. Materials related to the meter requirements are available on the Watermaster
website, including the pertinent Rules and Regulations, and the list of pre-approved meter
installers and testers.

At the end of 2018, there were a large number of Parties remaining that had not completed
metering in compliance with the Rules and Regulations. Watermaster Counsel developed a
memorandum with options available for the Watermaster to ensure meter installation
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compliance and a recommended enforcement process, which was implemented in early

2019. Administrative staff, Watermaster Counsel, and the Watermaster Engineer are

working together on enforcement to achieve full compliance with meter requirements.

Administrative staff maintains a list ofnon-compliant Parties for reporting to the Board.

I n addition to enforcement activities, procedures will be needed to estimate unreported

Production amounts, so that a full water accounting can be performed. This accounting

would help allow full implementation of the Judgment, such as determining Replacement

Water Obligations or determining Carry Over amounts.

3.9.2 Small Pumper Class Production Monitoring

The Judgment defined a Small Pumper Class of Producers as "all private (i.e., non-

governmental) Persons and entities that own real property within the Basin, as adjudicated,

and that have been pumping less than 25 acre-feet per Year on their property during any

Year from 1946 to the present" (¶3.5.44). The Judgment allows any Small Pumper Class

Member to produce up to 3 AFY for reasonable and beneficial use on their overlying land

without being subject to a Replacement Water Assessment (¶5.1.3).

The Judgment states that the "primary means for monitoring the Small Pumper Class

Members' Groundwater use...will be based on physical inspection by the Watermaster,

including the use of aerial photographs and satellite imagery" (¶5.1.3.2). The level of

monitoring to document this groundwater use, along with appropriate monitoring tools, is

being considered by the Watermaster Engineer.

As an initial step, aerial photographs and known small pumper parcels could be evaluated

together on an annual basis. In addition, some Producers have identified areas of concern

where Small Pumpers may be producing in excess of the maximum amount; as those areas

are identified, the Watermaster Engineer could conduct additional assessments. Should the

Watermaster develop a reasonable belief that a Small Pumper Class Member is using in

excess of 3 AFY, the Watermaster can require the well owner to install a meter at the well

owners expense.

3.9.3 2018 Land Use Monitoring

To provide aBasin-wide perspective for groundwater use, land use in the Adjudication Area

will be incorporated into the monitoring program. Acolor-infrared (CIR) aerial photograph

taken in Fall 2018 and provided by the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) is shown on

Figure 15 to illustrate the overall land use in the Basin for this reporting period. A CIR

photograph is particularly useful for interpretation of natural resources, especially

vegetation. The Adjudication Area and Management Subareas are also shown on the image,

although subarea names have been omitted to maximize the viewing area (see Figure 14

and others for Subarea names). The Federal lands of Edwards Air Force Base are excluded

from this satellite image for national security reasons.
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CIR aerial photographs vary in overall tone, which complicates the interpretation of the
color tones on the photograph. In general, red tones on the image indicate live vegetation;
the red color intensifies with vegetation density and health. This occurs because healthy
vegetation reflects significant near-infrared light, assigned to be red on various images. As
plant vigor decreases, the vegetation will show as lighter shades of red and pink, various
shades of greens, and possibly tans. Dead vegetation (wheat stubble as an example) will
often be greens or tans.

The image on Figure 15 allows for identification of irrigated crops, especially alfalfa fields, by
the intense bright red areas of the Basin. As shown on the figure, most of the irrigated
agriculture at the time of the photograph (Fall) is indicated in the eastern half of the Central
Antelope Subarea. Additional agriculture also occurs throughout the remainder of the Basin,
with some fields visible but not being irrigated as of the date of this aerial photograph. A

comparison of Figure 15 with Figure 13 shows a correlation between the location of
agricultural wells and indicated fields across the Basin.

The number of acres associated with irrigated agriculture in 2018 was obtained from the
agricultural commissioners of Kern and Los Angeles counties as shown in Table 9. Data
compiled for the 2016 and 2017 Annual Reports are also included for comparison on the
table.

Table 9. 2016 to 2018 Estimated Agricultural Acreage in the Antelope Valley

As indicated by the data in Table 9, the number of irrigated agricultural acres in the Basin
increased by about 15 percent from 2016 to 2017 but decreased by about 35 percent in
2018, commensurate with the mandatory reduction in pumping (rampdown). As production
is reduced during the Rampdown Period in compliance with the Judgment, the irrigated
agricultural acreage that is economically viable for farming may continue to decline.
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4 WATER ACCOUNTING

This section provides details on the water accounting for the Parties to the Judgment. The

detailed accounting includes documentation of the Rampdown schedule, 2018 production,

actual rampdown use, allocation and use of Imported Water Return Flows (IWRFs), Carry

Over water, and information on other water categories such as transfers and storage. Also

included are details on the wastewater and recycled water practices that occurred within

the Adjudication Area in 2018 and details on the well applications program developed in

2018.

Production Rights, Rampdown, Unused Federal Reserved Water Right, Imported Water

Return Flows, and Carry Over water available to each Party in 2018 are tabulated in a single

line entry for each Party in the tables in Appendix B. Other water available to Parties, such

as transfers and storage, are tabulated in separate appendices and discussed in more detail

in this section. Accounts remain incomplete for Parties that have not reported their 2016,

2017, and/or 2018 annual production. Parties are encouraged to contact the Watermaster

Engineer if their records differ from what is presented in this report.

4.Z PRODUCTION RIGHT AND PRODUCTION CATEGORIES

Production Right is defined in the Judgment as "the amount of Native Safe Yield that may be

Produced each Year free of any Replacement Water Assessment and Replacement

Obligation. The total of the Production Rights decreed in this Judgment equals the Native

Safe Yield" (¶3.532). The circle graph on Figure 2 illustrates the allocation of Production

Rights among the Antelope Valley Producers, which totals 82,300 AFY13

Additional groundwater production categories are identified throughout the Judgment; the

primary production categories are listed on the left side of Figure 2. These categories,

including provisions and limitations in the Judgment, have been considered in developing

the water accounts. To ensure that the Watermaster Engineer and each Party have the

same understanding as to the amounts of water in each Party's accounts, selected tables of

these accounts will be posted on the Watermaster website.

4.2 RAMPDOWN SCHEDULE

In accordance with Paragraph 8.3 of the Judgment, Producers that were allocated a portion

of the Native Safe Yield (except the Small Pumper Class, the State of California and the

United States) must reduce production from aPre-Rampdown Production amount to the

Production Right. In this manner, the Basin will be brought into balance over the seven-year

Rampdown Period in accordance with the Judgment-defined Native Safe Yield. The Pre-

Rampdown Production amount is defined as the "reasonable and beneficial use of

Groundwater, excluding Imported Water Return Flows, at a time prior to this Judgment, or

the Production Right, whichever is greater" (¶3.5.28). The Rampdown Period extends from

13 Figure 2 does not include Production Rights of the Supporting Landowner Parties.
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2016 through 2022; the reductions in production associated with the rampdown occur in

years 2018-2022.

The Rampdown schedule for 2016 through 2022 for each Party with aPre-Rampdown

Production right is provided in Appendix A. Table A-1 has the Rampdown schedule for the

Exhibit 3Non-Overlying and Supporting Landowner Producers while Table A-2 has the

Rampdown schedule for the Exhibit 4 Overlying Producers. Beginning in 2018, Pre-

Rampdown Production is reduced linearly over afive-year period to reach the Production

Right in 2023, the first year after Rampdown.

Pre-Rampdown Production amounts for the Exhibit 4 Producers were provided in the

Judgment. Pre-Rampdown Production amounts (Table A-1) for. the Exhibit 3 Producers and

Supporting Landowners were not provided in the Judgment and the values in Table A-1 have

been approved by the Watermaster Board (Todd Groundwater memorandum dated June

22, 2018).

4.3 ZOZH REPORTED PRODUCTION AND WATER ACCOUNTING

In compliance with the Judgment, Todd Groundwater has worked with administrative staff

to develop a production reporting process including a reporting form and a deadline for

submittals. Although reporting compliance has improved over the three years of Judgment

implementation, not all Parties have complied with the requirements. At the time of this

Final Report, about 102 Parties out of 133 total Parties had reported their 2018 production;

31 Parties had not yet reported. Types of Parties and the associated reported production are

summarized in Table 10.

Administrative staff has been working with Parties to improve production reporting

compliance and to infill missing production reports from the previous two years. The current

status of reporting for 2016 and 2017 production is summarized in Table 11. Appendix M

contains a list of Exhibit 3, Exhibit 4, State of California, United States, and Supporting

Landowner Parties that have not submitted a 2016, 2017, and/or 2018 Annual Production

Reports. Rules and Regulations have incorporated incentives for production reporting

compliance including requiring complete reporting prior to approval of wells or transfers.
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Enforcement actions are being considered to achieve compliance with reporting

requirements in the Judgment.

Exhibit 3 Parties 11 31,889.89 ~ 11 i 29,240.30 ~ 11 ___~

Exhibit 4 Parties 104 75,681.61 î 83 ~ 58,390.21 74 ',

U S. Federal 1 1,094.01 1 1 174.00 1 ~

Stiate of California j 9 ~ 0.00 ~ 1 ~ 0.00_ 1

Su ort Landowners
— pp -- — —

8
--

I 152.45
1---

~

3 ~ 608.25

_

5

TOTALS 133 ~ ~, 108,817.96 99 ~ 89 412.76 ~ 92 ~

Data in Tables 10 and 11 indicate that reported production has declined over the three-year

period of the Judgment as well as in 2018 as a result of rampdown, but accurate amounts

cannot be determined without production reporting by all Parties.

Appendix B presents detailed accounting of water sources (Production Right, Rampdown,

unused Federal Reserved Rights, Imported Water Return Flows and Carry Over water) for

2018 for each Party to the Judgment. Note that all Parties may not have rights to all these

water source types. In addition to the sources of water available for production each year,

the tables show the amount of groundwater produced and the sources of water assigned to

that production for 2018. For example, production was first assumed to be derived from

each Party's Production Right (as required by the Judgment). Additional production was

then assumed to come from Rampdown, allocation of unused Federal Reserved Rights,

IWRFs, and then Carry Over, if applicable. More details of IWRFs are in Section 4.4.

To facilitate review by the Parties of the process, columns on the tables in Appendix B have

been numbered and formulas used to develop the account details are shown. This will allow

Parties to better understand how numbers were derived and ensure that the amounts

developed by the Watermaster Engineer balance with each Party's internal records.

Tables B-1 and B-2 present the water accounts for the Exhibit 3Non-Overlying Producers

and the Exhibit 4 Overlying Producers, respectively. Table B-3 contains water accounts for

Other Parties including the United States, State of California, Supporting Landowners,

Antelope Valley Joint Union High School District (AVJUHSD), City of Lancaster, and PPHCSD,

as well as any metered Small Pumper Class members and use of Imported Water Return

Flows by Parties that have no other rights to produce. Finally, Table B-4 shows water

accounts for those entities that have been granted New Production under the Antelope

Valley Watermaster Rules and Regulations (see Section 4.11 for information on the New

Production well application process). Replacement Water Assessments must be paid for all
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New Production. The first successful New Production application was approved in March
2018.

As per the Judgment (¶5.1.4.1), unused Federal Reserved Water Rights (associated with
Edwards Air Force Base and Air Force Plant 42) in any given year will be allocated to the
Non-Overlying Production Rights holders (except for Boron CSD and West Valley County
Water District) in the following year, in proportion to Production Rights set forth in Exhibit 3
of the Judgment. This unused portion of the Federal Reserved Right is to be used by the
Non-Overlying parties in the year available and is not subject to Carry Over (¶15). The
United States is to give the Watermaster at least aninety-day notice if its Production is
anticipated to increase more than 200 AFY in the following 12-month period (¶11.1).
Increased demand by the United States can be meet with increasing Production or by
accepting imported water deliveries. Any Party can propose a water substitution or
replacement to the United States. If a Party's proposed imported water substitution is
agreed upon by the United States, the United States will reduce Production by that amount
and the Party can Produce that amount of Native Safe Yield free from a Replacement Water
Assessment in addition to their Production Right (¶11.2).

The Supporting Landowners are Non-Stipulating Parties that are subject to all provisions of
the Judgment but are not entitled to benefits provided by Stipulation, including but not
limited to Carry Over and Transfers (¶5.1.10) (Table B-3). Other Parties, such as the City of
Lancaster and the AVJUHSD, were given rights to produce groundwater up to certain
amounts until recycled water becomes available (Table B-3). Phelan Pinon Hills Community
Services District (PPHCSD) does not have Production Rights, but according to the Judgment,
is allowed to pump up to 1,200 AFY from its Well #14 provided such production does not
cause Material Injury and the District pays a Replacement Water Assessment and any other
costs deemed necessary to protect Production Rights defined in the Judgment, on all water
produced and exported (Table B-3). The bottom of Table B-3 lists six Parties that have rights
to Imported Water Return Flows but do not have Production Rights. These six Parties have
the right to produce, carry over, transfer, or store these Imported Water Return Flows in the
future if they choose.

Small Pumper Class Members can produce up to 3 AFY for reasonable and beneficial use on
their overlying land without being subject to a Replacement Water Assessment, reporting
production or installing a meter on their well(s). To date, only two Small Pumper Class
Members are known to have installed meters on their wells. The Antelope Valley Country
Club has voluntarily installed meters on its wells to document use of its Production Right (up
to 3 AFY, same as all Small Pumper Class Members) and its right to Imported Water Return
Flows (Table B-3). It also has transfer water available to it (last column on right in Table B-3).
Long Valley Road L.P. is in the process of getting meters installed and approved. It also has
transfer water available to it (last column on right in Table B-3).

Table B-4 lists applicants that have been granted New Production. A total of 24 New
Production applications have been approved but 2 of these encountered dry boreholes and
subsequently withdrew their applications. Watermaster administrative staff is in the process
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of contacting these Parties and getting 2018 Annual Production Reports for those that have
had the wells completed in 2018.

4.4 IMPORTED WATER USE AND RETURN FLOWS

AVEK, PWD, and LCID are State Water Project (SWP) contractors with turnouts along the

east branch of the California Aqueduct to import SWP water into the Antelope Valley. AVEK

imports SWP water and treats a portion of this water at its four water treatment plants for

delivery to its municipal and industrial customers. AVEK also delivers untreated SWP water
for agriculture use and recharge for subsequent recovery and delivery to its customers. PWD
imports SWP water for treatment through its water treatment plant located at Lake
Palmdale and delivers the treated water to its urban customers directly. PWD also wheels

small amounts of imported water to AVEK and LCID. LCID does not have a treatment plant
for its SWP allocation but has conducted exchanges with AVEK over the last several years.

Some of LCID's SWP Table A water has been delivered to AVEK in exchange for the return of
an equal amount of AVEK's approved future allocation of SWP Table A water to LCID. In

2018, AVEK imported 805 AF of LCID Table A SWP water. Since 2007, 5,635 AF of LCID's
Table A water has been delivered to AVEK for future return to LCID. This imported water has

been included in AVEK imported water totals.

Appendix C-1 provides details on the amount of water imported into the Antelope Valley
watershed, amounts recharged (banked), and the amounts sold to customers in 2018. In
2018, a total of 59,839.16 AF of SWP water was imported into the watershed. AVEK
imported 49,629.16 AF, PWD imported 10,210 AF, and LCID did not import any water in
2018. Appendix C-2 provides a summary of the total imported water stored at the beginning
and end of 2018 and the amount of water recovered for use inside and outside the
Adjudicated Area.

As provided in Paragraph 5.2 of the Judgment, Parties listed on Exhibit 8 of the Judgment
have a right to produce Imported Water Return Flows in any year equal to the applicable

percentage multiplied by the average amount of imported water used by that Party within

the Basin in the preceding five-year period. This calculation does not include imported
stored water in the Basin pursuant to a Storage Water Agreement (see Section 4.8). AVEK

has rights to the Imported Water Return Flows used by Parties not on Exhibit 8 of the

Judgment. Appendix D lists imported water use for 2011 through 2018 and Imported Water
Return Flows for 2016 through 2019 by the 37 Parties on Exhibit 8. Return flows from

agricultural imported water use are set in the Judgment at 34 percent and return flows from
municipal and industrial imported water use are set in the Judgment at 39 percent of the

amount of imported water used.

I mported water is also banked in the Antelope Valley for storage and subsequent recovery

and use. Groundwater banking by AVEK and others is described in Section 4.8.
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4.S CARRY OVER WATER

Producers can carry over an unproduced portion of an annual Production Right or a right to

Imported Water Return Flows to the next year under certain conditions as defined by the

Judgment. Producers are also allowed to purchase imported water and forego a portion of

the Production Right to the Carry Over water account (In Lieu Production Right Carry Over,

¶15.1 of Judgment). Carry Over water amounts for Producers with unused Production Rights

or Imported Water Return Flows for 2018 are documented in the tables in Appendix B. For

future Annual Reports, these Carry Over accounts may be tabulated in a separate appendix

to show aging of the separate Carry Over accounts. According to the Judgment, water

eligible for these accounts may be carried over for up to ten years. At the end of the Carry

Over period, the Producer may enter into a Storage Agreement with the Watermaster to

store unproduced portions of Carry Over water. If not converted to a Storage Agreement,

Carry Over water not Produced by the end of the tenth year reverts to the benefit of the

Basin and the Producer no longer has a right to the Carry Over water (¶15.1, 15.2, 15.3).

4.E REPLACEMENT OBLIGATIONS

The purpose of Replacement Water is to ensure that each Party may fully exercise its

Production Right by keeping the basin in hydrologic balance. A Producer has a Replacement

Obligation if its production of groundwater is more than the sum of its rights to pump

groundwater including Production Rights, Carry Over water, Imported Water Return Flows,

in-lieu production, and Stored water. During the first two years of the Rampdown Period

(2016 and 2017), Producers were not subject to Replacement Water Assessment fees. An

exception to this was Phelan Pinon Hills Community Services District (PPHCSD). It does not

have Production Rights, but according to the Judgment is allowed to pump up to 1,200 AFY

from its Well #14 provided such use does not cause Material Injury and PPHCSD pays a

Replacement Water Assessment and any other costs deemed necessary to protect

Production Rights defined in the Judgment, on all water produced and exported.

Replacement Water Obligations for 2018 are listed in Appendix E. The Replacement Water

Assessment (RWA) fee for Producers within the AVEK, PWD, and LCID service areas was set

at $415 per acre-foot for the 2016 through 2018 period. The State Water contractors in the

Antelope Valley area (AVEK, PWD, and LCID) hired an independent contractor to develop a

methodology to determine the RWA fee in areas inside and in areas outside of the State

Water Contractor service areas (Appendix O). The Replacement Water Assessment fee for

2019 was set at $451 per acre-foot for Producers within the State Water Contractor service

areas and at $948 per acre-foot for Producers outside the State Water Contractor service

areas. The Parties listed in Appendix E will be invoiced for these RWAs unless they meet

these Replacement Water Obligations through approved transfers.

4.7 TRANSFERS

All transfers of Production Rights or other rights to produce groundwater under the

Judgment that have occurred to date are tabulated in Appendix F-1. The table includes the
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names of the Transferor and the Transferee and the parcels associated with each party. Also
listed is the type of transfer (e.g., property sale, transfer of rights, merger, split of rights).

Most of the listed transfers are associated with property sales. The table also includes the

transferred amount and date of transfer as well as the status of the voting rights associated
with any permanent transfer of Production Rights. A transfer form was developed in 2018

(see Appendix N) and has been used for transfers since its approval. The transfees

associated with Production Right transfers are also indicated in the second column of the
water accounting tables (Appendix B) to show who the new owner of those Production
Rights is.

Appendix F-2 contains a summary of transfers that are not associated with a transfer of

Production Rights. The Appendix F-2 table was generated to summarize one-time transfers,
generally of Carry Over water. To date, four such transfers have occurred, and these
amounts are also included in the water accounting tables (Appendix B) in the last column on

the right. Transfers to Parties are represented as a positive number since it is additional
water available to that Party while transfers from Parties are represented as a negative
number since the Transferee has sold that water to another Party and it is no longer
available to the Transferee. There have been no transfers by the Antelope Valley United
M utuals Group14. As required in the Judgment, a separate accounting for Antelope Valley
United Mutuals Group transfers will occur if any of such transfers take place.

4.H STORED WATER AND STORAGE AGREEMENTS

All Parties have the right to store water in the Basin pursuant to a Storage Agreement with

the Watermaster. Storage could include Carry Over water or imported water that has been

brought into the Basin and recharged. AVEK may export any of its imported Stored water to

any area outside its jurisdictional boundaries and the Basin, provided all water demands
within its jurisdictional boundaries are met. Stored waterthat originated as other imported
water may also be exported, subject to a technical determination by the Watermaster of the
percentage of the Stored water that is unrecoverable; such unrecoverable Stored water is

dedicated to the Basin (~14 of the Judgment). Production from Stored water is not subject

to an Administrative Assessment (¶9.1 of the Judgment). Paragraph 6.3 of the Judgment
prohibits unauthorized Parties to claim rights to produce any Stored water recharged in the

Basin, except pursuant to a Storage Agreement with the Watermaster.

To date, the Watermaster has not entered into any storage agreements, and the

information on existing banking programs is based on information reported to the

l4 The members of the Antelope Valley United Mutuals Group are Antelope Park Mutual Water
Company, Aqua-J Mutual Water Company, Averydale Mutual Water Company, Baxter Mutual Water
Company, Bleich Flat Mutual Water Company, Colorado Mutual Water Co., EI Dorado Mutual Water
Company, Evergreen Mutual Water Company, Land Projects Mutual Water Co., Landale Mutual
Water Co., Shadow Acres Mutual Water Company, Sundale Mutual Water Company, Sunnyside Farms
Mutual Water Company, Inc., Tierra Bonita Mutual Water Company, West Side Park Mutual Water
Co. and White Fence Farms Mutual Water Co., together with the successors)-in interest to any
member thereof.
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Watermaster Engineer by the bank operators. Once Storage Agreements are executed, the
water accounting will reflect information obtained during development of the Storage

Agreement and reported under the agreement.

Several banking projects involving Stored water are currently in operation in the Basin
including some projects that were in existence prior to the Judgment. Nothing in the

Judgment limits or modifies operations of these preexisting banking projects (operators are
listed in ¶14 of the Judgment). A complete list of preexisting banking projects has not yet

been finalized; the following is a partial list of those projects:

• AVEK Westside Water Bank

• AVEK Eastside Water Bank

• AVEK High Dessert Water Bank

• Antelope Valley Water Storage LLC Willow Spring Water Bank (formerly the
Antelope Valley Water Bank)

• Tejon Ranchcorp and Tejon Ranch Company's Tejon Water Bank.

These banking projects are described below and operations are documented quantitatively

in Appendix C-2. Storage Agreements with these Parties are being initiated and information

on these Storage Agreements will be included in Appendix G in future annual reports.

AVEK's Westside Water Bank (formally referred to as Water Supply Stabilization Project No.
2 (WSSP-2)) is capable of storing up to 150,000 AF of water recharged in low-bermed
recharge basins covering about 1,000 acres of agricultural fields. AVEK's Eastside Water

Bank consists of three 2-acre recharge basins and three groundwater wells that are used for

recharge and recovery of raw SWP water. The recovered water is blended for delivery to the
Eastside Water Treatment Plant. In 2017, AVEK also started recharging water in its new High

Desert Water Bank which is on a 1,500-acre site and will have a 280,000 AF capacity to store

approximately 70,000 AFY of SWP surface water conveyed to the site via the California

Aqueduct. In 2018, 12,559 AF of SWP water was recharged into the Westside Water Bank,
778 AF of SWP water was recharged into the Eastside Water Bank and 2,992 AF was

recharged into the High Desert Water Bank for a total of 16,329 AF of recharge (Appendix C-

1). AVEK recovered 7,922.83 AF of previously banked water in 2018 (Appendix C-2).

Another groundwater bank in Antelope Valley is the Willow Springs Water Bank (WSWB)

(formerly called the Antelope Valley Water Bank). The WSWB is located on 1,838 acres of

agricultural land near Rosamond in Antelope Valley. It consists of percolation ponds and has

a reported storage space of 500,000 AF and recharge and recovery capacities of 100,000

AFY. The Southern California Water Bank Authority (formerly called the Semitropic-
Rosamond Water Bank Authority) operates the WSWB and the Semitropic Water Storage
District Stored water Recover Unit (SWRU), which is not located in Antelope Valley.
Operating both the WSWB and the SWRU, which are located indifferent areas in Kern

County, provides more flexibility to acquire, exchange and deliver water. The combined
storage space capacity is reported at 800,000 AF with a 133,000 AFY recharge capacity and a

200,000 AFY recovery capacity. Banking information indicates that 200,000 shares will be
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issued to customers in the combined facilities. Each share will provide customers with the

following capacities:

• 1 AFY recovery plus lower priority capacity when available

• 3 AF in SWRU or 5 AF in WSWB of storage plus lower priority capacity when

available

• 0.33 AFY in SWRU or 1 AFY in WSWB of recharge plus lower priority capacity when

available.

Water agencies can purchase shares in the water bank and pay annual fees per share plus

fees for depositing water and for extracting water. Ten percent of all water deposited in the

water bank is required to be left behind to keep the bank viable. The basin is also credited

with evaporation losses based on actual conditions including temperature and wind

conditions when the percolation occurs (Beuhler, 2017).

In 2018, no water was recharged or recovered from the WSWB. Pumping of native

groundwater (954 AF) did occur in accordance with the bank's Exhibit 4 Production Right

(1,772 AF) to support the agricultural property at the water bank.

The Tejon Water Bank was built in 2006 and is owned and operated by the Tejon Ranchcorp

and Ranch Company on 160 acres in northeast Kern County. In 2018, they spread 17,330 AF

but did not recover any previously-stored water (Appendix C-2).

At the end of 2018, the three Parties discussed above and included in Appendix C-2 that

store water in the Adjudicated Area have a total of 139,654 AF of water in storage.

4.9 DROUGHT PROGRAM

The Judgment contains provisions for a Drought Program which is defined as a water

management program in effect only during the Rampdown Period affecting the operations

and Replacement Water Assessments of the participating Public Water Suppliers (called

Drought Program Participants)15 (¶3.5.12).

During the Rampdown Period, District 40 agrees to purchase from AVEK each year an

amount of water equal to 70 percent of District 40's total annual demand or, if that amount

is not available from AVEK, as much water as AVEK makes available at no more than the

then-current AVEK treated water rate. District 40 is not required to purchase more than

50,000 AFY from AVEK (¶8.4.1). Table 12 summarizes District 40's total annual demand and

the amount of imported water purchased from AVEK in 2016, 2017 and 2018.

1sDrought Program Participants are District 40, Quartz Hill Water District, Littlerock Creek
Irrigation District, California Water Service Company, Desert Lake Community Services District,
North Edwards Water District, City of Palmdale, and Palm Ranch Irrigation District (¶8.4).
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Table 12. District No. 40 Water Demand and Imported Water Supply

~+4strict Ap l~pt~rt+~t! Vxl~r filse 201 20I'~ 2(1 5

Total Water Use (Groundwater + Imported) 42,461.14 44,342.76 46,199.45

Imported Water Use 26,459.24 26,946.45 28,925.81

p"~rcent of Imported iJU~ater Use 62.314'0 60.77% 6Z.fi1%

During the Rampdown Period, the Drought Program Participants agree to minimize excess

groundwater production and use all water made available by AVEK at no more than the

current AVEK treated water rate in any year they produce groundwater in excess of their

rights under the Judgment. Drought Program Participant Production is not considered

excess Production exempt from a Replacement Water Assessment under this Drought

Program unless a Drought Program Participant has utilized all water supplies available to it

including its Production Right, Imported Water Return Flow rights, unused Production

allocation of the Federal Reserved Water Rights, imported water, and Production rights

previously transferred from another Party (¶8.4.2).

The Drought Program Participants are exempt from Replacement Water Assessments for

Production in excess of their respective rights up to a total of 40,000 AF over the Rampdown

Period with a maximum of 20,000 AF in any single year for District 40 and a total of 5,000 AF

over the Rampdown Period for all other Drought Program Participants combined. Any

excess Production under this Drought Program needs to be for direct delivery to customers

within their respective service areas (¶8.4.3). Table 13 shows the amount of production in

excess of Drought Program Participants' available water for 2016, 2017, and 2018.

Table 13. Drought Program Participants Production in Excess of Rights

C~rowght Program Participants
Pr~odutC9on in E~csess of Rights(AMY)

2Q7~6 ?13.7 ~0~8

District 40 0.00 0.00 0.00

Quartz Hill Water District 0.00 0.00 0.00

Littlerock Creek Irrigation District 0.00 0.00 0.00

California Water Service Company 0.00 0.00 0.00

Desert Lake Community Services District 0.00 0.00 0.00

North Edwards Water District 0.00 0.00 0.00

City of Palmdale 0.00 0.00 0.00

Palm Ranch Irrigation Districts 0.00 57.48 114.17

Total 0, 57, . 1x4.1

1. Palm Ranch ID received a one-time transfer of 2,850AF in 2019 and 114.17 AF of this will be

used as its Replacement Water Obligation for 2018 overproduction.
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As shown in the table, Palm Ranch Irrigation District is the only Drought Program Participant

that produced in excess of its total groundwater rights in 2018 (see Appendix B-1). In 2019,

Palm Ranch Irrigation District received aone-time transfer of 2,850 AF of which 114.17 AF

will be used as its Replacement Water Obligation for 2018 overproduction.

4.10 CHANGES IN USE

Annual reports are to include a compilation of changes in use (¶18.5.18.17 of the

Judgment). Changes in use have been documented through Transfers (see Section 4.6 and

Appendix F) and through New Point of Extraction applications (see Section 4.11 and

Appendix H).

4.11 WELL APPLICATIONS FOR NEW OR REPLACEMENT PRODUCTION WELLS

The process for well applications for new or replacement production wells was initiated in

2017 and finalized in early 2018.

New and replacement wells drilled in the Adjudication Area of the Antelope Valley are

subject to approval by the Antelope Valley Watermaster. A new well is any well that does

not presently exist but is proposed to be constructed. A replacement well is a specific kind

of new well that is located within 300 feet of an existing well and owned by the same Party

that intends to construct the new well.

There is also an approval process for non-production wells. Non-production wells include

piezometers, monitoring wells, and cathodic protection wells that will pump only minimal

amounts of groundwater associated with well construction and/or groundwater sampling.

Prior to approval of a well application, the Watermaster Board must make the following

findings:

• Applicant has a known right to produce groundwater under the Judgment, or

qualifies as an unknown small pumper, or is anon-pumper with no pumping rights

but agrees to purchase replacement water.

• Applicant with a right to produce groundwater requests a replacement well (within

300 feet of an existing well) or a new well from a new point of extraction; or

applicant is anon-pumper with no pumping rights and requests a well for new

production; or applicant requests anon-production well.

• Applicant's well will not cause Material Injury as defined by the Judgment and the

Rules and Regulations.

Appendix N contains the four forms associated with these types of wells applications:

Small Pumper Qualifying Documentation

Replacement Well Application for Existing Production Rights or New Non-Production

Well
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• New Point of Extraction Application

• New Production Application.

In 2017 and 2018, the following well applications and Small Pumper Qualifying

Documentations have been approved:

• 28 monitoring wells

• 3 test, yield or other wells

• 8 Replacement wells

• 1 Replacement well for Parties that no longer wanted to share wells

• 5 New Points of Extraction

• 2 New Points of Extraction for Parties that no longer wanted to share wells

• 15 New Production wells (2 of these approved applications were withdrawn

because wells were dry)

• 42 Small Pumper Qualifying Documentations (7 of these Small Pumper Qualifying

Documentations were submitted in association with some of the Replacement Well

and New Points of Extraction requests listed above).

Locations of these approved applications are shown on Figure 16 and listed in Appendix H.

4.12 WASTEWATER AND RECYCLED WATER

Antelope Valley area wastewater is treated at LACSD's Palmdale and Lancaster WRPs, EAFB

Air Force Research Laboratory Treatment Plant and the Main Base WWTP, and the RCSD's

WWTP. Quantities of effluent and reuse for 2018 are tabulated in Appendix J.
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Appendix A
Rampdown Tables

A-1. Exhibit 3Non-Overlying and Supporting

Landowner Producers Rampdown Schedule

A-2. Exhibit 4 Overlying Producers Rampdown

Schedule
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Table A-1 Exhibit 3Non-Overlying and Supporting Landowner Producers Rampdown Schedule

~h€bik 3 Non-f3ver~ng prb~#wcfet's

Rre-

R~~~°~
Productlan

~qfy~

Ra;npdown 1~rgets ~AFY~ PrrrdwetiDn

~~~2~73b ~O17 21138 z019 20I0 x01 ~A22

Boron Community Services District 153.02 153.02 153.02 135.85 118.68 101.51 8434 67.17 50.00

California Water Services Company 589.76 589.76 589.76 548.66 507.56 466.45 425.35 384.24 343.14

Desert Lake Community Services District 73.53 73.53 73.53 73.53 73.53 73.53 73.53 73.53 73.53

Littlerock Creek Irrigation District 1,420.19 1,420.19 1,420.19 1,316.25 1,21232 1,108.38 1,004.45 900.51 796.58

Los Angeles County Waterworks District No. 40 6,789.26 6,789.26 6,789.26 6,789.26 6,789.26 6,789.26 6,789.26 6,789.26 6,789.26

North Edwards Water District 102.92 102.92 102.92 93.94 84.95 75.97 66.99 58.00 49.02

Palm Ranch Irrigation District 1,095.47 1,095.47 1,095.47 990.51 885.55 780.58 675.62 570.65 465.69

Palmdale Water District 2,769.63 2,769.63 2,769.63 2,769.63 2,769.63 2,769.63 2,769.63 2,769.63 2,769.63

Quartz Hill Water District 2,397.09 2,397.09 2,397.09 2,091.53 1,785.97 1,480.41 1,174.85 869.29 563.73

Rosamond Community Services District 2,917.88 2,917.98 2,917.88 2,498.97 2,080.06 1,661.15 1,242.24 82333 404.42

West Valley County Water District 185.00 185.00 185.00 160.83 136.67 112.50 88.33 64.17 40.00

7"t+t~l 1Q.49f.7$ X8 .75 18,893.7a 27,RS8.96 Y5,4~I437 3,' r~1$r38 IR,'lEM.5i 1~,3b9.79 ~',3~15.

Fes' Ftv~1l F1 TW$8IS tgi~Y} PfOQi+cH9R
i~ ~aasd~ Ptidusaers ~f~A" , hemptewn

~~
SCTgltld~in$ Pi~r'ti89j ~~s4riCtion

f~`i .6 SAS7 tJ ]Uk~9 ~,ax0 ~u ~zt t+`~"'~

Desert Breeze MHP, LLC 20.35 20.35 2035 19.98 19.60 19.23 18.85 18.48 18.10

Milana VII, LLC dba Rosamond Mobile Home Park 28.00 28.00 28.00 26.95 25.90 24.85 23.80 22.75 21.70

Reesdale Mutual Water Company 23.00 23.00 23.00 23.00 23.00 23.00 23.00 23.00 23.00

Juanita Eyherabide, Eyherabide Land Co., LLC and

Eyherabide Sheep Com any
14.56 14.56 14.56 14.13 13.71 13.28 12.85 12.43 12.00

Clan Keith Real Estate Investments, LLC dba Leisure

Lake Mobile Estates
148.10 148.10 148.10 134.08 120.07 106.05 92.03 78.02 64.00

White Fence Farms Mutual Water Company No. 3 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00

LV Ritter Ranch, LLC 950.87 950.87 950.87 792.39 633.91 475.44 316.96 158.48 0.00

Robar Enterprises, Inc., HI-Grade Materials, Co., and

GR, a General Partnershi
675.00 675.00 675.00 596.67 517.33 438.00 358.67 279.33 200.00

7o!tsl k,863.E8 2,883.$8 1,8fi3.88 ],5],],2Q 1;357.52 1,1A3.84 850.1fi 59bY4E 3+12

TODD GROUNDWATER
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Table A-2 Exhibit 4 Overlying Producers Rampdown Schedule

aI~Im1461Wt4lphKK~ Y~~)wi
1~rMlulgrcb~m

iucHM'L11)

RamPdown Mewctlo~

t~101c lGl] ]O3! 10.9 PDlO 7R2i 7011

fOth Street Association Wa[erSK~em - 1.16 i,16 ].16 1.16 2.16 2.16 ].16 2.16 2.16

Adams Bennett lnveatmeirts, llC ~ 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.m O.OD 0.00 0.00

Antelope Vark Mutual Wate~Company - 308.]5 208.)5 208.]5 1021) 195.80 189.31 161.84 1)6.31 169-09

AmelOpe Va14y 1o4H Unlon High SchoolDMrIR ~ ]1.J4 )1.19 Jl.]4 66.62 63A9 563) 5115 06.11 /L00

Antelope Valley Mobile Estates - 1988 19 BB 1999 18.03 16.1] la3] 11A6 10.61 8.75

Amelape ValNy Water Norage LLC - 1, 13110 1,1]2A0 1,113A0 1,]]lA0 y]]3A0 I,ll]AO 1,]]iA0 1,]]]DO 1,T/3.00

gnteloOeValley-faze Kern Water Agency HAVEN) - C.OW.00 4.000.00 <.W0.00 3,915.00 3,950.00 3,]]5.00 3,]OD.00 3,6]500 3,550.00

ppusl Mutual Wafer fsmpanY 41.90 4090 49.90 Cd91 M.]2 M.63 M.53 MA4 4/.9S

qV Salar Ranth 1, lLC - 96.00 96.00 96.00 9fi.00 96.00 %.00 96.00 96.00 96.00

Averydale Mulual Water Umparry ~ 15).95 25].95 15).95 ]5].35 356.]5 256.15 ]55.55 25495 ]535

Bahlman: Gene Bahlman Hernandez:luis HernanEez; properly sale (]Ol]) 5.35 5.35 5.]5 5.11 5.1) S,13 S.OB S.W 5.00

Buhr Mirtud Wrtrt fompeny - C4.'!5 AC.'IS C4.]5 03.13 <1.51 3989 38.26 36.60 95A2

Benx: Mark W. And Nancy 1. Benx Tertevs. Gloria Terraza; property sale X2015) 1.00 1.00 100 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.0~ 1.00

Blg PakMN~alWrter ComOany - O.W 0.00 O.W O.W 0.00 O.OU 0.00 0.00 0.00

Blrtner Trust, Glen BrM1lner, Trustee - 4.00 400 400 0.00 i.00 l.00 0.00 C.00 4.00

Blekh FlH MutualWRar Company - 33.50 3350 33.50 33.50 33.50 33.50 33.50 3350 33.50

BIum: Sheldon R. Blum, Trustee of the 1998 Family
Trull

50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00

BahhawaVroperlln LLf - 16,605.89 16pO5.B9 16,BOS.fi9 15,667.61 IC,51B.93 13,3]5.05 17,731.96 SS,OBB.GB 9915.00

Bookman: Thomas anE Julie Bookman 200]irurt - 271.50 ]]1,50 2]].50 ]<9,]5 23].00 ]Oa.35 181.50 158,)5 136.00

Burr: U.S. Bore - 1,905D0 1,9DSA0 1,905.00 1,905.OD 1,905.00 1,905A0 1,905A0 1,905A0 1.905A0

Bridwell: lames and Elisabeth Bridwell - 100 100 100 100 1.00 1.00 1.OD 1.00 1.00

Burrowf/200 MOXLlC ~ H5.00 195.W ]95.W 195.00 DS.W ]95A0 295.W M5.00 295D0

CaUndriWrter Company, llC (Sonree Farms) - 3,80300 3,803.00 3,80300 3,065.1) 3,12)33 1,)89.50 2,451.6] 1,113.83 1,]]6.00

Ordile:5al and Cnnnh CarAlla Pool: Noel Pad; property sale (Z015~ 1.00 1.W 1.W I.W 1.W 1.OD 1.W 1.U0 100

Carle:Irma Ann Carle Trust,Irma-Pnne Carle,
Trus

_ 1W 1.00 1.00 1.00 l.m 30~ 1.00 1.00 1.00

Ouvec ERren Chevaz - MAO dC.OD MAO MAO CCAO MAO OOAO bA0 M.00

CIry of Los Angeles, Department o/Airports ],951.00 ),951.00 7,85100 ),30500 6,55900 5,91300 5,]6J 00 4,621.00 3,9)5.00

tlna: G Inuke P. Clne lMn9 Trust - 1.00 I.OD 1.00 I.OD 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 L00

Colorado Minual Wager Company - 1590 ]5.90 2590 ]S.ea 15.]8 25.]2 15.66 15.60 25.50

Cope De Oro land Company ~ 3]5.00 315.00 325A0 3]S.W 335.00 315.OD 315.00 315.W 929.00

County San Ration ~'strins of Jos Angeles l0&20 ~ 8,000,00 8,00000 B4OW.00 ],333.33 6,066.6) 5,)00.00 4,933.33 0,1666) 3,400.00

DeI Sur Pan~h LLC - 600.00 fd0.00 fa0.00 600.00 lU0.00 f~0.00 600.00 X0.00 600A0

diamond Farming/Crys[al Organic
LL Grimmwa la 's

3,35x.00 3,354.00 3,35400 3,12600 1,89800 ],6]000 1,60200 ],214.00 1,9Bfi.00

Dlckry: pandall and Blllle Dk4ey - 1.00 1.00 1.OD 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

E l Dorado Mutual Water Company - 1]6.05 ]]6.05 37605 1]5.40 1]C.15 ])4.11 2]3.46 2)3,81 2]2.16

e5olar lnc.;RM Dawn Suirtower LlC P~marM WnminkySwvlm Dlstrk[~1016~ ISO.m IS0.00 150.00 150.00 150.W 150.OD 150.00 350.W 350A0

e5olar lnc.; Sierra Sun Tower, LLC ~ 5.]6 5.]6 5.]6 5.30 0.B< 4,38 3.93 3.46 3.00

eSoWrinc; Tumbleweed 5umaver LLC - O.W 0.00 0.00 O.OD 0.00 Q00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Evans: Lawrence Dean Evans, lr. and Susan Evans - 1.OD 1.0~ 1.0~ 1.00 1.00 1.00 100 1.00 1.00

Everyrem MutualWYe~Company ~ 69.50 x.50 69.50 x.30 69.18 69.0'! 69H6 69.10 80.5{

Flndley:fluth C. Findley - 1.00 1.00 100 l.ro 100 100 1.00 100 1.00

Flnl Mutual Wxar Cpmpa~ry - 15b1 15.6] 15.62 1399 11.16 loA4 B.'!1 G9B 4.29

Frankenberg: Leah F~ankenberp - 1.00 l.ro 100 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Godda:5bva, Pamela&Gary GoEEe r/a Ptle 511va6

Co LLC

~pR~sIWpF Righhfmm Fone~t Godde (an E4rlbitBCorty

(m]]I))
1,961.50 1,96350 1,061.50 1,333.15 y]O1.00 I,OR.IS 941.50 832.]5 fJ9D0

6orrindo Resaurrelul LLC - fi39.m 629.00 fi29.W 619.00 6]9.00 619.00 629.W 629.00 fi29.0p

Grenke Canslrugbn WmpanY lBlg RakFaNllry~ - ll6.00 1]6.00 326.00 136.00 126.00 11G00 13G00 176A0 126A0

Granite Conslruct'wn Company (Little Rock Sand and
Gravel, Co.

wmpae..av a.~N ~~~~~~~~conni.~o. e.e ~mi. ~d ~~ ~m ~.~ 3)2.33 360.6) 31J.m 289.33 3fi1.6J Z%.0p

GrUfln: Laura Grlffln Tristee of the FamIN OYPass
Trirst

_ 1,1]OAO I,SIOAO 1,1]0.00 1,OB6.33 1,OD'!.6] 919.W 835.33 751.67 6W.Op

H &NDevelopment Co. West lnc. - 1,]99.]5 1,]99]5 1, 9,]5 1,634.46 3,469.1] 1,30388 1,13858 9]3.29 808.00

HeaN~~~~a Healy and Healy Enlerprisn lnc ]fI0A0 'lOO.m JOO.W 'lW.00 ]00.00 ]!10.00 ]00.00 ]00.00 ]00.00

Nyle: Trustees of [he Nyle Hewcable Living Trvst - 9,])5.00 9,2]5.00 9,2]5.00 8,340.93 ],J06.fi) fi3O]1.50 5,53933 9,fiO4.1) 3,6]0.00

Iand Vro~ecb Mul~alWater Company 6]1.50 622.50 612.50 621.01 619.51 618.03 61653 615.03 61951

landale Mutual Water Company - 157.]5 15).]5 15).)5 15).39 15) 01 156.66 156.30 155 93 155.5]

~~1~ ~

R WMlleldlry
CampuiY. LIG
poparty~Je:
)3EM ni~3016~

/JruDl~naY~~p»M.h+.~aP~k 1190
ul.emmwwrlusullm+4

200000
1,510.00 1,520.00

600.W b00.W fi00.W fi00.00 fi00.W fi00.00

gp~MwRh F5laM Xddlrs Cempnry, LLC:
136.M AF ZO]H

]89.61 658.81 528.]7 39].63 161.03 136.4L

P~dmt merger, 132.56 /~F ~2011~ gBO.W 480.00 x38.]6 A].57 356.78 315.06 1]3.80 232.56

lands of Promse MNual Water Company - 6a 61 61.61 64.61 5].46 50.30 43.15 36.00 28.84 21.fi9

TOGO GROUNDWATER
Vage 1012 Watermaster Engineer



Table A-2 Exhibit 4 Overlying Producers Rampdown Schedule

Dr~~4d [dllfti Mfad4ti 'h aMleNVu
hwkhmr~awn

.f617

MnMk..n tv~.b ~~t) ~Prod~cnon

~rM~Ihq
'radunl~n~~F/l Jatc Nu tOfb M,!~ 909$ 2017

Iane Family Tracts ~ 1,402A0 1,402A0 I,COlAO 1,19].1) 1,19133 1,08]50 98T.6) 8]J.83 773L0

LeClair: Marie A. Unini and Pobert 1. LeClair - 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

L~er:lamrs M.leer, III and Diane leer ~ 1.OD 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.OD 1.00 1.OD 1.00 lA0

Littlerocknggregate Co., Inc, Holl'idry Xock Co., lnc. - GO5,00 x05.00 CO5.00 3626] 330.33 3)800 1356] 193.33 153A0

Llano Del Pb Walx [ompmy ~ 5)].65 572.65 5)2.6 523.]1 aia.n 0]5.63 316.88 31].90 2]9.00

liana Mu~ualWner Company - 0.00 0.00 0.00 O.W 0.00 0.0~ O.W 0.00 0.00

Maritmew: Trunees of the Marnorena Living Trust - 3,800.55 3,8(1055 3,80055 3,06]96 3,1253] 278].]8 3,CSO.1B 3,11259 1,T/5.00

MCWiIllams: 0enn'S M.and Diane K. McWilliams - 1.00 1.00 1.0~ 1.00 100 1.W 1.00 1.00 1.00

MNer: Plchard Minr - L089A0 1,089.00 3,089.00 1,0]933 1,0593] 1.01420 1,029.13 Spl<A] 999.00

M4acIe lmOrovement Corparrtian dba Golden

Sands Mobile Home Fark/Irailer Park
New Goldemeedslnveslment; Property sale X2016) 45.90 45.90 <SAO 9].33 39.2) 3fi.20 33.13 30.0) 27.00

Muv: 2010 Pevwble Trutt, Terry A. & NalMeen M.

Muni
5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 S.W 5.00 5.00 5.00

Nebeker Eugene B. Nebeker - 0,016.00 x,01600 9,01600 3,602.50 3,1fi9.00 1,895.50 2,512.00 2,1J8.50 1,))5.00

NMhrap Grumman 5ys~ems fnryoralon - ].00 ].00 ].W 2.W 2.OD 3.00 ].00 1.00 200

NR65oUr Flpine, LlC - 64]1 6C 11 60.11 59.80 55.<J 51.11 Ofi.)4 41,3] 38.00

P andM Ranch, lnc. - L<SBDO 1.058.00 1,A58.00 1,32933 1,300.67 1,0]2A0 9C3.it 814.6] 6!6.00

Pe~a:lohn and Adrienne Pe[a - 501.45 501.45 501.45 l59.I1 41].97 3)6.]3 330 i8 ]92.]0 351.00

0.lchter.5u=anna 1. Nlchler - 1~W 1.00 1.00 l.m 1.W 1.00 1.W 1.OD L00

Posamond High School - 586.00 SB6.40 586 i0 5]].3] 459.34 394.32 330.29 366.]6 202.]3

Nosamond RancM1 FS Lind HoMlRCompnry. LlC. propenysale (HISS) 598.W 59&00 598.00 598.00 598.W 598.00 598.00 59B.W 59!.00

floSe Villa Apartments - 21.72 23.J] ]E.J] ]0.10 lJ.fi9 15.1] 12.65 10.10 ].62

Sahna Nunmy arb Farm ~ 32.18 R.38 R.1B ]215 1112 ]lA9 R-06 73A3 32.00

Saln~Pndrew's Abbey, lnc - 1]5.00 IJ5.00 1)5.00 162.83 150.67 138.50 136.33 11E.1J 103.00

S~hIIIlry~lwvrm~e 1. and Mary 7.5chI111ng Trustem

of the l6M 5ch114n 1992 Faml Tr~rst
_ y.W 4A0 a0D 0.00 a.Op 4.00 0.00 <.00 4.00

Selak:lilia Mabel Selak; Barbara Aznarex decd irusi

anE Mabel Selak Truss

IRe~eredlAF(rom Siebert duly i018~~5ee 51ebert far tM1's
~epoNi~B_ 150.00 150.00 SSO.m 150.00 150.00 150.00 150.00 150.00 150.00

SeMca Roh VraEUR~, LV. ~ 503.W 503.W 503.00 063.6] A3<.33 395.OD 345.6] 306.31 28]AO

SGSAntelape Valley Development, LLC 57.00 5).00 57.00 5].00 5]00 5J.00 5].00 5]00 5].00

Shdaw R~ra~MutualWmerWmpany - 53.60 51.60 52.60 52.06 5]31 51.1] 5]A3 51-08 SL74

Sheep Creek water Comoany - 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 o.W 0.00 0.00 om 0.00

Slebart:Idlray end Nancn AebeM1

P~ma1nM/Hebert Rlphu aflerlAFtnmlerredm 5elak duty ID]B) ]00.00
100.00 ]W.00

18333 16].61 15].OD 13G33 120.61 1O5D0

Tram/emMlRF to 5eb4~luly 101B~ 1.m I.m 1.W 1.00 1.00 1.00 L00

Sonrise 0.ancF, llC - 663.00 W200 fi6200 551.6] 441.33 331.00 210.6) 110.33 0.00

So~them Callforn~a Edison [ompu~y - 17.15 1).75 1].15 16.13 14.50 1]PB 11.15 9.6i 0.00

Sandals Mu[ua Water Company ~ 4]1.13 L13.23 4)1.]3 4)2.23 EJl.l3 <)1.33 913.23 4)1.33 1]].23

SunnplEe Farms Mulwl Watar ComOany, Inc. - 75.40 ]SAO ]S.CO ]521 ]SA7 ]083 ]0.69 79.05 ]x.36

Tejon Pan[hcorp and Telon Ranch Co. ~ 3,030.00 3,010.00 3,414.00 3,11].33 1,910.6] 2,52400 ],]3].33 1,9306] 1,634.00

Tierra Bonka Mutual Water [ompairy 40.]5 b.]5 00.75 C0.6B COb1 i0.54 10.06 00.39 /p.92

Tierra Bonita Ranh - 50500 505.00 505.00 992.50 G80.W x6).50 455.¢] 941.50 G30.00

TrIpleM Vroparry Co. - 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 SS.W IS.OD 15.W 15,W 15.00

Turk Trusi deed December 16, 1999 - 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 SOD 1.00 1W 1.00 1.00

Van Oam: Ualg Van Dam, Marta Van Dam, Nlck Van

Dam.lenn Van Oam

~~^Dam:CMt~nd Merb: 610~FY x]018)
1.03]DO 1,03]AO L037D0

9'!5.33 862.26 799.19 ]3G13 6]3.Ofi 610.OD

Vin O~m, Nld ~~k leM1: A'  AFY X1018) AS.51 <]A1 3931 36,70 33.10 30.00

Van Dam Family Trust~1996; High Desert Dairy - 9,931.50 9,931.50 9,931.50 8,912.09 ],69].6] 6,5)3]5 5,453.93 0,330.01 3,215.00

Vuk~n MNmlah fa,VWunI nkarc., ComoliN~eO
Park ProAu~b Cw, Glmat ta~,Ca., Nlled[mveteL

M~tn41~

~ 519.10 519.10 519.10 015.97 Yi1.13 389.55 3GG3] 303.18 260.00

WAGfiS land Company LLC - 98x,15 984.15 980.15 916.]9 BC9 a3 )92.06 )10.72 64].36 580.00

WOS UIifamWII, LLC - 2,39'!.00 3,39]AO 7.39].00 X190.6] 1,9Bi33 tne.ao 1,5]1.6] 1,36533 1,359.00

Weatherbie: Michael and Dolores A, Weatherbie - 1.00 100 1.W 1W 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.W 1.00

Wes15ke PaAMutuslWner Ca - 280.75 790.75 160.75 180.10 ]]9.15 7]B.fi1 3]8.16 1]).51 2]6)6

White Fence Farrt¢ Mutual Wager [o. - )83.05 )83.05 )83,05 )Bl.l3 )]9.01 ))7.59 ]]5.]] ]]3.95 7]2.13

NNIbm Fbher Memorbl WaMr Company 0.53 0.53 0.S! 9.53 <.53 0.53 0.53 4.53 6.53

Willow Springs Company: Richard Nelson - 180.65 180.65 180.65 1]3.00 165.43 15).83 150.21 102.61 135.00

Wlhan: Donna Wlbon ~ 10.00 10.00 10-00 9.50 9.00 8.50 BAO ].SU 7.00

. rwd SB5~14Gf6 IbC;6i:~ 104rt2W ri~9e4.3~ D~PI;.tl ~]1~1.0 ria>1.09 5{.1/,LL~ Wl1n

1. Erhih:c 4 0l the Judgment sows aPre-Hampdown Vroduttlon total of 105,11)U.OB AF due to th- inadvertent omn~~on N the tat [wo entries in the sum on izhibn a Ilionna wison and W imam rasher Memormi Jaa~er wmpany~. TM1e correcteE sum of 105,891.63 will be usetl going

forward.

TODD Gfl OUNDWATEfl
Paee 2 of 1 W a[ermasler Engineer



Appendix B

Water Accounting Tables

B-1. Exhibit 3Non-Overlying Producers Water Accounting

B-2. Exhibit 4 Overlying Producers Water Accounting

B-3. Other Parties (Non Exhibit 3 or Exhibit 4) Water

Accounting

B-4. New Production Water Accounting

2018 Annual Report TODD GROUNDWATER

Antelope Valley Watermaster Watermaster Engineer
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Table B-4 New Production Water Accounting
Includes all approved New Production Applications through May 2019

S~t71i3#
~~~~~~~

~I~W Pl"Oi~IIL'GX4#1 At~odue4lot~ D1~ 2~total Replacerne~tt

~t~a"~'kQ ~fT~'U1t~l~~ R IiC,~i30~1j#p . GrOuRdlVet~t
aside S~tsre ~+st~ter

VRliEles'
~̀ Antt'~IO!' NCR#~

ttt~

Alegre, Juan Carlos & Ceidy D.(March 2018) <1.0
None submitted co

Date°
Y25

Ambriz, Juan (December 2018) <1.0
None Submitted to

Yes -
Date°

Carmen Vela, Maria del (July 2018) <1.0
None Submitted to

Yes -
Date°

Castillo, Juan (March 2018) <1.0
None Submitted to

Date°
Yes

Collins, Raymond &Maryann (January 2019) ~2 ~ None submitted to
Date°

Yes -

Connelly, Myles (January 2019) <1.0
None Submitted to Unclear if in PWD

— Date° boundaries

Cooper, Ron (March 2018) <l.p
None Submitted to

Date
Yes -

Espinoza, Leticia (April 2019) <3.0
None submitted to

Date
Yes -

Fong, Alamo (April 2018) <1.0
None subm tted to

Date
Yes -

French, Christopher &Nancy (March 2018) DRY <1.0 Borehole was dry so applicant withdrew application

Jimenez Espana, David (tune 2018) <1.0
Nonesuhmittedto

Yes -
Date°

J uniper Hills Land Conservation Trust (May 2019) <1.0
None Submitted to Unclea~if in PWD

Date boundaries

Korn, Carrie (March 2018) DRY <1.0 Borehole was dry so applicant withdrew application

LA COSEPA (May 2018)' 14.16
None Submitted [o

Date
Yes -

Magana, Paul (March 2018) <1.0
None submitted co

Date
Yes -

Ming, Lin (April 2019) <1.0
None Submitted to

Yes -Date'

Ovespyan, Andrey (May 2019) <l.p
None Submitted to

Date°
Yes

Park, Young (August 2018) 3.0
None Submitted to Unclear if in PWD

Date° boundaries

Perez, Espiridion and Yvonne (March 2018) <1.0
None Submitted to

Date'
Yes -

Rodriguez, Erik (March 2019) <1.0
None submitted to

Yes -
Date

Trang, Sroy (May 2019) <1.0
None submitted to

Yes -Date'

Webster, Anthony (March 2018) <1.0
None submitted to

Yes -
Date

Witmeyer Trust (Randy Sharp) (March 2018) <1.0
None submitted to

Date
Yes

Zaghian, Roben (May 2019) 2.0-3.p
None Submitted to

Date
Y25

1. 2018 was the first year New Production was approved.

2. The 2018 Replacement Water Assessment (RWA) for wells within the boundaries of AVEK, PWD or LCID is $415. This rate will increase to
$451 in 2019. The RWA far wells outside these boundaries is 5948 for 2019.

3. Estimated production amount listed is water demand at full buildout of project.

4. Watermaster Administrative staff will reach out to these Parties in mid-2019 to confirm status of well installation and production. Below
is a summary of the status of some of the New Production wells as of April 30, 2019:

Ambriz—Well drilled by Vic's Drilling. Waitingfor final inspection by the county.

Castillo —Decided not to drill at this time.

Cooper— Unable to build his proposed house. Well drilled by Abundant and capped.

Esparaza —Well is drilled —will get meter installed.

Fong— Well is drilled and will install meter when electricity is connected.

La Cosepa —Drilled well -will get meter installed.

Webster— Decided not to drill a well.

Parks —Well is drilled. Waiting on County for final approval.

TODD GROUNDWATER
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Appendix C-1 Imported Water, 2018

i rt~er o~ State VF~at~r Prr3}~ct (S~P~ N~at~r 2~~8 #ag ed ~!~l~t'

{Af)

Antelope Valley-East Kern Water Agency (AVEK)1 49,629.16

Palmdale Water District (PWD) 10,210.00

Littlerock Creek Irrigation District (LCID) 0.00

7'~#ai Imparter# SiNfl Water SJ,8~9.1

AV M Use trf ~m~ort~zd Vllart~r~

dims jisd~~a~,~l rya)
143 .+8 ktt~t~rC~es~ ~A~a~r

{A~~

SWP Deliveries to Treatment Plants 28,497.87

SWP Deliveries of Untreated Ag/M&I 4,783.79

SWP Deliveries to High Desert Water Bank (Spread) 2,991.80

SWP Deliveries to Westside Water Bank (Spread) 12,559.00

SWP Deliveries to Eastside Water Bank (Spread) 778.00

Operational Losses 18.70

7ota1 ~i9,6.~Sr

t~WQ Use of im~a+~rt~d 1~~t er '~ ~~'d~ 1~fI :

4~)

SWP Entering Lake Palmdale for Customer Use 10,210.00
_ __ 

~'CI~LBi ~1r21Q:i~

1. AVEK imported a total of 51,318.10 AF in 2018 but 1,688.94 AF of this was delivered to
customers outside the Adjudicated Area.

TODD GROUNDWATER

Page 1 of 1 Watermaster Engineer



Appendix C-2 Imported Water Storage Changes in 2018

To#«rl Storms of fwd ~Vla►~~r A+cr~~eet
Antelope Valley-East Kern Water Agency (AVEK)

7bistiS+ItOaen#~Ie Stnred Watar et ertd of 2p~7 68,37~,7a

Amount Spread in 2018 16,328.80

Store e Loss Factor' 10%

Additional Amount of Water Stored in 2018 (after applying 30%loss factor)' 14,695.92

Amount Recovered for use inside Adjudicated Areal 7,z48.6~

Amount Recovered for use outside Adjudicated Area 674.16

Total Amount of Stored Water Recovered in 2018 7,922.83

Amount of Recovereble Stared Water for use inside Adjudicated Area3 65,337.83

Amount of Recoverable Stored Water for use outside Ad'udicated Area° 9,810.00

D~ f @ ~.~DYI'~ ~NBtEi' 7th 9.Ad tY~ ~Q~.$. - ~~r~:~':~

~O~ SLt~ti~g~ 1tTi~~~4f~~ 1NA~@~' AC~'~^~~~t

Willow Springs Water Bank

fi RecavRnrblr S~~I iArater ac anti of 7Af7 ~a~67~.

Amount Spread in 2018 0.00

Stora e Loss Factor'

Additional Amount of Water Stored in 2018 (after applying 10% loss factor)1
Amount Recovered for use inside Adjudicated Area 0.00

Amount Recovered for use outside Adjudicated Area 0.00

Total Amount of Stored water Recovered in 2018 0.00

Amount of Recovereble Stored Water for use inside Adjudicated Areas 18,610.10

Amount of Recoverable Stored Water for use outside Adjudicated Area 0.00

4f REC05r2fB~lt! Sttiti~d l~it~lT itlA'Id ~ 207.41 XL~~~

T~~ ~'C~ir ~f''~pr'1~t l~ai~t Acre-I'e~
Tejon Ranchcorp and Tejon Ranch Company

CtRt Reco a4lte Water ut end of 2617 29,SB6.

Amount Spread in 2018 17,330.00

Stora e Loss Factors 6%

Additional Amount of Water Stored in 2018 (after applying 6% loss fador~' 16,290.20

Amount Recovered for use inside Adjudicated Area 0.00

Amount Recovered for use outside Adjudicated Area 0.00

Total Amount of Stored Water Recovered in 2018 0.00

Amount of Recoverable Stored Water for use inside Adjudicated Areab
45,896.44

Amount of Recoverable Stored Water for use outside Ad'udicated Areab

Tv£7A cif Reuolrs►abl~ Stored Wat4r ibt end of 2018 45,84b.

Recoverable water is stored water that has had a loss factor already applied to it.
1. The storage loss factors have not yet been verified by the Watermaster Engineer.

2. This is the amount of imported water that AVEK recovered from storage to provide to customers in 2018. This is in
addition to the deliveries listed in Appendix C-1. It is the total 2018 imparted water AVEK delivered to customers (Appendix C
total - PWD imported water) minus the water delivered to treatment plants and ag/M&I (Appendix C-1).

3. Includes a small portion of annual recovered water that is provided to AVEK's two customers outside of the Adjudicated
Area. Actual amounts provided to these outside customers will be included in annual report in which the water was used.
For example, in 2018, 674.20 AF (9%) was provided to outside customers.
4. This is the amount of recoverable water that AVEK has stored for agencies outside of the Adjudicated Area.
5. A 0.39 AF adjustment was made to the original amount of recoverable stored water at the end of 2017 (18,609.71 AF) to
get the corrected number of 18,610.10 AF (Igbal, 2019).
6. Tejon stores imported water within the Adjudicated Area for use on land it owns that are both within and outside the
Adjudicated Area.

TODD GROUNDWATER
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Appendix E Replacement Obligations, 2018

30~.8'f~r~rue~~wwat-~r k~pl~cem~eat ~sx~R'

Proc~ttClan 5u~b~r~t tc~ fbr Er+t~tfi~s w}t#itn She
tenth+

a R~#~s~ttMp4t YiEBrt~' ~ ',t~s X41'
[~t~s

Ob4igation (A~} ~~+lia/!~

In 2019, Palm Ranch ID received aone-time

Palm Ranch Irrigation District 114.17 NA (see notes)
transfer of z,850 AF of which 114.17 AF will be
used as its Replacement Water Obligation for

2018 overproduction.

Littlerock Aggregate Co., Inc., Holliday
651.33 $270,301.95

Rock Co., Inc.

Antelope Valley Joint Union High
58.54 $24,294.10

School District

New Goldensands Investment

(Miracle Improvement Corporation
17.67 $7,333.05

dba Golden Sands Mobile Home

Park/Trailer Park)

Vulcan Materials Co., Vulcan Lands

I nc., Consolidated Rock Products Co.,
55.46 $23,015.90

Calmat Lands, Co., Allied Concrete &

Materials

Clan Keith Real Estate Investments,
18.51 $7,681.65

LLC dba Leisure Lake Mobile Estates

To Be Determined

(note that the Watermaster has not PPHCSD does not have Production Rights but

Phelan Pinon Hills CSD 385.18 yet established the 2018 RWA for can pump up to 1,200 AFY from Well #14 and

lands outside the SwP Contractor pay a Replacement Water Assessment

service areas).

In 2019, Long Valley Road received aone-time

Long Valley Road L.P. 322.69 NA (see notes)
transfer of 1,391 AF of which 322.69 AF will be
used as its Replacement Water Obligation for

2018 overproduction.

Other entities have potential Replacement Obligations and are in discussion with the Watermaster Attorney and include Small

Pumpers pumping more than 3 AFY and entities with no rights to produce.

Additional unidentified entities may also have Replacement Obligations and will be added to the table when identified.

TODD GROUNDWATER

Page 1 of 1 Watermaster Engineer
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F-1. Transfers, 2015 through May 2019

F-2. Amounts Transferred to Other Parties

(associated with temporary, one time

transfers), 2015 through May 2019
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Appendix F-1 Transfers, 2015 through May 2019

Parcels Water

'Ce#~plsror 7r+ros~ae typsRt Trs~slur
Am91Mt OrlRlnul Parcet(~) -

~'reM~@Grad to - 
?ype of Ri~kdc Vot5n6 P3~It;.

RaW(sreftte»n
(A~Y~ (kPPiU} ~ 7rar~Nrtd aftertr~rnfer

Bahlman: Gene Transfer in connection Exhibit4 ProduRion No Chang~Exhibil

Bahlman
Luis Hernandez

H,ith property sale
5 331Q003-019 same gi8h 4 Prlor to lone 2017 has perlune 20, 20171ette~)

Prior to December 15, 2015 (as per ORober 9, 20171etter~: Sold property

Benz: Mark W. and Transler In connection Eahibit4 Production No Change-ERhibll in 20156ut paid 2016 and 201]Administrative Assessments. Requested

Nancy L. Benz
Gloria Terrazas

with property sale
~ 3059-008-099 same

Righl 4 to have new property owners billed at 10640 Four Winds Haad, Juniper

Hills, CA 93543.

Wrdile: 5aland Connie Trans/er in mnneRion EMhibit4 Production NO Chang~Exhibit

Cardile
Noel Pool

with property sale
1 3059-01&126 same

Right Q ~~N zO15 has per December 28, 2016 email [o Watermas[er)

3307-017-902

3307-017-935
County Sanitation One time hans~er, February 2019 Transfer application.The District leased l,W9acres and

Dishic[ pIV of Las One time transfer (via
3307-007-936 3203-016-900

therefore will 2,850 AFY to Calandri via a 2017 Groundwater and Land Lease Agreement

Angeles County (via an
Palm Ranch Irrigation

nagreement with

a Calandri

2,850
3307-017-937 3203-032-902 Ezhibitq Production

amain an Exhibits ands subsequentamendmen[fo tha[agreemenL Under that agreement,

agreement with
Dlslrict

Farms)
3307-017-938 3204-012-902 Right

landowner voting Calandri is permitted[o hansfer the entire 2,850 AF in 2019, and 50

Calandrl Farms)
3307-017-941

3307-01]-9i8

3204-012-903
right percent o(it in subsequent yea rs, pending Watermaster approval,

3307-017-959

Transfer in connection
3256-006-901 (new LA

Will need fo remain
an Evhibi[ d

e5olar lnc.; Fed Oawn
Rosamond with Property sale.

County numbering-was
flC5D Service Area,

EMhibi[4 Production landownervoting

Sunlower LLC
Community Services ProduRion Right will 150

previously 3256-006-
speci/ically Well p9

Right right although
February 16, 2016 Purchase and Sale Agreement,

~istric[ be pumped from a
013) ~^ 375-113-19

t 
nnslemed to an

RC50 well Exhibit 3 Party

346-031-OB

346-031-10

346-W 3-Il

3376-032-001

3378-001-003 September 2], 201] Water Rights Grant Deed: Landinv, Inc. had 969 AFV

Transfer o(Productlon 3378-001-WG EvhibitG Produaian No Chango-Exhibi[ o/Overlying Production Rlghls. In 2016, 736.44 AF was hansterred ro FS
Diamond Farming

pigh[s Zl~ 3379001-005 Right 4 Land Holding Company-This FS Land Holding transfer to Diamond is fora

3378001-006 portion (217 AFB of those rights. Tranzler form signed luly 26, 2018.

33]8-002-002

3378-002-004

337&001-005

3386-014-005

346-031-OB

346-031-10

396-031-11

358-03603 3376-032-001

FS Holding Company 359-011-28 3370-001-003 September 27, 2017 Water Rights Grant Deed: Landim,Inc had 969 AFY

(originally Landinv Grimmway Transfer of Production 359-051-01 3378-001-004 Evhibit4 Production NO Chango-Exhibit of Overlying Production Rights. In 2016, 736.44 AF was transferred to FS

rights) Enterprises Rights
193

359-051-02 3378-001-005 Right 9 Land Holding Company. This FS Land Holding transfer to Grlmmway is(or

337&001-006 a portion (193 AF) of (hose rights. Transfer form signed July 16, 2018.

33]&002-002

33]&002-004

337&002-005

3386-014-005

346-031-OB

366-031-30

346-031-11

33]6-~32-001

33]&001-003 September 27, 2017 Water Rights Grant Deed: Landlnv, Inc. had 969 AFY

Transfer of Production 33]8-001-009 Exhibit s Production No Chang~Exhibit of Overlying Production Rights. In 7016, 736.04 AF was transferred to FS
Crystal Organic Farms

Rights 190 3378-001-005 Right 4 Land Holding Company. This FS Land Holding trans/er to Crystal Organic is

3378-001-006 far a portion (190 AF) of those rights-Transfer Porm signed luty 26, 2018.

337&00]-002

33]&001-004

337&002-005

3386-014-005

Godde. Forrest G.

Godde 1998 Trust
Steven F. Godde,

All Interests of Forrest

G. Godde 1998 Trust

Figh[[o

I mported 3205-001-084
Not applicable since lung B, 201] signed Assignment m Steven Forrest Godde, Pamela Marie

(has only Imported
Pamela M. Godde, ssigned to Steven,

aPamela,

Water 3205-001-084 3219-035-001
Imported Water only Imported Water

Godde, and Gary Matthias Godde.5teven, Pamela, and Gary Gadde have
Water Re[um Flow

Ga M. Godde
ry

and Ga 
ry

Return 374-302-04
Rehm Flow Right Pet[m Flours were

nnslerted om6ined Exhibit4 Production Hi h[.8rights-No Production
Gadde. Flows

Rights)

Transfer in connection

with property sale
July 21, 2016 &December 15, 2016 (as per January 19, 2037 letter:

FS Land Holding (subsequently 35&030.03
Landinv, Inc, has 969 AFY of Overlying Production Rights. Landlnv, Inc.

Company, LLC via transferred 600 AFY to
736.44

359-011-28
same

Ethibit4 ProduRion NO Chang~EMhibi[
transferretl a portion of its overlying production rights (136.44 AFV) from

North Posamond Grimmway, Diamond, 359-051-01 Right 4
four parcelsto North Posamond Solar on Juty 21, 2016.On December l5,

Landinv, Inc Solar Crystal-see separate 359-051-02
2016 North Posamond Solar deeded rights Io FS Land Holding Company.

entry for FS Land

Molding Company)

Transfer in connection 3201-003-005 July 30, 2017 (as per February 6, 20181et[er~: Landinv, Inc. merged into
RAOCAST N,ithammpany 232.56 3201-003-006 same

EKhibit4 Production No Chang~Ezhibit
RADUST investments. The remaining rights are 969-736,94=132.56

Investments, Inc
erger 3201-004-00]

Right 4
qFY.

Mirada Improvement
Oeumbar 201fi has per January 30, 2018 letrer~: Gesham Savage sent

Corporation dba
New Goldensands Transfer in connection Enhibi[4 Production NO Change-Exhibit AVWMaletter requesting to intervene ass Partyroche Judgment and

Golden Sands Mobile
Investment, LLC with property sale

Z~ 3154-002-024 same
gighl 4 ecognixe [he hansler of Overlying Produ Rion Rights. ~Transter form

Home Park dba Golden
dated 7/10/18).

Sands Trailer Pa rk

30]5-007-001

3075-007-002 Exhibil4to Small

Nebeker: Gene Long Valley Road ~.p,
~^e [imelranster of

1,391
3260.010.108

3075-007-003 Exhibi[4 Carry Over Pumper (or
Carry Over Water 3260.010.109

30]5-007-009 Replacement Water

3075-007-010

TODD GFOUNDWATER
Page 1 at 2 Wa[ermaster Engineer



Appendix F-1 Transfers, 2015 through May 2019

Parce4SlNater

'!}~
AnMu~t QYf8111pIPMOBIIi) T~µtE ~I R~yh4 VK1~R161Ft5

ttuudllo[~
Ttansl~ran of T ar

jAfY) IliPkb)
1TamtOK~d tv

Tra~9fefe¢d #ftsr TrnMsiRr
Oa3~/Cumrtients

~~~

359-031-02
October 15, 2015 8 Febrvary 7, 201] has per March 14, 201] letter):

FS Land Holding
359-031-03

Rosamond flanch has 598 AFY Production Ri hts. Rosamond Ranch8

Posamond pooch Company, LLCvia
Transfer in connection

598

359-031-04
same

Exhibit4 Production No Change-Exhibit
transferred all Production Rights[o Willow Springs Solar, LLC Grant Deed

Willow Springs Solar
µ,ilh property sale 359-031-05

gigh a

dated SO/IS/I5) who then deeded ProduRion Rights to FS Land Holding
359-031-06

Company, LLC on 2/]/17.
359-052-02

3256-01&001

Siebert: Jetlrey and Selak.5reven and Transfer afaportion of 3256-01 &OOSm-012 Buying as Eshibit4 ProduRion No Chang~Exhibi[

Nancee Siebert Christine 5elak their Production Rights 1 3256-00&005 investment Right y Transfer form dated 4/23/18.

3256-00&009

322Q006-006 3226006-006

322P006-097 3220.W6-09]

Van Dam:Craig Van Craig and Marla Van
610 3224006-098 3216006-099 E~hibit4 ProduRian Na Chang~Exhibll

As of luly 1,2018 (as per Transler form signed 6/4/18
Dam, Marta Van Dam, Dam Spli[up Produttion

322P006-099 3384-001-~O1 Right 4

Nick Van dam, lane[
Rights X640 AF rotal~

3216006-100 3384-001-002

Van Dam 3384-001-001 3384-001-003

Nick and Janet Van 3220.006-098 Exhibit4 Production No Change-Exhibit3384-001-002

Dam 30 3384-001-003 322U006-100 Right y As o! July 1, 2018 (as per Transfer form signed 6/4/18)

3220-006-097 3005-004-081
Van Dam: Craig and Antelope Valley One timetrans(er of 4~ 3384-001-001 3005-003-026 [o- Exhiblt4 Carry Over

Not applicable sinre

Marta Van Dam Country Club Carry Over Water
3384-OD1-003 029

on~[ime[rans(er

359-331-24

359-321-01

359-175-01

359-17432

WDS CaIlfomia ll, LLC
Palmdale Water One timetransfer of

100 359-041-30 PWDservice area
ExhiEitG ProduRlon Not applicable since

5°P~ember 11, 2019 Transfer Request Water to be used in 2038.
pis[riR Carry Over Water

359-641-27
Right on~timelransler

359-011-OS

359-011-OS

261-194-45

TODD GROUNDWATER
Page 2 0l 2 W atermasrer Engineer



Appendix F-2 Amounts Transferred to Other Parties (associated with

temporary, one time transfers), 2015 through May 2019

ourrfi
T~'t~` Tra~~f~re~ 'TYi~ dfi Tra~s~rr [3aie A~aprt~ved

(~FY}

County Sanitation
One time transfer of

District #14 of Los
Palm Ranch Irrigation Production Rights (via

Angeles County (via an
District an agreement with

2,850 March 2019

agreement with
Calandri Farms)

Calandri Farms)

One time transfer of
Nebeker: Gene Long Valley Road L.P. 1,391 May 2019

Carry Over Water

Van Dam: Craig and Antelope Valley One time transfer of
400 April 2019

Marta Van Dam Country Club Carry Over Water

WDS California II, LLC
Palmdale Water One time transfer of

100 December 2018
District Carry Over Water

This table is a repeat of the temporary, one time transfers listed in Appendix F-1 and is included here to assist with water

accounting. See Table F-1 for additional information on these transfers.

TODD GROUNDWATER

Page 1 of 1 Watermaster Engineer



Appendix G
Storage Agreements

~No storage agreements have been completed yet]

2018 Annual Report TODD GROUNDWATER

Antelope Valley Watermaster Watermaster Engineer



Appendix H

Approved Well Applications and Small Pumper

Qualifying Documentation

2018 Annual Report TODD GROUNDWATER

Antelope Valley Watermaster Watermaster Engineer
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Appendix I Metering Requirements

GROUNDWATER

September 27, 2017

FINAL MEMORANDUM

To: Antelope Valley Watermaster

From: Chad Taylor, PG, CHG and Phyllis Stanin, PG, CHG

Todd Groundwater, Watermaster Engineer

Re: Recommendations for Meter Requirements

Antelope Valley Watermaster Rules and Regulations

According to the Final Judgment for the Antelope Valley Groundwater Cases, the

Watermaster Engineer is mandated to propose requirements for devices and methods for

measuring groundwater production (herein, "meters"). These requirements are to be

approved and adopted by the Watermaster into its rules and regulations and submitted to

the Court for approval. Meters are required to be installed on all production wells (except

for the Small Pumper Class wells) by December 23, 2017. The goal of the metering is to

provide accurate reporting of the amount of groundwater produced from the basin.

To ensure that these requirements are workable for the Producers in the Antelope Valley,

we discussed preliminary and draft meter requirements with the Advisory Committee on

May 31 and July 19, 2017. We have also consulted the Advisory Committee's technical

advisor, Larry Rottman, to better understand local well conditions. We have incorporated

comments received during Advisory Committee meetings, as well as numerous verbal and

email comments from various parties to the Judgment. In addition, we have considered

state and federal standards, as well as manufacturer specifications, for meter installation

and operation.

The final draft requirements were presented to the Advisory Committee on August 16, 2017.

Additional comments and requests for revisions were made at that meeting; these requests

have been considered and incorporated into this final memorandum. The Advisory

Committee unanimously approved the final draft on September 21, 2017.

The final draft meter requirements were posted to the Watermaster website on August 25,

2017 to coincide with a 30-day notice of a public hearing at the September 27, 2017

Watermaster Board Meeting. At the hearing, the Watermaster Engineer discussed the

development of the requirements, along with final edits. After considering comments at the

public hearing and approving the final edits, the Board adopted Resolution R-17-07, which

approved the revised meter requirements on September 27, 2017. Given the impending

deadline, and noting that rules and regulations must be approved by the Court, we

recognize the urgency for Board and Court approval of these requirements.

2490 Mariner Square Loop, Suite 215 I Alameda, CA 94501 1 510 747 6920 I toddgroundwater.com



ARTICLE 1 —MONITORING

1.1 Production Monitoring

By December 23, 2017, all parties other than the Small Pumper Class shall install meters on

their wells for monitoring production and submit proof thereof to the Watermaster (¶8.1 of

the Judgment). Each party shall bear the cost of installing its meters) (¶8.1). The

Watermaster Engineer shall propose, and the Watermaster shall adopt and maintain, rules

and regulations regarding determination of Production amounts and installation of

individual water meters (¶18.5.5). The rules and regulations shall set forth approved devices

or methods to measure or estimate Production (¶18.5.5). Producers who meter Production

on the date of entry of this Judgment shall continue to meter Production (¶18.5.5).

Meter installations are also required for any member of the Non-Pumper Class who has

complied with the New Production Application Procedure specified in ¶18.5.13 of the

Judgment. Producing Non-Pumper Class members shall report production to the

Watermaster, and prior to the commencement of production, shall install a meter

consistent with the requirement of these Rules and Regulations (¶9.2.2).

All references to annual or quarterly reports herein are based on a calendar year (January 1

through December 31).

1.2 Approved Meter Installer and Tester

Meters shall be installed, tested, or repaired by pre-qualified persons, firms, or corporations

shown to be qualified for installing, repairing and/or testing water measuring devices. Such

persons, firms, or corporations must submit their qualifications to the Watermaster

Engineer for approval and inclusion on the Pre-Qualified Meter Installer list maintained by

the Watermaster. The list will include the name, address, and telephone number of all

Watermaster-approved meter installers and testers. Persons, firms, or corporations will only

be approved for installing and or testing the types) of meters for which they can

demonstrate experience to the Watermaster Engineer. Persons, firms, or corporations may

also be approved for field calibration of meters after demonstrating sufficient experience

and expertise.

All approved persons, firms, or corporations will be instructed in the expectations for meter

selection, installation, and documentation and testing. For meter testing, the Watermaster

Engineer shall either instruct approved testers on appropriate testing tools and techniques

or coordinate with approved testers to confirm that their standard approach is satisfactory

to the Watermaster Engineer. The Watermaster shall provide forms to submit

documentation of meter installation and testing.

The Watermaster shall make the list of approved persons, firms, and corporations available

at the office of Watermaster and on the Watermaster's website.

September 27, 2017
Final Well Meter Requirements / TODD GROUNDWATER
Antelope Valley Watermaster 2 WATERMASTER ENGINEER



1.3 Acceptable Meter Types

Each water production well of all parties other than the Small Pumper Class shall be

equipped with a meter. Acceptable meters shall be of the singlejet, multijet, turbine,

propeller, venturi, electromagnetic, or transit-time ultrasonic type as described in American

Water Works Association (AWWA) standards M6 and M33. Other types of meter or

variations on the types listed above may be considered if specifically requested in writing to

the Watermaster Engineer prior to installation. Requests for meter type variances shall

include documentation of meter specifications from the manufacturer, including installation

requirements.

All meters shall be equipped with totalizers sufficient to capture at least five months of

anticipated production volume. All meters shall be new or factory refurbished and

calibrated within a year prior to installation. All meter installations must be documented to

the satisfaction of the Watermaster Engineer, as described below in Section 1.6.

1.4 Meter Selection

All meters shall be appropriate for the individual application. Meter selection should

consider size, range, accuracy, error, maintenance, and longevity and other factors

described in AWWA M6 and M33 and all other applicable AWWA standardsl. At a minimum:

• Each meter must be appropriately sized for the production rate and discharge piping

of the well.

• Each meter must have a measurement range that matches the expected range of

production rates from the well on which it is to be installed.

• The error in the reading of each meter shall be no greater than two (2) percent of

rate or full scale, whichever is less.

It shall be the responsibility of each party to work with their selected approved meter

installer to ensure selection of appropriate meters. Selected meters shall be of one of the

types described in Section 1.3. If a party wishes to employ an alternative meter type, they

must submit a request for a variance to the Watermaster Engineer as described in Section

1.3.

Some parties may choose to employ more than one meter for a single well as backup or

secondary meters for use during regular meter maintenance or recalibration. This is

acceptable so long as the meters are of the same type, manufacture, and model.

1 Different AWWA standards are developed for specific meter types; please refer to all standards
regarding the specific meter being used. A list of potentially applicable AWWA standards is provided
at the end of these requirements.
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1.5 Meter Installation

Meters must be installed in strict adherence to all applicable manufacturer

recommendations, AWWA standards, and industry norms regarding the proper installation

of flowmeters in closed piping systems.

Meters have limitations related to piping configurations; upstream and downstream pipe

diameter and length are important considerations. Meters are calibrated with a uniform

velocity profile distribution such as the one produced by a long length of undisturbed

upstream and downstream conditions.

Each meter type measures a specific parameter (e.g., number of revolutions of a propeller

or pressure differential) —referred to in AWWA standards as the "influenced parameter" —

that is converted into a flow rate. A mathematical relationship between the influenced

parameter and flow is fixed based on a certain factor or function derived from calibration

test data. This mathematical relationship dictates the accuracy of the flowmeter. A skewed

or distorted velocity profile will cause the influenced parameter to become less stable and

the calibration factor or function to become either partially or fully inapplicable; this

increases the flowmeter's error, often in a considerable and unpredictable manner.

Therefore, meters should not be placed in close proximity to a bend, valve, or other fitting

that is likely to disturb the velocity profile at the meter. Such disturbances are magnified if

the bends or fittings are out of plane in such a manner as to cause a swirl or crossflow.

The industry standard minimum is straight pipe upstream of the meter that is 10 pipe

diameters in length and straight pipe downstream of the meter that is 5 pipe diameters in

length; the straight pipe shall have no valves, angled or reducing/enlarging fittings, or other

obstructions. Meters shall be installed to meet both manufacturers recommendations and

this industry standard. If the manufacturers recommendations for installation are less

stringent than this industry standard, the party and the approved installer shall request a

variance from the Watermaster Engineer prior to installation of any such meter. Requests

for variances are discussed below.

The Watermaster Engineer may consider a variance to these specifications if it can be

demonstrated that accurate readings will be achieved. If it is unfeasible to achieve the

standard or manufacturer recommended straight pipe intervals before and after a meter,

flow straighteners or flow conditioners may be used with prior approval from the

Watermaster Engineer. To apply for a variance to use a flow straightener, flow conditioner,

or manufacturers recommendations that are less stringent than the industry standard, the

party or the approved installer must submit a request to the Watermaster Engineer.

Requests for variances to allow flow conditioners, flow straighteners, or less stringent

installation standards shall be made in writing and shall include details regarding the reason

the variance is required, the manufacturer of the proposed meter and/or flow

conditioner/straightener, and the proposed installation specifics. The Watermaster Engineer

will review and evaluate such requests for variances and no flow conditioners, flow

straighteners, or less stringent installation standards shall be employed without written

approval from the Watermaster Engineer.
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All new or existing meters shall be calibrated prior to first use. Calibration may be

performed by the manufacturer (factory calibration) or in the field, as appropriate for the

type of meter. A record of calibration shall be submitted to the Watermaster Engineer in

accordance with the documentation requirements in Section 1.6.

All existing, new, or replacement meter installations shall be documented in accordance

with Section 1.6. In addition, any changes to the pump or equipment of a metered well must

be reported to the Watermaster Engineer within 30 days in accordance with requirements

in Section 1.6. Meter details and configurations do not need to be re-documented if the

meter is not being replaced.

Some parties may choose to employ more than one meter for a single well as backup or

secondary meters for use during regular meter maintenance or recalibration. This is

acceptable so long as each meter is documented individually.

1.6 Documentation and Records

Each existing, new, or replacement meter must be documented and recorded with the

Watermaster Engineer. Documentation shall consist of all pertinent details regarding each

meter, records of calibration, specifics regarding installation, and initial meter readings. The

following specific documentation will be provided to the Watermaster Engineer:

Production rate or range of production rates for well as currently equipped.

Identification (name or number) of well and map showing location of well with

sufficient detail to allow the Watermaster Engineer to locate the well.

Manufacturers specifications exactly matching the make and model of the installed

meter. These specifications shall include:

a. Manufacturer name

b. Meter type

c. Manufacturer model number

d. Meter number

e. Meter accuracy

f. Meter flow range

4. Date of manufacture or date of original purchase of the meter.

5. Proof of most-recent meter calibration from the manufacturer or an approved

meter installer with qualifying expertise.

6. Manufacturer's requirements or recommendations for installation of meters. At a

minimum, this shall include the specifications for flow conditions leading to and

from the meter.

7. As built drawings (computer generated or hand drawn) showing relative locations of

wellhead, meter, and all flow restrictions (e.g., valves, elbows, reducers, etc.) and

dimensions (lengths and diameters) of all pipes, fittings, valves, and meters.

8. Volumetric units of the totalizer.

9. At least one photograph showing the installed meter and associated piping from the

wellhead.

10. At least one readable photograph showing the installed meter totalizer face.
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The Watermaster Engineer shall review and assess the completeness of each

documentation submittal. Upon establishing that meter documentation is complete, the

Watermaster Engineer will assign each installed meter a unique identifying number in our

database for internal tracking. The unique meter number from the manufacturer will also be

recorded in the database for communications with the meter owner. The unique number on

the meter will be used to refer to the meter for reporting production, recalibration, or

maintenance. The Watermaster Engineer shall maintain the documentation records for each

installed meter and shall use these records for cross-checking production reports and

tracking compliance with the Judgement.

Any time the pumping equipment or plumbing within 10 pipe diameters upstream and 5

pipe diameters downstream of the meter at the well associated with a documented meter is

changed, the responsible party will resubmit documentation identifying all changes to the

Watermaster Engineer within 30 days.

1.7 Regular Meter Testing and/or Calibration

All meters shall be maintained to meet or exceed the accuracy requirements indicated in

Section 1.4. Each meter shall either be tested or calibrated regularly to ensure that it meets

measurement error and accuracy requirements of these Rules and Regulations. All meters

associated with parties that produce over 10 acre-feet per year (AFY) on aggregate shall be

tested at least once per calendar year or calibrated at least every three (3) calendar years.

All meters associated with parties that produce up to and including 10 AFY shall be tested at

least once every two (2) calendar years or calibrated at least every five (5) calendar years. It

shall be the responsibility of each party to ensure that each of their meters are either tested

or calibrated in accordance with this schedule. Meters need not be calibrated so long as

annual testing demonstrates that they are within the accuracy requirements in Section 1.4.

Meter testing shall be conducted by an approved meter tester (as described in Section 1.2)

employing tools and techniques pre-approved by the Watermaster Engineer. Responsibility

for coordination and costs of meter testing shall be borne by each party that owns the well

meter. Meter testing shall be reported to the Watermaster Engineer using Watermaster-

supplied forms within 10 days of each test. If the results of any testing event indicate that

any meter is operating outside of the accuracy range indicated in Section 1.4, the party shall

have the meter repaired or calibrated within 30 days of the date of the test report. If the

meter is repaired or replaced, see additional requirements in Section 1.8. For each

calibration resulting from a failed meter test, the party shall submit documentation of

calibration to the Watermaster Engineer. This documentation shall include identification of

the individual or organization that performed the meter calibration. Calibration and

documentation of calibration shall conform to the requirements identified in Section 1.6.

If a party chooses to forgo meter testing for any or all of their meters, then the party shall

calibrate each meter every three (3) calendar years for parties that produce more than 10

AFY on aggregate or every five (5) calendar years for parties that produce up to and

including 10 AFY on aggregate. More frequent meter calibration shall be required if

recommended by the manufacturer for the meter type and application. Calibration will be
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performed according to the meter manufacturer recommendations by either the
manufacturer or pre-qualified meter installer. Following each calibration, the party shall

submit documentation of calibration, including the individual or entity performing the
calibration, to the Watermaster Engineer. Calibration and documentation of calibration shall
conform to the requirements identified in Section 1.6.

If a backup or secondary meter is installed during regular meter calibration, the date on
which the meters were switched, the ending totalizer reading for the outgoing meter, and
the beginning totalizer reading for the incoming meter must be recorded and submitted to
the Watermaster along with the next scheduled production report. If the backup meter is a
meter loaned from the manufacturer, it must bean in-kind meter as the one being replaced;
the loaned meter must also be documented with the Watermaster Engineer, including the

dates used to record production. Use of an over- or under-sized meter shall be avoided.

It is the responsibility of each party to ensure that all their meters have been appropriately

tested or calibrated in accordance with this section.

1.8 Repair or Replacement of Inaccurate Meters

Should a party discover that the meter which measures the water Production from the
party's well is measuring inaccurately, the party must notify the Watermaster Engineer
within 10 days of the problem, and have the meter repaired or replaced. Defective or
inaccurate meters shall be repaired or replaced within thirty (30) calendar days after
discovery of the problem. The tolerance standard for repairing each meter shall be to return
the meter to an error of not more than two (2) percent of the instantaneous rate reading.

U pon completion of such repair, said repaired meter shall be tested by any meter tester

authorized by the Watermaster Engineer. Results of such meter tests shall be furnished to

the Watermaster Engineer within ten (10) business days after testing.

If a backup or secondary meter is installed during meter repair oroff-site calibration, the
date on which the meters were switched and the ending and beginning totalizer readings for

each meter must be recorded and submitted to the Watermaster Engineer along with the
next scheduled production report. If the backup meter is a meter loaned from the
manufacturer, it must be an in-kind meter as the one being replaced; the loaned meter
must be documented with the Watermaster Engineer including the dates used to record
production. Use of an over- orunder-sized meter shall be avoided.

If defective or inaccurate meters are not repaired within the prescribed time limit, the
violator will be provided notification to appear before the Watermaster to discuss remedyz.
I n the event the violator and the Watermaster cannot reach a mutually agreeable solution
within forty-five (45) days thereafter, the Watermaster shall obtain the Court's permission

to allow the Watermaster Engineer or its representative to enter onto the violator's
property to repair or replace the defective or inaccurate meter. All costs incurred by the
Watermaster to repair or replace the defective or inaccurate meter, including the legal fees

z Information in this paragraph may be subject to legal review.

September 27, 2017
Final Well Meter Requirements / TODD GROUNDWATER
Antelope Valley Watermaster 7 WATERMASTER ENGINEER



and costs to obtain the Court's permission to enter the violator's property, shall be billed

and collected from the violator within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the Watermaster's

bill for such costs.

1.9 Estimation of Production Due to Lack of Accurate Meter Measurements

When Production must be estimated due to lack of accurate meter measurements for any

reason including a defective or inaccurate meter or a meter removed for off-site calibration,

and aback-up or secondary meter has not been used, the Watermaster Engineer must

approve the method of estimation. A copy of the estimate calculations shall be supplied to

the Watermaster Engineer.

1.10 Small Pumper Class Monitoring

The primary means for monitoring the Small Pumper Class Member groundwater use will be

based on physical inspection and other means by the Watermaster Engineer, including the

use of aerial photographs, land use maps, and/or satellite imagery. Should the Watermaster

Engineer develop a reasonable professional opinion that a Small Pumper Class Member

household is using more than 3 acre-feet per year, a meter may be required on the Small

Pumper Class Member wells at the Small Pumper Class Member's expense (¶5.1.3.2).

ARTICLE 2 —PRODUCTION REPORTS

Each party to the Judgment shall monitor and record production volumes from each of their

wells and report production volumes from each well to the Watermaster Engineer. Parties

that produce more than 10 AFY on aggregate shall monitor and record production volumes

monthly and report groundwater production volumes from each well to the Watermaster

Engineer quarterly. Parties that produce up to and including 10 AFY on aggregate shall

monitor and record production volumes at least quarterly and shall report these values to

the Watermaster Engineer quarterly; monthly monitoring and recording is preferred for all

parties. Production from each well can be listed on one Production Report form, provided

by the Watermaster. Administrative Staff will provide the report to the Watermaster

Engineer for review and recordation. Each report shall include:

• Identification of the Party

• County in which the property is located

• Well coordinates

• Assessor's Parcel Number (APN) of the parcel on which each well is located

• APN(s) for the parcels) on which the water is used for Overlying Production parties

(Exhibit 4), if not previously provided3

33 The Watermaster Engineer is compiling APNs applicable for each of the Overlying parties listed in
Exhibit 4 of the Judgment. If a party has not already supplied APNs to the Watermaster for parcels on
which produced groundwater will be used, those APNs are requested on this Production Report. For
Non-Overlying parties on Exhibit 3, produced water is assumed to be used within the respective
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• Unique meter number (see Section 1.6)

• Date and time for each meter reading

• Totalizer value and units for each meter reading

• A readable photograph of the totalizer readout corresponding to the last monthly

measurement collected each quarter.

Reports of monthly groundwater production for the previous quarter will be submitted to

the Watermaster Engineer electronically via email by the end of the first month of each

quarter. Reports shall therefore be due to the Watermaster Engineer no later than January

31, April 30, July 31, and October 31 for production in the previous quarter.

service area. If produced groundwater is used outside of the service areas of Exhibit 3 parties, or
outside of parcels owned by the reporting Exhibit 4 party, APNs of those areas are required.
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APPLICABLE AWWA STANDARDS:

AWWA C700-15 Cold-Water Meters Displacement Type, Metal Alloy Main Case
AWWA C701-15 Cold-Water Meters—Turbine Type, for Customer Service
AWWA C702-15 Cold Water Meters Compound Type
AWWA C704-15 Propeller-Type Meters for Waterworks Applications
AWWA C708-15 Cold-Water MetersMultijet Type
AWWA C712-15 Cold-Water Meters, Singlejet Type
AWWA C750-16 Transit-Time Flowmeters in Full Closed ConduitsM6 Water
Meters—Selection, Installation, Testing and Maintenance, Fifth Edition
M33 Flowmeters in Water Supply, Second Edition
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Appendix J Wastewater and Recycled Water, 2018
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Lancaster WRP 14,922 12,6011

Palmdale WRP 8,995 8,3971

P ~

'~t ttr+ent P9a~t kfFlu~trt
!i'a' I~ICil; `3 ~'$ ~Vr~~t1' ~1 P01'#i1S {A~)

Fi'c~W A~,

RCSDZ 1,280 0 1,280

Edward AFB-Main
412 333 79

Plantz

Edwards AFB-AFRLZ 33 0 33

1. All the effluent is recycled. Effluent totals may not match reuse amounts because of changes in storage, losses due to

evaporation, and metering differences.

2. Totals do not include potential losses but only the amounts sent to evaporation ponds and used for irrigation.

Data from: LACSD email received 4/4/19

RCSD data from email received 3/25/19

EAFB data from email received 3/14/19
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K-1. Financial Budget, 2018

ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES -PROPRIETARY FUND TYPE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

ORIGINAL FINAL 2018 OVER/(UNDER)

BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

OPERATING REVENUES

Production Rights $ 635,195 $ 635,195 $ 362,374 $ (272,821)

Variable Assessments - - 128,310 128,310

Application Fees 45,261 - 26,366 26,366

Total Operating Revenues 680,456 635,195 517,050 _ (144,511)

OPERATING EXPENSES

Contracted Administrative Services 49,000 49,000 48,742 (258)

WateiTnaster Engineer 304,648 304,648 439,968 135,320

Watermaster Special Contract 32,510 32,510 19,969 (12,541)

Information and Document 14,900 14,900 12,346 (2,554)

Legal &Professional Fees 275,000 275,000 258,212 (16,788)

Insurance Expenses 6,000 6,000 3,521 (2,479)

Postage and Printing 650 650 182 (468)

Dues &Subscriptions - - 205 205

Total Operating Expenses 682,708 682,708 783,145 100,437

Operating Income (Loss) (2,252) (47,513) (266,095) (244,948)

NON-OPERATING REVENUES -UNRESTRICTED

Imported Water Return Flow 78,000 78,000 180,364 102,364

Other Revenues - - 912 912

Total Non-Ope►•ating Rev - Unrest~•icted 78,000 78,000 181,276 103,276

NON-OPERATING REVENUES -RESTRICTED
Replacement Water Assessments - - 63,732 63,732
Water Transfer Request Fees - - 2,100 2,100

Total Non-Operating Rev -Restricted - - 65,832 65,832

Total Non-Operating Revenues 78,000 78,000 247,108 169,108

Non-Operating Income (Loss) 78,000 78,000 247,108 169,108

Increase (Decrease) in Net Position $ 75,748 $ 30,487 $ (18,987) $ (75,840)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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K-2. Proposed Administrative Budget, 2019

Exhibit "A"
Antelope Valley Watermaster

Administrative Budget CY 2019

BUDGET PROJECTED BUDGETED ACTUAL ACTUAL
Revenue 2019 2018 2018 2017 2016

1000 Non-Overlying Production Rights (Exhibit 3) 84,225 107,109 159,250 86,312 12,345
1100 Overlying Production Rights (Exhibit 4) 370,000 370,652 425,000 319,537 55,577
1300 Small Pumpers TBD Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
1500 State of California 1,035 2,992 1,035 1,035 -
1600 City of Lancaster 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,568 500
1650 Phelan Pinon Hill CSD 2,697 7,200 - -
1675 Supporting Landowner Parties 1,710 1,749 2,210 2,057 -
1700 Federal Reserve Water Right 8,000 1,094 8,000 8,000
1800 Unused Federal Reserve Water Right 25,500 - 30,000 -
1900 Imported Water Return Flows 90,000 179,621 78,000 - -
1950 Miscellaneous

Application Fees 25,000 20,900 1,500 1,500
Outstanding Assessments 12,443 - 43,761 (926)

1975 New Production Parties 130 - - -
1990 Excess/(Loss from Previous Year (74,451) (23,853) (69,682) 35,013

Total Revenue Plus Prior Year Excess / (Loss) 546,092 665,461 688,774 456,022 67,496

BUDGET PROJECTED BUDGETED ACTUAL ACTUAL
Expenses 2019 2018 2018 2017 2016

2000 Contracted Administrative Expenses

AVEK Interim Administrative StafF 35,000 20,000 10,954
PWD Interim Administrative Staff 10,000 8,187 4,400
Administrative Services - AVEK and PWD Proposal 108,901 45,000
Annual Financial Audit 4,000 7,000 4,000

2100 Postage and Printing

Postage and P.O. Box Rental 100 96 500 163 qg
Out.idc Printing and Supplies 15U 200 150 61 532200 Information and Document Management

Glotrans Document Management 14,400 14,400 14,400 14,400 2,000
Computer5oftware 150 120 500 294 28

2300 Membership and Insurance

ACWAAnnualMembership/Dues 400 375
D&0 Coverage 2,200 3,520 6,000 5,783 -

2400 Watermaster Legal Services

Legal Services -Board and Administrative Functions 255,000 265,000 275,000 52,466
2500 Watermaster Engineer

Watermaster Engineer -Per Approved 3-Yr. Contract 252,538 289,648 289,648 348,521
Watermaster Engineer -Amendment No. 1(2018 Scope) 98,653
Watermaster Engineer -Amendment No. 2 (2019 Scope) (111,412)
USGS Contract -Water Level Monitoring (25Y~ 16,225 15,900 15,000 15,000 -

2600 Watermaster Special Contract Services

Watermaster Engineer Recruitment Contract - - - 15,000 15,0002700 Watermaster Administrative Stabilization Fund - - 32,510

Total Administrative Expenses 542,752 739,912 682,708 479,875 32,483

Net Excess / (Loss) 3,340 (74,451) (23,853)

Notes: 1) 2016 Administrative Assessments = $1/AF on Production Right (Fixed)
2) 2017 Administrative Assessments = $S/AF on Pr6duttlob R{ght (Fl7ced) and $1/~ on Variable Production
3) 2018 Administrative As~ssments = $S/AF on Productl0~ Right and Variable Production
4) Proposed 2019 Administrtaive Assessments = $5/AF on Production Right and Variable Production

11/28/18



K-3. Financial Audit, 2018

ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES
PALMDALE, CALIFORNIA

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018

BURICEY COX EVANS &BRADFORD
Accountancy Corporation

1058 West Avenue M-14, Suite B
Palmdale, CA 93551
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BURKEY COX ,VANS &BRADFORD
ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

B oard o f Directors
Antelope Valley Watermaster

Palmdale, California

Report on the Financial Statements

SCOTT EVANS, CPA, CFP
LAURA A. BRADFORD, CPA
KENNETH S. EVANS, CPA, MBT
JENNIFER M. EVANS, CPA

JANEfTE HENRI9UE2, CPA
EMILV SCHOONMAKER, CPA
MAYANK MADHAVANI, CPA, MBA
HAROLD MANNING, CPA
SnaaH E. Cox, EA

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities of Antelope Valley

Watermaster (the Watermaster), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes to financial

statements, which collectively comprise the Watermaster's basic financial statements as listed in the table of

contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation,

and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are

fi•ee from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or en•or.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in

accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that

we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free fi~om

material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of flee risks of

material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or en~or. In making those risk assessments,

the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Wateimaster's preparation and fair presentation of the financial

statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and tl~e reasonableness of

significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial

statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit

opinion.

MEMBER: AMERICAN INSTITUTE AND CALIFORNIA SOCIETY OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS



BURKEY COX
EVANS 6z BRADFORD

ACCOUNTANCY COf7POFATION

Opinion

Antelope Valley Watennaster
Audited Financial Statements

December 31, 2018
Page 2

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the business-type activities of Antelope Valley Watermaster as of December 31, 2018, and the respective changes
in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in flee United States of America.

Other Matters

Required Supplementmyl~2fo~'mation

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion
and analysis and budgetary comparison information on pages 3 through 5 and page 14, respectively, be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial
reporting for placing the basic fipancial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses
to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

BURKEY COX EVANS &BRADFORD Palmdale, California
Accountancy Corporation 7uly 25, 2019
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ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

Statement of Net Position

Assets:

Current Assets
Total Assets

Liabilities:

Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net Position:

Unrestricted

Restricted

Total Net Position

Total Liabilities and Net Position

December• 31, December 31,

2018 2017 Change

$79,335 $126,243 ($46,908)

79,335 126,243 (46,908)

56,083 84,004 (27,921)

56,083 84,004 (27,921)

(42,580) 42,239 (84,819)

65,832 - 65,832

23,252 42,239 (18,987)

$79,335 $126,243 ($46,908)

Current assets consist of cash in bank and accounts receivable fi•om customers. Current liabilities consist of accounts
payable to suppliers. As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's
financial position. In the case of the Watermaster, assets exceeded liabilities by $23,252 and $42,239 as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

At the end of fiscal years 2018, the Wateimaster showed a positive balance in its unrestricted net position of $23,252

which maybe utilized in future years,

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Decembe►• 31, December• 31,
2018 2017 Change

Operations: '
Operating Revenues $517,050 $410,474 $106,576
Operating E~enses 783,145 405,339 377,806

Net Income (Loss) from Operations (266,095) 5,135 (271,230)

Non-Operating Revenues -Unrestricted:
Imported Water Return Flow 180,364 1,300 179,064
Other Revenues 912 - 912

Total Non-Operating Revenues -Unrestricted 181,276 1,300 179,976
Non-Operating Revenues -Restricted:

Replacement Water Assessments 63,732 - 63,732
Water Transfer Request Fees 2,100 - 2,100

Total Non-Operating Revenues -Restricted 65,832 - 65,832

Netlncome fromNon-Operations 247,108 1,300 245,808
Change In Net Position (18,987) 6,435 (25,422)
Net Position, Beginning of Year 42,239 35,804 6,435
Net Position, I~hd oi'Year $23,252 $42,239 ($18,987)
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ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position shows how the WateiYnastec's net position

changed during the years. In the case of tl~e Dish•ict, net position decreased by $18,987 for the year ended
December 31, 2018.
A closer examination of the sources of changes in net position reveals that:

The Watermaster's fiscal year 2018 operating revenues incc•eased by $106,576, and the operating expenses increased

by $377,806. The increase in operating revenues and operating expenses is primarily due to fiscal year 2016 being

the Watermaster's first year of operations. Operating revenues for fiscal year 2018 saw a full year of production

rights and variable assessments being paid to the Watermaster and the increase in operating expenses is primarily

due to fees paid to tl~e Watermaster Engineer.

Tl~e Watermaster's fiscal year 2018 non-operating revenues increased by $245,808. The increase in non-operating

revenues is primarily due to imported water return flow charges and replacement water assessments.

BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

Total operating revenues were $144,511 below budget projections for fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. The

lower than budgeted revenues is primarily due to the Watermaster receiving lower than anticipated overlying

production rights revenues.

Total operating expenses were $100,437 above budget p►•ojections for fiscal year ended Decembe►• 31, 2018. Of this
amount, $135,320 is related higher than anticipated Watermaster Engineer costs.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGET AND RATES

In fiscal year 2019, revenues are projected to increase by 6% to $546,092. This is primarily due to a projected
increase in administrative assessments on production from parties not listed in the Judgement.

Expenses are projected to decrease to $542,752. This is prima►•ily due to a projected $20,000 decrease in legal
services and a $148,000 decrease in Watermaster Engineer scope-of-work.

CONTACTING THE WATERMASTER'SFINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our customers, creditors, and other interested parties with a general
overview of the Watermaster's finances and to demonsh•ate the Watermastec's accountability for the money it
receives. If you have questions about this report or need additional information, contact the Watermaster's General
Manager at 6500 W. Avenue N, Palmdale, California 93551.
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ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER

STATEMENT Or NET POSITION

AS OT DECEMBER 31, 2018

ENTERPRISE FUND

ASSETS DECEMBER 31, 2018

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 3,047

Accounts Receivable 76,288

Total Current Assets 79,335

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 56,083

Total Cun•ent Liabilities 56,083

NET POSITION

Unrestricted (42,580)

Restricted 65,832

Total Net Position $ 23,252

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER

STATEMENT OT REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

I'OR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

ENTERPRISE FUND

DECEMBER 3 ] , 2018

OPERATING REVENUES

Fixed Production Rights $ 362,374

Variable Assessments 128,310

Application Fees 26,366

Total Operating Revenues 517,050

OPERATING EXPENSES

Contracted Administrative Services 48,742

Watermaster Engineer 439,968

Watermaster Special Contract 19,969

Information and Document 12,346

Legal &Professional Fees 258,212

Insurance Expenses 3,521

Postage and Printing 182

Dues &Subscriptions 205

Total Operating Expenses 783,145

Operating Income (Loss) (266,095)

NON-OPERATING REVENUES -UNRESTRICTED

Imported Water Return Flow 180,364

Other Revenues 912

Total Non-Operating Revenues -Unrestricted 181,276

NON-OPERATING REVENUES -RESTRICTED

Replacement Water Assessments 63,732

Water Transfer Request Fees 2,100

Total Non-Operating Revenues -Restricted 65,832

Non-Operating Income 247,108

Increase (Decrease) in Ne[ Position (18,987)

NET POSITION -BEGINNING OF YEAR 42,239

NET POSITION -END OF YEAR $ 23,252

The accompanying notes are an integral part of tl~e financial statements,
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ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

ENTERPRISE FUND

DECEMBER 31, 2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash Received from Customers $ 723,032

Cash Paid for Supplies to Suppliers 811,066

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities (88,034)

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (88,034)

Cash and Cash Equivalents -Beginning 91,081

Cash and Cash Equivalents -Ending $ 3,047

RECONCILIATION OI' OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

TO NET CASH PROVIDED (USED)

BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating Income (Loss) $ (18,987)

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash

Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:

Changes in Assets - (Increase)/Decrease in:

Accounts Receivable (41,126)

Changes in Liabilities -Increase/(Decrease) in:

Accounts Payable (27,921)

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities ~ (88,034)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 1 —SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Antelope Valley Watermaster (the Watermaster) financial statements have been prepared in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to governmental units.
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body of establishing
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more significant of the Watermaster's accounting
policies are described below.

A. Description of die Renoi~tine Entitv

The Watermaster was formed by the Antelope Valley Groundwater Cases Final Judgment Santa Clara Case No.
1-05-CV-449053 signed on December 23, 2015, to provide groundwater production within the Antelope Valley
Groundwater Basin. The judgment provides fora Watennaster Board comprising of two Landowner
Representatives and single Repc•esentatives fi•om the Antelope Valley —East Item Water Agency, Los Angeles
County Waterworks District No. 40 and the Public Water Suppliers. The Watermaster operates under an elected
Board ofDirectors-Manager form of government.

In evaluating how to define the Watermaster, for financial reporting proposes, management has considered all
potential component units. The decision to include a potential component unit in the reporting entity was made
by applying the criteria set foi~tli in GAAP. The basic —but not the only —criterion for including a potential
component unit within flee reporting entity is the governing body's ability to exercise oversight responsibility.
The most significant manifestation of this ability is financial interdependency. Other manifestations of the
ability to exercise oversight responsibility include, but are not limited to, the selection of governing authority,
the designation of management, the ability to significantly influence operations and accountability for fiscal
matters. Tlie other criterion used to evaluate potential component units for inclusion or exclusion from tl~e
reporting entity is the existence of special financing relationships, regardless of whether the Watermaster is able
to exercise oversight responsibilities. Based upon the application of these criteria the Watermaster has no
potential component units.

The Watermaster, foi• financial purposes, includes all funds relevant to the operations of the Watermaster. The
Board of Directors has governance responsibilities over all activities related to the Watermaster. The
Watermaster receives funding from local, county, state and federal government sources and must comply with
the requirements of these funding source entities. However, the Watermaster is not included in any other
governmental "reporting entity" as defined in Section 2100, Codification of Governmental Accounting and
Financial Reporting Standards, since board members are elected by the public and leave decision making
authority, the power to designate management, the responsibility to significantly influence operations and
primary accountability for fiscal matters.

The Watermaster is a reporting entity which consists of the Watermaster as the oversight unit. Oversight
responsibility is determined by such criteria as financial interdependency, selection of governing authority and
designation of management, budget control and ability to significantly influence operations.

B, Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

The Watermaster accounts for its operation in an enterprise fund using the economic resources measurement
focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned, and expenses are recorded
when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.
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ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 1 —SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

B. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation (Continued)

Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private

business enterprises, where the intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation)
of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily
tluough user charges, or where the governing body has decided periodic determination of revenues earned,
expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control,

accountability, or other purposes. Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated by water production

assessments, while ope►•ating expenses pertain to the furnishing of those services. Non-operating revenues and
expenses are those revenues and expenses generated that ace not directly associated with the normal business of
water services. Non-operating revenues mainly consist of program grants, tax revenues, investment income,
and miscellaneous inco►ne,

C. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

In accordance with the Judgment, the Watermaster shall prepare a proposed administrative budget for each
Year. The Watermaster shall hold a public hearing regarding the proposed administrative budget and adopt an
administrative budget. Tl~e administrative budget shall set forth budgeted items and Administrative
Assessments in sufficient detail to show the allocation of the expenses among tl~e Producers. Tl~e Watermaster's
Governing Board satisfied these requirements.

The Judgment provides that administrative assessments to fund the administrative budget are to be levied
uniformly on an annual basis. In all but two cases, the assessments are to be levied according to the production
right, not according to actual production. The two exceptions are the United States, which is subject to
assessment only on its actual production, and the unused federal reserved water right, which is subject to
assessment only if used by the non-overlying production rights Holders. Accordingly, the assessments on these
two categories can only be calculated and levied after tl~e end of each year.

All budgets were adopted on a basis that materially conforms to generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP).

D. Cash and Cash Equivalents

All deposits of the Watermaster are made in board-designated official depositories and are secured as required
by State Law. The Watennaster may designate as an official deposito►y any bank or savings and loan
association. Also, the Watermaster may establish time deposit accounts such as money market accounts and
certificates of deposits.

E. Accounts Receivable and Allowances for Uncollectible Accounts

Accounts ►•eceivable a►•e recorded at gross value. Allowances for uncollectible accounts are maintained on all
types of receivables that Historically experience uncollectible amounts. Allowances are based on collection
experience and management's evaluation of the current status of existing receivables. There is no allowance for
uncollectible accounts as of December 31, 2018, as manage►nent believes all accounts will be collected.

F. Accrued Liabilities

All payables and accrued liabilities are reported in the financial statements. In general, liabilities that mature or
come due for payment during die fiscal year are considered to have been made wilt current available financial
resou►•ces.
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ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 1 —SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

G. Water Production Rights

Fixed and variable production rights are assessed at $5 per acre foot.

H. Net Position

The financial statements utilize a net position presentation. Net position is categorized as follows:

Net Investment in Capital Assets —This component of net position consists of capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation and reduced by any debt outstanding against the acquisition, consUuction, or
impioveinent of those assets. As of December 31, 2018, the Watermaster has no Net Investments in

Capital Assets.

Restricted Net Position —This component of net position represents constraints on resources that are

either a) externally imposed by creditors, grantors, cont~•ibutors, or laws or regulations of other
governments or b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. As of

December 31, 2018, the Watermaster has $65,832 in Restricted Net Assets for replacement water
assessments and water h•ansfer request fees which are resh~icted for buying replacement water.

Unrestricted Net Position —This component of net position consists of net position that does not meet
tl~e definition of restricted or net investment in crpitrl assets.

When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and uruestricted fund balance is

available, the Watermaster considers restricted funds to leave been spent first.

Use of Estimates

Tl~e preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements

and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses dw•ing the reporting period. Actual results could differ

from those estimates.

Recent Pronouncements

In June 2017 the GASB issued Statement No 87, "Leases". The objective of this Statement is to better meet the

information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial reporting for leases by

governments. This Statement increases the usefulness of governments' financial statements by requiring

recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases
and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the

contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are
financings of tl~e right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease

liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a

deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about

governments' leasing activities. The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods

beginning after December 15, 2019. Earlier application is encouraged. The Watermaster is evaluating the
impact of this standard on the financial statements.
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ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 2 —CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consists of the following:

Unresh•icted

Cash in Bank

Total Cas(i

Dececmber 31, 2018

$ 3,047

$ 3,047

NOTE 3 —ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable consist of the following:

Dececmber 31, 2018

Accounts Receivable $ 76,288

Less: Allowance for Doubtfiil Accounts -

Net Accounts Receivable $ 76,288

NOTE 4 —JOINT POWERS AGREEMENT (ACWA/JPIA)

The Watermaster is a member of the Association of California Water Agencies Joint Powers Insurance Authority

(ACWA/JPIA). The relationship between the Watermaster and the JPA is such that the JPA is not a component unit

of the Watermaster's for financial reporting purposes.

The JPA is composed of nearly 400 California water agencies and is organized under a joint powers agreement

pursuant to California Government Code §6500 et seq. The California JPIA began covering claims of its members in

1979. The purpose of tl~e JPA is to arrange and administer programs for the pooling of self-insured losses, to

purchase excess insw~ance or reinsurance, and to an•ange for group purchased insurance for property and other lines

of coverage. Tlie JPA is independently accountable for its fiscal matters. The insurance group maintains its own

accounting records. Budgets are not subject to any approval other than that of the governing board. Each member

government has an elected official as its representative on the Board of Directors. The Board operates through a

nine-member Executive Committee.

During the past du•ee fiscal years, none of tl~e programs of protection experienced settlements or judgments that

exceeded pooled or insured coverage. There were also no significant reductions in pooled or insured liability

coverage in 2018. The Watermaster's share of year-end assets, liabilities or fund equity leas not been calculated.

Complete separate financial statements for the ACWA/JPIA may be obtained at 2100 Professional Drive, Roseville,

California 95661.
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ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 5 —EXCESS OF EXPENDITURES OVER APPROPRIATIONS,

Excess of expenditures over appropriations for the year ended December 31, 2018 were as follows:

December 31, 2018

Watermaster Engineer $ 135,320

Dues &Subscriptions 205

NOTE 6 —RELATED PARTIES

For fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, Palmdale Water District provided administrative staff who handle

administrative support, document management, and all communication with Parties/Groundwater Producers.

Antelope Valley -East Kern Water Agency provided financial and consulting support,

NOTE 7 —COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

A. Finance-Related Legal and Contractual Provisions

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 38, "Certain Financial Statement Note Disclosures," violations of

finance-related legal and contractual provisions, if any, are reported below, along with actions taken to address

such violations:

Violation

None reported.

Action Taken

Not applicable.

B. Deficit Fund Balance of Fund Net Position of Individual Funds

The following are funds liaving deficit fund balances or fund net assets at year-end, if any, along with remarks,

wliicli address such deficits:

Fund Name Deficit Amount Remarks

Unrestricted $42,580 As of December 31, 2018, the
Watermaster has a deficit
unrestricted fund balance.
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ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES -PROPRIETARY FUND TYPE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

OPERATING REVENUES

Production Rights
Variable Assessments

Application Fees

Total Operating Revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES

Contracted Administrative Services

Wateimaster Engineer

Watermaster Special ConU~act

Information and Document

Legal &Professional Fees
Insurance Expenses

Postage and Printing

Dues &Subscriptions

Total Operating Expenses

Operating Income (Loss)

ORIGINAL FINAL 2018 OVER1(UNDER)

BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

$ 635,195 $ 635,195 $ 362,374 $ (272,821)
- - 128,310 128,310

45,261 - 26,366 26,366

680,456 635,195 517,050 (144,511)

49,000 49,000 48,742 (258)

304,648 304,648 439,968 135,320

32,510 32,510 19,969 (12,541)

14,900 14,900 12,346 (2,554)

275,000 275,000 258,212 (16,788)

6,000 6,000 3,521 (2,479)

650 650 182 (468)
- - 205 205

682,708 682,708 783,145 100,437

(2,252) (47,513) (266,095) (244,948)

NON-OPERATING REVENUES -UNRESTRICTED

Imported Water Return Flow 78,000 78,000 180,364 102,364

Othe►• Revenues - - 912 912
Total Non-Operating Rev -Unrestricted 78,000 78,000 181,276 103,276

NON-OPERATING REVENUES -RESTRICTED
Replacement Water Assessments - - 63,732 63,732
Water Transfer Request Fees - - 2,100 2,100

Total Non-Operating Rev -Restricted - - 65,832 65,832

Total Non-Operating Revenues 78,000 78,000 247,108 169,108

Non-Operating Income (Loss) 78,000 78,000 247,108 169,108

Incc-ease (Decrease) in Net Position $ 75,748 $ 30,487 $ (18,987) $ (75,840)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Appendix L Notice List

ProducerA,Z Pa Producer Name Street Address CI State and Zi Phone Email
BOIh Sheet 0.ssoclatlon Wader System EdiibA 4 fi01h Sired Assacialim Water

Syslem

5979 MargaMa Lane Rosamad, Ca 935W

Atlarrs Ben it Imrsimmis, LLC E#iibA 4 Pdams Bairetl InveslmsRs, LLC 200 S. Man S! SuAe 2f10 Corms. CA 92882 mye'Ammca rnm

Alepa, loan i CeIdY Nex Production Juan antl Cady Negre 4001 Ean Avenue F Lancaster, Ca 93535

Ambrle, loan New Praduclicn Juan Ambr¢ PO Boz 382 Pea rblossom, Ca 93553 (F61) 7133443

MlNope Park Mutual Water Canpany F_dii614 lvM1dope Park MNuaI Water

CanPa^Y

PA. Bm 7712 Landter, CA 93539

,__, __

apmw615~ya~m co'n,

9reydog1B355~yahm.

MtNope Valley JdM Union Hlph Sclwol pstrkt ENiib2 4 lv4dope Valley JaM Unon High

Schod D~Irct
44811 Sier2 Hwy Larcmler, CA S1S31

M1Nope Valley Modk Fables EhibX 4 Antelope Valley Mobile Estate 9301 Samdine Ave. Dwmey, CA 90240 I~ns~ad.can

I4nelope Valley Resourte Conurvalbn psirlel Ureuhor¢ d Pumper AMNape Valley Reaurce

c~~i«~ o.:o-~n
10148 W~~ Avenue I Lancaster, CA 93536

MlNope Valley Wa x Storage LLC EMibA 4 Mlelope Valley Wffia Stake

LLC

4700 Wilshire BNd L~ Angde, CA 90010 mbeuhler~wswaterbank.cvn

Aqua) MNual Wafer Company E#iib~ 4 Pqua-J Mutual Wffier Canpany P.O. Bm 4778 lancffiter, CA 93539 (fi61) 7336147 dougm~evcNrvg.can

qV Salar Ranch 7, LLG EMibtl d AV Sdar Ranch 1, LLL 300 Exdm Way, Suite 330 KennW Square, PA 19ddB

pVEK ENiibR 4 AVEK G500 W Avenue N Palmdale, CA 93561 dchisam~aek.arg

pverytlale Mutual Water Comps^Y EMibA 4 Auerydale Mutual Wale Company P.O. Box 191 Lancaier, CA
stsea

lsncasler, CA 93584 bbramanl~ms can,

aV«veai~K~~.~~
Baa~rer, Wllllam UreNha¢ed Pumper WYlem Basra c/o Aaron

DeFrarco

487453 PdrM1s RwE lake Hughg, CA 93532 9095B34005

a.delranco kW.LOrtI

Baler MNual Wader Comps^Y 6hibA 4 BaNer MN~eI Water Company 461m 1Fith Street East Lancaster, CA 91Si5 tencawfam~gmail.wm

&A Rxk MNual Wafer Company EtliibA 4 Big Rock MNiel Water Canpany 328101~th St E Llano, CA 93594

&ticer. George ENiib[ 4 Georye 6dtrer P.O. Box 7201]] Plnon, CA 97472

BINch Flrt MNwI Water Company EYhiEe 4 Bled Flat Mullet Weler
~~~y

P.O. Bw 1Y1] Lancaster, CA 435Ba cassidyskdtan~yahoo.can,
biwataca~gmal.can

&um, ShelEon R &urn Trustee o/ the 1898 Family Trust ENi~A a SheNm R. 91um, Trusice al the

1998 Farnity Trust
T142 Camdm Ave. SUEe 169 San Jane, CA 95124 blumlavQsbcglobal.M

BOX~aue PropeMles LLC do 9nd DeBnnch EMLi1 4 Ballhause Propcti~ LLC c/o Brad

OeBranch

PO Bmt 20151 BakasfiNd, CA 93' 0 bdebranch~bdlhoisepropslies.can,

dyurasek~boAhoiseprcpclies.com

Bookman: Tliortus +riE Julie Bookman 300] Trust Etliibd 4 Tinm~ and Jule Booleman 2(10]

Trist

4fiHIG 12ph SI. E Larcaaler, CA YiaiS

Boron CanmunkY ~Mca dslrld F~hib13 Bam CanmunAY ~~
Dis~nct

PO Box 10fi0 Berm. CA 9356 bormcsd~yahoo.com

BrltlwNl, James 8 Elizabeth EMkA 0 James 8 Elaabelh Bndwtll 9063 Cdby PI. Liltlerock, Ca 93503

BurroxalMO MO N LLC E#ilbA 9 Burrw.srW A40 M LlC PO Box BOMB Santa ClarAa, CA 97380

C. Louise R Close LINnp Trust F_diibA 9 C. Lauix R. Qrbe Living Trust

Caluidrl Wtler Company. LLC. EtliibA 4 CalanEn Water Company, LLC. P.O. Boa 8010 Canceler, CA 415 ornie~calendnsorviseharms.can

Calllomb Departme~rt of Gorrecllons and RehadlHallon Slate W Calllorria Callfoma Departmern of
Carectoro and Rrlhahilpalim

9838 Old Placavdle Rid, Suiie
&2

SacremaMo, CA 95827 (916) 2553029 SBDVBFAdwcate~CDCR ca.gw

Calllornb Department of MIILLary Slate of Cali(arnia CalilarJe DeparimeN of Mlleary Ja'v~t Fvice H~dqurtas
9800 Goelhe Rmd

SacrzmeMo, CA 95827 (916) 854-3000

Callfornla Department of Parks anA Recreallon State dCalilomia Calilomia Department of Parks

and Recrmlon

P.O. Bm 942A96 Sacramerilo, CA 94296 (916) fi53~ iMo~parks.p.gw

Callbmla Deparimmf of Transporlallon Slate o/ CalRomia Call(omia DepartmerM1 al

Trareportatim
1120 N S~retl

MS 0.9

SaameMo, CA 95814 (976) 654-728] Av'staM.b.BWgNs~dA.ca.gaa

Calllomla DepaNnKvrt of Veteran Artalrs Slate W CalRomia California OeparlmaM1 W Veteran

PXdYa

P.O. Brn 942 5 Sacramento, CA 4A295 (916) 6531961 phil.mcal6sitt~calvel.ca.gw

Callfomla Oeparimeril of Wrier Rnaurces S~a1e o/ Ca~ilomia Calilomia Oeparimeil of Wale

RB

P.O. Bw 118] Pmrblmsan, Ca 9156] (916] 6535791

Callfornla Hlpliway PWrd SIa1e d Calilomia Galilamia Mighnay Pal~tl fi01 North Ph Street SacremeMo, CA 95871 (916) 8433000

Calibmla Slrie LaMs Commission Slate W CalMorma Celibmie Slate LarMs
Canmissim

100 Hawe Avenue, Sude 100
SaAh

Sacramento, CA X825 (916) 570.1900 Bren.Bugach~slc ca.gw

Calllornla Water SeMcas Company EdiibA 3 CdiloMa Wale SaNces

Canpeny

5015 West Arxnue L-10 Suee M2 O~ariz Hill, GA 93536 jgela~ceAvarer.rum

C~aMlle, loan Nex Produclim Alma R. Fmg 1534 East linpard Sereet landstar, Ca 93535

Chavez, Eflrtn EdiibA 4 Eflrm Chavez 17390 High Pcr~ Aue. PalmEak, CA 93591

GMy of Lanwsler OtMa wAh Rights io Produce CRy al Lancaeta 444'i3 Fan Aue~xc larcastar, CA 93539

CMy of Lm NgNe, ~ep+rtment of Airports Edi~bA 4 CRy of Lm Mgdas, DepanmeM

W Puparts

fi059 W. Century Blvd., Suite 4W Los N+pda, CA 90045 VHawell~lawa.org, spaHell~kmtg can

Glen Kelih Real Fatale InvesimeMs, LLC Suppartirg laid Ownes Llan Keith RBI Estate
IrneslmeMs, LLC

Latham B Walk'ns
do Lucy Oiess

3555oNh GranE A~mue, Suke

iW

Los ArgNe, CA 90071 (213) 891-a532 luces.q~s~~w.can

Collln~, Raymond 6 Marym New Praduclim 0.aymard 6 Maryam Collire 1865 Greenfield gvenue, p201 Los Angeles, G 90025 (~~) 6~~9

CdonEo MNual Waled Co. EdiL'A 4 Cdaatlo MNiml Water Ca. P.O. Bar 482 Lancaster, CA 93584 eho.N'imaarich~ms

Connally, Myra New P~aduc~im Myles Connelly PO Boy 1836 Siml Valley, Ca 93062

Ceop~r, Ronald Nev Produclim Rmald J. Cooper 1155 W 109th Street Los An¢eles, U 90044 (7~) 3BA4907 rtieskornQgmail can

Cops De Oro Lantl GanpanY E#iib0. 4 Caps De Oro Lantl Company 315 So~ih Be'.xrly Drive Surte

CO]

Beinty Hilb, CA 9P212

Cora~a, Gllarda ~ielifed SmaF Pumpers Gilardo R. Coror~ 8]75 Fawrda Ase. Rosamo'd, CA ~ (661) 2563168

County Sankrtbn ~Isirlcis of Loa Mgeks 1d b ZO EdilbA 9 CwMy Sani[alim ~istncis o/ Lm

AngNe 14 820

1956 Workman Mill Rd. WhRlier, CA 90AJ1

Crystal Orpanle LLGGrlmmwaylLapls EYhibd 4 Crystal Organc

LLGGrimmwaylLapis
P.O. Box 81498 Bakersfi9d, CA 93iB0 jgreen~Brimmway.can,

gcappello~primmway.can

Dayan, Ben~aMn 6 Fbr UreNhn¢aC Pwnper Bdtlamin 8 Fbr Dayan 449 N. Laurel Lm Angd~, CA 90048

Oel Carman Vala, Marla NeVI PfaEUCtim MafB 0¢ Carmen Vela 2131 Ivanhoe Avenue Oznard, Ca 93030

Ual Sur Gardens, LLC. (PV Vark~ Nex Produc~im Del Sur Ranch LLC %2-90&4288
e,a.nas

spegadntes~lACSO ag

Oel Sur Ranch LLC ENibl 4 Del Sur Rand LLC tfi633 Ventura BIW. Sutle 1040 Encino, CA 91436 george~haggargroup can

oerncK sin Oyer Pumping Sma'I Pumper Bski Dertck BB47 Effit Aeenie G-12 Larvsler, CA 93535

Desert Breeze MHP, LLG Suppartirg Lard Owners D~eM1 Brerze MHP, lLC do DanN Epslan

P.O. Bw 17482

Encvw. CA 91 di6 (fi61) 2564577

DeseN Wke Communky SeMces ~Isirlcl F_diib;l 3 DesaY Lake CommuMy Sernces

Dis~ricl

17270 Del Oro Street Boon, CA 93596 desatlakecsd~gmail.can

gckey, flaMall 6 &Ilia EdiLA 4 RaMall antl Billie Dckey P.O. Bm 694 P~rblmsom, CA 31`h3

EEwartls Plr Fora Box SuppMirg lantl Pxna~s 412 CEICENP-Fl51M 255 N. RosamonE Bhtl Bltlg

3500

Edwards, AFB, CA 93524 (fi61) 277-4W5 geralE.boelsc~.t~us.al.mil

EI Doratlo Mulwl Water Company F_tliib~ 4 EI Do2Eo Mutual Watt Company PO Box 90[619 Palmdale, CA 93590 NEmwc~gmail can

e5ohr IM.; Skm Sun Tower, LLC EMibA 4 e5olar In<.; Sierta Sun Taws,

LLC

P.O. Bme 101 W Bvbank, CA 91510

eSolar IM.; Tumbkweetl SUMower LLG EthibA 4 Solar Inc.; Tumbleweed
Suntaxa LLC

3iS5 W. Empire Aire. SuNe 200 Burbank, CA 91504

e5o4ar Uic.; ReE Dawn Surilower LLC F~'hibt 4 e5alar Inc.', Red Dawn SuMower

LLC

3156 W. EmpRe Aue. SuHe 200 Burbank, CA 91504

E~parxa llmanas, David New Prafuctim David Esparza Jimavz ]330 East Avenue 1-8 p39 Lanas[er, Ca 93535

Espino~a, I~ticla New Productim Leticia Espiroza 1805 La France Orive 9akersfield, Ca 9330]

Estrada, loan &Mays Ntw P~otluction Juan 8 Mayre Estrada PO Bor 20]1 littlerac4, Ca 93543 (770) 4%1693

Evans, Lawrence Dnn and Susan EhibA 4 lawra'ice Oe3n Evars, Jr. end

Susan Evare
P.O. Bw~ 5~ P~rblwsan, Ca 93563

Evergreen MNual Wafer Canpany EMibA < E~eryreen MW~eI Wala Canpany 4646 Lumbar SIreM Lercasler, CA 93535 ~odtl_kmen~msn.can

Eyherablde Sheep Cw, Eylienblde LaM Co., LLC Supporting Lend Owners Eyhcabide Sheep Co.,
Eyhcabide Land Co., LLC

52801(eM Draw BakersfiNq CA 93306

Fdtler, Wllllam Oyer Pumping Smell Pumps' Willem FeNa SB59 Eat Aexnue F Lanps~er, CA 31535 fi61 ~J98Hi

Flntlley, Rulh Ediibd 4 RNh Findley 'Ji61 Ctlky PI. Lil~lxock, CA 41593
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Appendix L Notice List

Producer A-Z P Producer Name Street Address Ci State and Zi Phone Email
Firsl MNual Water Company E#iibA 4 Flrst MNiel Wafer Company SB4B Gobl Avenue Rmamord, Ca 935W papaQglobal.nel

Flrst Sdar OevebpmeMlWlllax Sprl~gs EM~LE 4 Willav Springs~Fire1 Sdar
De Jopmmt

1049 Century Park Earl, Sude Lm
35W

ArgNg, CA 90067 BHerrema~bMs.can

Flrst Sdar, Ine. E#iibA 4 First Stlar, Irc. 135 Main Sireel, Qh Fbar San Franciuo, CA 94105 Jxk.Pigdt~(vs~sdar.com

Fong, Alma New Pratluctim Pima Fag PO Bax 989 Lihlerock, Ca 935x3

Fnnken Wrg, Leah F_diibE 4 Leah Frenkenbag PO Sox 99 littla~ak, Ca 93543 fifi16213197

french, [hrl~topher & NancY New Productim Nancy 8 CNistaphef Fra~ch 4800 50th StreH West Rosamond, Ca 93560

Garda, Ervin 8 Esping, Caroline Nex P~oEuclim Ervin Garce 8 Card'ine Espire PO Box 956 linlerock, Ca 93543 alegre4321 ~aol.can

Godde: Sieve Pam antl Gary EdiNA 4 Steee, Pamela 8 Gary Gotltle rJo
Ri(e Silra 8 Co LLC

22 State Route 2f6 Veringlon, NV 8940 gyadde~msn can

GorNMo Resour~c/ul LLC F_diibA 4 GanrMo Resarceful LLC P O. Sox 341 Minden, NV X923 hob~gnrindo.com

G~anlle Conslructbn Company I&A Rak Facility) Ethibil 4 Gmni~e Gorev~lim Company
(Big Rack FacJM1y)

213 East Fvenue M Larcaler, CA 93535 W~ll'mm taylar~gcinc.wm

GnnXe Cmsiruclbn Company Idle Rack Sand ask E#iibrt 4 G2rvle Constutim Company
(Link Rack Sand and

213 Easl Avenue M Lancaster, CA 93535 Willem Taylor~gcinc.can

GrIMn, Laura EdiibA 4 Laws Gruen EBO~ lRh SVeel East Lanoster, CA 935.'15

H 8 N Devebpme~rt Co. West Inc EMIbA 4 H 8 N OevJWmnt Co. Wgt Inc. P.O. Box 1496 Santa Cris, CH 9fAG1

Heaty Enterprises, lnc F_diibA 4 Dare Healy anE Healy EMelpnses
Irc.

4450 Vllage C! SuRe 103 Palm desert, LA 92260

H~~~ ~~~ Oexr Pumpirg Small Pumprf JoM Hemme 43719 Sian Higkxay Lar~ter, CA 93.534

Herruridez, Luls EvhibA 4 Ws Ha~reMez 49007120th Street East Lancaster, CA 93535

Hlph Dezerl Palry -- ""'—'-- EMibA 4 High D~eN Derry 41`.x3 Effit Avenue FA Lancaster. CA 935.'i5 randamgary~9mail.com,
Marmirg~yahm.can

Haunanlan, Mails New ProGuclim M~is Hourmnian 30909 Woodward Ave Sunland, Ca 91090

Hyde, Richard OualAied SmaO Pumpers Richartl L Hyde 43627 Comy Drhe landter, CA 93536

Irma Ann Cark Trust, Imu-Mire Cark, Trustee EMibi! 4 Irma Mn Carle Trust, Irm~lvvie
Carle, Triatee

30701 LmgWex Rd P~rbimsan, Ca 93553

Jos~w Mertarlal Park UnaNM1a¢ed Pumper Joshua Manorial Perk BOB Easl Larcasla BIM Lancaster, CA 93535

lunlpar NIII~ land ConsemNan Trust New ProEiclim Juniper Hilb Lend Cmu+ralim
Tfia~

1634 W. Glenoaks BWd. p250 Glendale, G 91201

Norn, [arrl~ Nex P~oEuctim Carne Korn 253 Mountain Avenue Monrovia,G91016 (~~)~~~

Nyle Revorade LINnp Trust F_kiibA 4 Trialees of The Kyk Rewceble
Lrvirg Trill

12345 E. Ave. J larcaler, CA 93535 gdMunkyle~msn.com

V Coaepa ([hrbt of the ~asert~ Nen Praduc~ian La Casepa Christ al the Dgerl 3900 East 1]Oth Street Lake Los Angeles, Ca 93591

Lantl ProfMs MNual Wafer Go. EdiibG 4 Land Projects Muriel Water Co. BB10 W Ave. EB Lancazter, CA

LanEale MNual Water Co. EMLA 4 lantlale MN~I Walx Co. P.O. Box SBOB Larr.~ler, CA 93539 Iandale1908~gmal.wm

LanEaverEe, MgNa Oimllfed Small Pumpers Argda LandaverEe 105Qi AIaOnEer N~enue Sash Gale, CA 90280

lands of Premise Mulwl Wafer Company Ediibd 4 Lands N Pranise M~Aiml Water
Company

P.O. Bw 87d BN~omvilbx, CA 41506 darejackson~yahm com

lane Family Trust EfQiibt 4 Lore Family Tnsl 42J1010th SI. Wesi SuAe 101 Lar~ter, CA 93534 mvbs~vcizm.nel

~eClelr ROEeM, Unlnl Mark EthibA 4 LeC~ir Robert, Unini Marie PO Bm~ 207 P~rbl~san, Ca 93SS3

Leer, James ark Dlaniu E#bbA 4 James and Diary Leer 11850 Nearwood Rd. Junipc Hills, GA'IISC3 (661) 2~7/8B rmffimail.ag __

Lttllerock Apprepale Go., IM., Hdllday Pock Co. F_diibd 4 LRticack Pgpregata Co., Inc.,
Hdliday Rock Co.

1401 N. Bmson Ave. UpleM, CA 91]86

Lttllerock Creek Irrlpalbn ~IriAd Exhibd 3 Liltlermk Credo Irrigalim Ostrici 35791 BTh S~rcet Est Lilllamk, Ca Si5C3 bhWan~avc.eCu

LJa~a Oel Rb Wafer Comps^Y E#iieA 4 IJano Del Rlo W atx Company 32810 5. 1661h St Eazt IJano, CA Si5A4

Lla~w MNual Wafer Company EdimA 4 Llano Muusl Wafer Canpany ffi8105. 16th 51 East LJano, CA 43544

~onp Valley Roatl LP Owr Pumping Small Pumper Lorg Valley Rid LP 23075 Lang Valky Road Woodland Hills, CA 91367

Los MpNes County Wrterxorks dslrld No. A0 Etliibd 3 Los AngNPs County Watmvvks
Distncl No. W

PO Boz 7508 AlhemGa, CA 918V1 eankl~dpw.lacounly gov

LV Rttter Ranch Supporting Lend Owrnvs LV Rillc Rand 333 SoNh Hope SrcM 16th Flmr Las AngNas, CA 9BW 1

Mapn~, Yaul ~Woodstona Can~huRlon) Nex Pratluclim Paul Magare 2332 Oak Crert Avenue Palmdale, Ca 93550 (fiG1) 713]443

MarRore~u, Jox Ehibd 4 Trusleg N~he Marilaere Living
Trust

300 Parama Rd. BakasfiNd, CA 93'7 Imsheep~ad com

MCW111W~m, Dennis 8 darie EMibA 4 Dennis 8 Diare McWllfiams 15315 E Ave. G Apl G lemzsler, CA 93535

Miner, Rkhartl EdilbA 4 Richard Mirer 96]8 Darn Rd. Rmamad, CA SXi60 rhmlartna~gmail.com

Mln[~ ~n New Productim Lin Ming 425 Keiffer Dr. Rincon, GA 31326 (~~) ~~~

Mellna, Maply Over Pumgrg Small Pumper Magay McArm 62 Yarc Place Drrve Milpitas, CA 95035

Mootly, DxIpM ant Nmnan O~elileE Small P~anpers OwigM and Nenran Moody 5061 Balsawood Irvire, CA 92612

Munx: M14 Pevarabk Trust, Terry A 6 Nal~leen M. Muni Edi~bA 4 Berry ant Sharm Muriz 2014
Remceble Trial Tory A B
NsiNeen M. Mum

0.5]11 Murz Ranch Rd lancaler, CA 93536

Neheker, Eugene ENiibd 4 Eugerc Nebekx 400 N. Rockln9~m Ave. Los Mgtls, CA 90009 mebeka~r~drunner com

New Gdtlmsarids Inves~menl, LLC Evhibrt 4 NAv Gddmsands Inveslmmt,
LlC

2478 Steens Avenue Rmem~d, CA 91770 (661) 996i9W Itisbabylare~gmail.can

Norl~ EEwartls Wafer Wirkt EdilbA 3 North Edwards Wafer D'sirkl 13525 Fran Street Nath EEwards, CA 93523 ~wd~verum.M

NOAhrop Grumrtun Systems Corporallan F_diibA 9 Narlhrop Grumman Systems
Caporalim

Nslm & 9ird LLP
333 SONh Hope SUeel, iQh
Flaar

Los Argelg. CA 90071

NRG E'rergy 1~. EAIbA 4 NRG En~reY Iro. Alin. PPS Blllirg
P O Bar 1080

Nex Rmds, LA 70]W (fi61) 52&1798 sera Ixksm~nrg.can

Ossloqulspe. Rafxl OualA d Small Pumpers Ref J Ossiaquispe ] 012 Cmper Ter Palmdale, CA 93 0

Ovaepyn, Andrey Nov P~oductim lvd~ey Ovsepyan 38]13 Tierra 5ubida Avenue, p3 Palmdale, CA 93551 Randy.5harp~sympalico.ca

Palm Ranh Irtlpatlon ~Islrkt EdiibA 3 Palm Ranch Irrigalim D'isiricl 4071 West Cdumbia Way ~~eriz Hill, CA 93~i3G pele~palmranchid.com

PalmEale Water Dlsirlc[ Edi~A 3 Palmdak Water DisUici 20S Easy Avenue 0 PalmEale, LA 31550 dlama~in~palmdalexater.ag

Park, Youn f Nan Produc~ian Vwrg Park 325 W 12J[h Street Los Angeles, Ca 90461

ParvanM Katllvar Oyer Pumping Small Pumper Kedivdr Parvaneh 18017 Bluesail Drive PwRic Palisatles, CA 90272 310612-6115

Perez, Esplrldlon & Yvonn 

c

Nov Pradi ctim Espiridim 8 Ywrvie Perez PO Bar 1000 Rosamond, Ca 93560 (661)942-fi125

PheWn Plrwn Hills CSD Oihers wAh Rights la Produce Phelan Pinm Hills CSD 4176 Warble Rd. Chelan, CA 97471 (7fi0) 8~-1212

pap~~ ry~ EdiLA 4 Nrel Pml P O. Bar 9W Juniper Hilh, CA 9:Y543

~witx HIII Wafer psirkt EthibA 3 ~uariz Hill Wela Distract 5034 West A~xnue L Quartz Hill, CA 93536 crea9~ghntl.ag

R and M Ranch Irc. EMib2 4 R arM M Ranch Irx. 46SS Va Grande Newbury Park, CA 91320

Razlw Slerta Golf Course UreNhv¢ed Pumper Rancho Sinre Gdf Course 1168 Valley O~mil Circle San Jae, CA 95120

Roca, John ant Atlrkn~ EdiL'A 4 John and Pdmm~e Rca Z77/ W. Ave. 04 PalmEak, GA 93551 adnenne~sbmarnn.can,
arcn~an.~a

ReeseEale MNwI Wafer Company Supponirg LanE Owner Reesedale Muriel Wafer
Company

49HA B9h Sir~l East Lancaster, CA 93539 (661)9461889

Nexvanl, Mike Ntw Pradistim Mike R¢varu 19556 Shadow Glen Circle Porter Ranch, Ca 91326 (BC6) 96~-2318

Richter, Suxamre EdiibA 4 Si¢anna Richter P.O. Bar 290 P~rbloasan, CA 93553

Rober E~kerprlses, H4Grade MaterWls Ca SuppoM1irg Land Owns Robar Errtcprees, HI-Grade
MalaeLa Co.

17671 Bar Valley Rd. Hespera, CA 97345

Rodrl`uei, Erlk Nov Prodistim Erik Rodriguez 1321 Eart Avenue J-] Lanaster, Cp 93535

Rogers, Johnny fllaq~RY{r~ Over Pumping Small Pumper Jolv~ny Rogns

Rosamond Gommuntty Services ~Istrlcf EddbA 3 Rwamord CanmunAy Sa^nca
asmd

3179 35th Srtee1 W Rceamad, Ca A3,~fi0 rsmAh~rasaniakcsd cam

RosamoiM Hlgh Scholl EMibd d Rosamond High Schad b25 W. RosamaM BMd. Rrsammd, CA 93560 sdumn~skisd.Kl2.ca.ia

Rosemont Modk Home Park Mllana VII LLC Suppahirg lantl Owners Rosamond Mobile Herne Park
Milara VII LLC

Go Milano VII LLC
P.O. Bar 915

Tistin, CA 92781 (fi61) 2562084

Rou Villa Apakme~Rs ENiibA 4 Rye Ulla AparlmeMs 119 AM. Rains Rd. Rancho Palos Verdg, CA 90175 rnvabiaor~wx.nel

Sahara Nurxry a~M Farm ENibA 4 Sahars Nursery antl Farm 14848 E. Ave. J Lamter, CA 9353

SaIril Mdrew's Abbey, lric ENibR4 SairA Pndrevis Abbey, lac. PO Box dO Valyermo, CA 93561 francisbereEiq~rocketmail.wm

Schlllhg 198E Family Trust EdiibA 4 Triste~ of the L8M Schilling
X552 Famiy crier

11317 E. Ave. E larcazler, CA 93535
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Appendix L Notice List

ProducerA,Z Pe Producer Name Street Address Cf State and Zi Phone Email
SNek FaMly Trust EiliLd 4 TTEE, Barbara Pzriarez Decd

Trust aM Selak, Mabel
12f10 Lida Paadere, CA 91103 (626) 580.8110 sleve~selakeMertainmmt can,

riksellat~k~ad.com

Service Rxk Protlucls, LR bA~ibA 4 Smice R¢k Products, L.P. 550 Easl HospitalEy lane, Sude
300

San Berrerd'no, CA 92408

SGS MtNope Valky Development, LLC FshibM1 4 SGS MiHape Valley
~evdopmml, LLC

101 Ash St MD-0] San Dino, CA 92101 cyMh'e leurg~sunpoxv.com

ShaEax Acres MNwI Water Comps^Y Ediibe 4 Shedov Psrw MNuaI Wazn
Canpany

P.O. 900fi1v5 Palmdale, CA 3i`50 mwcl~gmal.cvn

Sheep Grrek Water Go. EdibA d Sheep Creek Water Co. P.O. gar 291820 Phekn, CA 97lD

Siebert, Jeffery ark Nancee EthibA 0 Jeffrey and Nantes SiebeM1 19715 W. Aee. C Lervsler, CA 935.'iG

SIN; Rubin 6 Marla Urmulha¢ed Pumper 1]15 Turnbull Giryron Rd Hwenda Hegh~s, VA 41]45

Sanrlu Ranch, LLC EhbA 4 Sonnse Ranch, LlC 9]53 East Avenue FA larcasler, CA 935'15

Saulhem CalMomb EElson Company Etliibd 4 Soulhem CelHvne Edam
Canpany

7144 WaInN Grope Ave. RmaneaE, CA 91770 Julia.m(sel~ue.can

Sandals MNual Wafer Company ErhibIl 4 Sundale MNuel Wales Company P O. Box 6108 Lancaster, CA 45539 suMalemW~ml~gmail.can

Sunnysltle Farms MWwl Wale~Company,Inc. EdiibAb Sunnysltle Farms Mid~al Water
CanPanY. Ir¢.

P.O. Boz 901 U25 Palmdale, CA 31590 sshnwc~gmailcan

THon Rancheorp aM TeJon Rands Co. EMibA 4 Tejm Rarehcap and Tejm
Ranch Co.

P.O. Bin 7000 Lebec. CA 93143 alkirrson~lgmanchean,
glop¢~tejorvarch.wm

Ternxas, Gbrla EMibA 4 Glma Tertazas 10640 Fwr Winds rwd JurJpa' Hilk, CA 9043

The SOIh dsirld AgrkuLLure pssoclatlan SIa1e a( CalRomia The SOIh Dislrk~ AgrculWre
Axami~im

2551 West Aaenue H, Suite 102 lancacter, CA 31536 (661) 9Ja~G0

Tlern Bootle MNual Water Comps^Y Ediibd 4 Tiers Bonita MNual Walx
Canpany

51~ East Ague KA Laricazrer, CA 41535 tkrrabonAaxaler~yahw.can

Tlern BonMa Ranch Ediib0. 4 Tare Bonita Ranch 1]434 Palaa SI. Encino, CA 91316

Torres, Tomas anE Irma Oialiled Small Pumpers Tanas vd Irma Tines 3ilO Wiscasin Avenue South Gale, CA 90 0

Trang, Sroy Nex Prodiclim Sroy Trarg PO Boa 116 Alhambra, CA 91803

Triple M PropeMY ~~ EdimA 9 Tripk M Property Co. 75 Malaga Cope, SuAe 14 Pales Verdes Estes, CA 90274

Traq Paler ~~IKed Small Pumpere PNer J Trmo 815 devils Punch Boil Drrvx
RO

P~rblcssan. Ca 9355.]

Turk Trust EhibA 4 Rally Turk P O. BaK 1016 Litller¢k, CA 3i5A3

U.S. Bore Ehibd 4 U.S. Borax 144BG Borax Rtl. Baran, CA 93516 relhan Irance~riotarfio.can

Ugonwa, Bonavantura Nex Prad~cl'wn BonaverM1ure Ugomma ]156 Avenida Del Mar lanoster

Van Ram, Martha, Nlck E Janet Eshibl 4 Manes Van Dam, Nlck Van Wm,
Jane[ Van Dam

7316 W. A~,x. ~e Lencasler, CA 93536

talon Malerlals Co., Vulcan LanEs Inc.,

WAG0.5 LaM Canpany LLG ,.—

E#iibA 4

EthIbA 4

VNnn Materials Co., Vulcan
Lartls Irc.,

WAGAS LaM CanpanY LLC

405 North InCian Mill 9NE.

9061ntlmnda WaY

ClaremaM, CA 91700

la Canada. CA 91411

ksage~lrmwatn.com

_._.__.

WDS CaIIIomIa II, LLC ENiDA4 WAS Calilnne ll, LLC 1135. 1aBrp Avenue 3rtlFlm Los GgN~, CA 90036 andrewwema~westemdev.can

WMherde, Michael 8 Wbres Ediibd 4 Michael and Dobres A
W~Iherbie

X50 Cima Mee Rd Lil~laak. Ca Si543 miken~greLcvn

Web~tar, Anthony Nev Produclim Mtlnny Webster 11]5] S~tmy Street, Ap[ N 101 North Hollywood, Ca 91605

West Slde Park MNual taster Co. Ediibe 4 Wet Side Park Mantel Water Co. 0031711th St Wet Palmdale, CA 3Y£1 iri/o~weslsideperkmutual.com

West Valley GouMy taster ps~rkt EthIbA 3 Wal Valley Courty Wader DkVitl 75315 West Ideal Avenue Lancaster, CA 41536 wvcwd~~rer¢m.rel

W~Xe Fenu Farms MNual Water Co. E#~ibd 4 WhAe Farce Farms MNual taster
Co.

41901 20th SI. West Palmdale, CA Si557 mN~grN.can

W hXe Fence Fanrm MWC p3 Supporting Lard Owma While Farce Farms MWC p3 P.O. Bat 3411 ~ieriz Hill, GA 935%

Wllllam Flakier Memorial taster Company E#iie~ < WiOem Fishes Memorial Weler
Canpany

4700 District Bhtl. BakeafiNd, CA 93313 rsmdh~rosammEcsE cam

Willow SpMrps Ca EdiIEE 4 Richard NNwn 410.5 Manly Rd. 2568 Rmamand, CA 93%0 6erve.systdn~mirds0~ing coin

Wilson, Donna EMibA4 Danra Wilsm 18730 Wes~AvenueF Lancaster, CA 93536

Wkm~yar: The Donald Wttmeyer Trust (WandY p~dlslll~ New Productim T1x Do~aIE Wilmeyer Trust fi399 Vineyard Avenue Ann Hrbor, M198308

Za`hlan, Peban New Prodiclim Robin Zagh'an 92Zp West Avenue I Unfasten, CA 9353fi
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Appendix M

Delinquent Administrative Assessments and

Delinquent Production Reports

2018 Annual Report TODD GROUNDWATER
Antelope Valley Watermaster Watermaster Engineer



Customer List

Antelope Valley Watermaster

Customer Address Email

California Water
Services Company 

5015 West Avenue
California Water 

L-14 Suite #2
Services Company jojeda@calwater.com

H'll CA
Sub-Customer of 1000

Quartz i
93536

Non-Overlying
Production Rights

60th Street Association
Water System

5929 Margaritha
60th Street Association

Lane
Water System

Rosamond CA
Sub-Customer of 1100

93560
Overlying Production
Rights

C. Louise R. Close
Living Trust
C. Louise R. Close
Living Trust
Sub-Customer of 1100
Overlying Production
Rights_ _ _ _ _
c/o George Brittner
c/o George Brittner p O. Box 720173
Sub-Customer of 1100

pinon CA 92372
Overlying Production
Rights

eSolar Inc.; Sierra Sun
Tower, LLC
eSolar Inc.; Sierra Sun P.O. Box 10189
Tower, LLC Burbank CA

Sub-Customer of 1100 91510
Overlying Production
Rights __ _ _ _ _
Granite Construction
Company (Big Rock
Facility)

213 East Avenue
Granite Construction M
Company (Big Rock 

Lancaster CA 
William.taylor@gcinc.com

Facility) 
93535

Sub-Customer of 1100
Overlying Production
Rights

1 of 4

https://c 1 l .gbo.intuit.com/app/customers

Pending Overdue
Invoices Balance

l Overdue 
$6.60

invoice

2 Overdue 
$17.67

invoices

2 Overdue 
$6.66

invoices

2 Overdue 
$22.00

invoices

2 Overdue 
$24.54

invoices

1 Overdue
invoice

$0.60

7/18/2019, 12:04 PM



Customer List https://c l l .gbo.intuit.com/app/customers

Customer Address Email
Pending Overdue
Invoices Balance

James and Elizabeth
Bridwell 9363 Colley Pl.

1 Overdue
Sub-Customer of 1100 Littlerock CA $0.50

Overlying Production 93543
invoice

Rights

John and Adrienne Reca 
2~2~ W. Ave. 04

Sub-Customer of 1100
palmdale CA

adrienne@sbmarvin.com, 1 Overdue
$125.50

Overlying Production
93551

recaranch@att.net invoice

Rights __ _ _ _ _ _
LeClair Robert, Unini
Marie
LeClair Robert, Unini P.O. Box 207

2 Overdue
Marie Pearblossom CA $6.66

Sub-Customer of 1100 93553
invoices

Overlying Production
Rights

Luis Hernandez 49007 120th Street
Sub-Customer of 1100 East 1 Overdue

$2 25
Overlying Production Lancaster CA invoice
Rights 93535

Ruth C. Findley
9363 Colley PL

Sub-Customer of 1100
Littlerock CA

1 Overdue
$1.90

Overlying Production
93543

invoice
Rights

SGS Antelope Valley
Development, LLC
SGS Antelope Valley 101 Ash St HQ-07

2 Overdue
Development, LLC San Diego CA cynthia.leung@sunpower.com $379.34

Sub-Customer of 1100 92101
invoices

Overlying Production
Rights_ ___ __ __ _ _.
Tejon Ranchcorp and
Tejon Ranch Co.
Tejon Ranchcorp and
Tejon Ranch Co.

p O. Box 1000 atkinson@tejonranch.com, 1 Overdue
$1,464.05

Sub-Customer of 1100
Lebec CA 93243 glopez@tejonranch.com invoice

Overlying Production
Rights

Tierra Bonita Ranch
Tierra Bonita Ranch

17434 Palora St. 1 Overdue
Sub-Customer of 1100

Encino CA 91316 invoice
$2,462.50

Overlying Production
Rights

Triple M Property Co. ~5 Malaga Cove,
Triple M Property Co. Suite 14 2 Overdue

$122.69Sub-Customer of 1100 Palos Verdes Estes invoices
Overlying Production CA 90274

2 of 4 7/18/2019, 12:04 PM



Customer List

Customer

https://c l l .gbo.intuit.com/app/customers

Address Email 
Pending Overdue
Invoices Balance

Rights

U.S. Borax
U.S. Borax 

14486 Borax Rd. 1 Overdue
Sub-Customer of 1100 

Boron CA 93516 
nathan.francis@riotonto.com 

invoice 
$2073.45

Overlying Production
Rights __ _ _ _ _
White Fence Farms
Mutual Water Co. 

41901 20th St.
White Fence Farms 

West 1 Overdue
Mutual Water Co. wwf@gnet.com $338.30

Sub-Customer of 1100 
Palmdale CA invoice

Overlying Production 
93551

Rights

William Fisher
Memorial Water
Company
William Fisher 4700 District Blvd. 

2 Overdue
Memorial Water Bakersfield CA rsmith@rosamondcsd.com $35.90

Company 93313 
invoices

Sub-Customer of 1100
Overlying Production
Rights _ _ _. _ ___ _ _
Antelope Valley
Country Club 

39800 Country
A t 1 V 11n e ope a ey
Country Club

Club Dr 2 Overdue
$501.02

Sub-Customer of 1200
Palmdale CA invoices

93551
Producers with Return
Flow Rights __
..Charlie Tapia
Tapia Brother Farms c/o 2031 F Street 1 Overdue
Robert Brumfield, III Bakersfield CA $137,365.00

Sub-Customer of 1300 93301
invoice

Small Pumpers _ . __
Johnny Zamrzla
c/o Robert Brumfield, 2031 F Street

1 Overdue
III Bakersfield CA $273,165.00

Sub-Customer of 1300 93301
invoice

Small Pumpers.._ ____ __. m ~_ __ ._. ___ , ... .... _ . _._. , _ _ , _ _. .
California Department
of Corrections and

9838 Old
Rehabilitation

Placerville Road,
California Department

Suite B-2 SBDVBEAdvocate@CDCR.ca.gov
2 Overdue

$16.50
of Corrections and

Sacramento CA
invoices

Rehabilitation
95827

Sub-Customer of 1500
State of California

3 of 4 7/18/2019, 12:04 PM



Customer List https://c l l .gbo.intuit.com/app/customers

Pending Overdue
Customer Address Email

Invoices Balance

California Department
Joint Force

of Military
Headquarters 9800

California Department
Goethe Road

2 Overdue
$16.50

of Military
Sacramento CA

invoices

Sub-Customer of 1500
95827

State of California

California Department
of Parks and Recreation P O. Box 942896
California Department

Sacramento CA info@parks.ca.gov
1 Overdue

$4.50
of Parks and Recreation

94296
invoice

Sub-Customer of 1500
State of California_ _ _
California Department
of Transportation 1120 N Street MS
California Department 49

Assistant.to.Budgets@dot.ca.gov
2 Overdue

$367.07
of Transportation Sacramento CA invoices

Sub-Customer of 1500 95814

State of California

California State Lands
Commission 100 Howe Avenue,
California State Lands Suite 100 South

Brian.Bugsch@slc.ca.gov
2 Overdue

$23.43
Commission Sacramento CA invoices

Sub-Customer of 1500 95825
State of California

Reesdale Mutual Water
Company

44609 86th Street
Reesedale Mutual Water 

East 2 Overdue
Company

Lancaster CA invoices
$126.50

Sub-Customer of 1675
93534

Supporting Landowners
(Formerly 2000)
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Appendix M Delinquent Production Reports
(as of July 23, 2019)

Blank values indicate missing production reports

Q~~ ~~1~E21t 4 (~{ti~l'~'~11~

Pf~t~LtC@!'S
1'taF1'~S~+Ft'k°@S

~A15 T~ta!

~mundwar~a+

Rrotiettloe

?Ot7 iota#

~roun~wat~r

Prodytctian

~4~k'~a#W

6roa~►dw~ar
Pro;kittt~5n

60th Street Association Water System -
Adams Bennett Investments, LLC -
Antelope Valley Mobile Estates - 0.005 6.22

Benz: Mark W. And Nancy L. Benz
Terraxas: Gloria Terrazas; property

sale (2015)
Big Rock Mutual Water Company - 0.00 0.00
Bittner Trust, Glen Brittner, Trustee -
Bleich Flat Mutual Water Company - 11.50 13.00
Bridwell: James and Elizabeth Bridwell -
Burraws/200 A40 H LLC

Cardile: Sal and Connie Cardile
Pool: Noel Pool; property sale

~z~ls)
0.50

Chavez: Effren Chavez - 41.50 48.00
Close: C. Louise R. Close Living Trust -
Del Sur Ranch LLC - 0.00 0.00
Dickey: Randall and Billie Dickey - 0.10 0.00
e5olar Inc.; Sierra Sun Tower, LLC -
eSolar Inc.; Tumbleweed Suntower LLC -
Findley: Ruth C. Findley -
Frankenherg:Leah Frankenberg -
Healy: Jane Healy and Healy Enterprises Inc. -
Lands of Promise Mutual Water Company - ~~~~~
LeClair: Marie A. Unini and Robert J. LeClair -
Llano Del Rio Water Company - 0.00 128.44
Llano Mutual Water Company - 0.00 0.00

McWilliams: Dennis M. and Diane K. McWilliams - 0.00 0.00

Munz: 2014 Revocable Trust, Terry A. &Kathleen M.
Munz

- 2.10 2.10

Reca: John and Adrienne Reca - 52.00 85.00
Rosamond High School - 91.00 28.72
Rose Villa Apartments
SGS Antelope Valley Development, LLC
Sonrise Ranch, LLC
Triple M Property Co.
Van Dam: Craig Van Dam, Marta Van Dam, Nick Van
Dam, Janet Van Dam

Van Dam: Craig and Marta: 610
855.00 745.00

3.12
Van Dam, Nick and Janet: 30 AFY

WAGAS Land Company LLC - 682.90

William Fisher Memorial Water Company -
'~ { 21 66U.8

Blank values Indicate miszin¢ produdlon reports

StiiE! t~ 48~~4H~l~1 ~1"~#1S~#~P.'LS
~3a.6 tAta1

Gr~M~d~t~
f►r~odacttcn

2U17` Total
CY74~mdwaier
Prc~ductaon

201t'#~at
GrOwfilwateC

Wndq~ctlon
Department of Water Resources
Department of Parks and Recreation 0.08
Department of Transportation
State Lands Commission
Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation
Department of Veteran Affairs 0.00
Highway Patrol
Department of Military

Supports t~ndc+v~►c~en
Milana VII, LLC dba Rosamond Mobile Home Park 22.00 25.27

Reesdale Mutual Water Company
Juanita Eyherabide, Eyherabide Land Co., LLC and
Eyherabide Sheep Company
LV Ritter Ranch, LLC
Robar Enterprises, Inc., HI-Grade Materials, Co., and
UR, a General Partnership

420.00 315.79

Note that this may not be a complete list and may not include other Parties such as metered Small Pumpers or those granted New

Production.

TODD GROUNDWATER
Page 1 of 1 Watermaster Engineer



Appendix N
Forms

• Annual Water Production Report, 2018 Calendar Year

• Monthly Flowmeter Production Reporting Form — I meter

• Monthly Flowmeter Production Reporting Form — 2 meters

• Request for Information

• Parcel Location Request

• Small Pumper Qualifying Documentation

• Replacement Well Application (for Existing Production Rights or

New Non-Production Well)

• New Point of Extraction Application

• New Production Application

• Water Conservation Practices for Single Family Home

• Transfer Request Form

2018 Annual Report TODD GROUNDWATER

Antelope Valley Watermaster Watermaster Engineer



ANNUAL WATER PRODUCTION REPORT

2018 CALENDAR YEAR
ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER

Submit by March 1, 2019

Please mail to: Antelope Valley Watermaster, P.O. Box 3025, Quartz Hill, California 93586 OR email to:

info@avwatermaster.net. Call Watermaster Administrative staff at 661-234-8233 with questions.

PRODUCE

Name listed in Judgment if different from that above

Contact Na

Address _

Phone email

TOTAL GROUNDWATER PRODUCED re-feet in 2018

The amount of water available for use in 2018 has been summarized in tables on the Antelope Valley Watermaster

website: https://avwatermaster.net/. See Table 1 for Pubic Water Suppliers (Exhibit 3 Parties); Table 2 for Overlying

Producers (Exhibit 4 Parties): and Table 3 for Other Parties (other than those listed on Exhibits 3 and 4).

Amount of this production that is recovery of stored water (excluding Carry Over water) acre-feet in 2018

Total number of production wells

Number of these wells that have had meter documentation approval by the Watermaster Engineer

Anticipated date that the remaining wells will have approved meter documentation

Please sign below and complete the information on the next page.

certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that the information provided on this Production Report Form is true

and correct.

Signature of Producer Date

Section 18.5.12 (Production Reports) of the Judgment states: "The Watermaster Engineer shall require each Producer, other than

unmetered Small Pumper Class Members, to file an annual Production report with the Watermaster. Producers shall prepare the

Production reports in a form prescribed by the rules and regulations. The Production reports shall state the total Production for the

reporting Party, including Production per well, rounded off to the nearest tenth of an acre foot for each reporting period. The

Production reports shall include such additional information and supporting documentation as the rules and regulations may reasonably

require."

Page 1 of 2 December 18, 2018



Well Production Information for 2018

State Well

Number

APN #Associated

with the

Production

Well Designation
Production

(acre-feet)

Method of

Measurement

Imported Water Use in 2018

Supplier of

Imported Water

APN Numbers

Associated with the

Imported Water Use

Point of Delivery
Imported Water Used

(acre-feet)

Method of

Measurement

Page 2 of 2 December 18, 2018
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MONTHLY FLOWMETER PRODUCTION REPORTING FORM
TO BE SUBMITTED QUARTERLY

ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER ENGINEER

email form to ctavlor(n~toddaroundwater.com

Call Watermaster Administrative staff at 661-234-8233 with questions.

A separate form is required for each individual metered well

Review all the notes prior to completing form

Section 1: Producer, Well, and Meter Information

Producer Name:

Producer Contact Phone: Producer Contact Email:

Well Location Address:

Well Location County:

Well Location APN: Produced Water Application APN(s):

Owner's Well No.: State Well No.:

Meter Serial No./ID: Meter Manufacturer: Meter Model and Size:

A separate form is required for each individual metered well

Review all the notes prior to completing form

Section 2: Production Records

Monthly production for the of

(QUARTER) (YEAR)

Record monthly flowmeter totalizer readings for quarter in the table below and submitt to Watermaster Engineer within 30 days of quarter's end

Copy the last entry from the previous report into the first line of the table below and report subsequent production records below.

Date Time Totalizer Reading Units Production in Period Units

Last Reading Jrom Previous Report

Notes:

Parties that produce more than 10 AFY on aggregate shall monitor and record production volumes monthly and report groundwater production

volumes from each well to the Watermaster Engineer quarterly. Parties that produce up to and including 10 AFY on aggregate shall monitor and record

production volumes at least quarterly and shall report these values to the Watermaster Engineer quarterly; monthly monitoring and recording is

preferred far all parties.

Enclose a readable photograph of the totalizer readout corresponding to the last monthly measurement collected each quarter.

Reports of monthly groundwater production for the previous quarter will be submitted to the Watermaster Engineer electronically via email by the end

of the first month of each quarter. Reports shall therefore be due to the Watermaster Engineer no later than January 31, April 30, July 31, and October

31 for production in the previous quarter.

Approved Ofi/2l/18
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MONTHLY FLOWMETER PRODUCTION REPORTING FORM
TO BE SUBMITTED QUARTERLY

ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER ENGINEER

email form to ctavlor@todderoundwater.com

Call Watermaster F,dministrative staff at 661-234-8233 with questions.

A separate form is required for each individual metered well

Review all the notes prior to completing form
Notes Continued:

The first entry in the table should contain the last reading from the previous report; no calculation of Production in Period is required for this entry.

Production in the Period for subsequent entries should be calculated by subtracting the previous totalizer reading from the current totalizer reading

(e.g. in March, subtract the February reading from the March reading to calculate the volume produced between the readings).

It is the responsibility of the reporting party to track production in comparison to annual rights to produce groundwater. The Watermaster and

Watermaster Engineer will compare annual production volumes to those rights for all producing parties. Those parties that have exceeded their annual

rights to produce groundwater will be charged for replacement water at the current rate set by the Watermaster, as applicable in the terms of the

judgement. Neither the Watermaster northe Watermaster Engineer will compare quarterly production to annual rights to produce groundwater. In

addition, neither the Watermaster nor Watermaster Engineer will provide reminders or warnings if producing parties are approaching their total

production rights.

One electronic copy (scanned pdf or Excel file) of the completed Quarterly Flowmeter Production Reporting Form shall be emailed to the Watermaster

Engineer at the address indicated below:

ctavlor@todd¢rou ndwater.com

Section 3: Signature

Date of photograph of totalizer readout:

Signature and Date:

Notes:

A separate form is required for each individual metered well

Review all the notes prior to completing form

One copy to Watermaster Engineer, one copy to Producer.

gaa,wed as/n/ie
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MONTHLY FLOWMETER PRODUCTION REPORTING FORM
TO BE SUBMITTED QUARTERLY

ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER ENGINEER
email form to ctavlor@toddaroundwater.com

Call Watermaster Administrative staff at 661-234-8233 with questions.

A separate form is required for each individual metered well

Review all the notes prior to completing form

Section 1: Producer, Well, and Meter Information

Producer Name:

Producer Contact Phone: Producer Contact Email:

Well Location Address:

Well Location County:

Well Location APN: Produced Water Application APN(s):

Owner's Well No.: State Well No.:

Meter Serial No./ID: Meter Manufacturer: Meter Model and Size:

A separate form is required for each individual metered well

Review all the notes prior to completing form

Section 2: Production Records

Monthly production for the of

(QUARTER) (YEAR)

Record monthly flowmeter totalizer readings for quarter in the table below and submitt to Watermaster Engineer within 30 days of quarter's end

Copy the last entry from the previous report into the first line of the table below and report subsequent production records below.

Meter 1 on Well
Last Reading Jrom Previous Report

Meter 2 on Well
Last Reading from Previous Report

Notes•

Parties that produce more than 10 AFY on aggregate shall monitor and record production volumes monthly and report groundwater production

volumes from each well to the Watermaster Engineer quarterly. Parties that produce up to and including 10 AFY on aggregate shall monitor and record

production volumes at least quarterly and shall report these values to the Watermaster Engineer quarterly; monthly monitoring and recording is

preferred for all parties.

Enclose a readable photograph of the totalizer readout corresponding to the last monthly measurement collected each quarter.

Reports of monthly groundwater production for the previous quarter will be submitted to the Watermaster Engineer electronically via email by the end

of the first month of each quarter. Reports shall therefore be due to the Watermaster Engineer no later than January 31, April 30, July 31, and October

31 for production in the previous quarter.

Date Time Totalizer Reading Units Production in Period Units

Date Time Totalizer Reading Units Production in Period Units

L17
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MONTHLY FLOWMETER PRODUCTION REPORTING FORM
TO BE SUBMITTED QUARTERLY

ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER ENGINEER
email form to ctavlor(a~toddzroundwater.com

Call Watermaster Administrative staff at 661-234-8233 with questions.

A separate form is required for each individual metered well

Review all the notes prior to completing form
Notes Continued:

The first entry in the table should contain the last reading from the previous report; no calculation of Production in Period is required for this entry.

Production in the Period for subsequent entries should be calculated by subtracting the previous totalizer reading from the current totalizer reading

(e.g. in March, subtract the February reading from the March reading to calculate the volume produced between the readings).

It is the responsibility of the reporting party to track production in comparison to annual rights to produce groundwater. The Watermaster and

Watermaster Engineer will compare annual production volumes to those rights for all producing parties. Those parties that have exceeded their annual

rights to produce groundwater will be charged for replacement water at the current rate set by the Watermaster, as applicable in the terms of the

judgement. Neither the Watermaster nor the Watermaster Engineer will compare quarterly production to annual rights to produce groundwater. In

addition, neither the Watermaster nor Watermaster Engineer will provide reminders or warnings if producing parties are approachingtheirtotal

production rights.

One electronic copy (scanned pdf or Excel file) of the completed Quarterly Flowmeter Production Reporting Form shall be emailed to the Watermaster

Engineer at the address indicated below:

c t a y I o r@ t o d d¢ ro u n d w a to r. c o m

Section 3: Signature

Date of photograph of totalizer readout:

Signature and Date:

Notes:

A separate form is required for each individual metered well

Review all the notes prior to completing form

One copy to Watermaster Engineer, one copy to Producer.

~~



REQUEST FOR INFORMATION
ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER

Please mail to: Antelope Valley Watermaster, P.O. Box 3025, Quartz Hill, California 93586 OR email to: info@avwatermaster.net

Call Watermaster Administrative staff at 661-234-8233 with questions.

A fee may apply if the level of effort to fulfill the request is substantial. You will be notified of this fee for approval prior to initiating the

request.

Date

Requested By _

Agency/Company

Address

Phone Number

E-mail Address

I nformation/Document requested

Reason or Purpose for Request

To be completed by the Watermaster:

Charge: ❑ Yes ❑ No Amount

Date Response Provided

Approved 06/27/18



PARCEL LOCATION REQUEST*
ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER

Attach a fee of $25 to locate parcel. Make check out to: Antelope Valley Watermaster

Please mail to: Antelope Valley Watermaster, P.O. Box 3025, Quartz Hill, California 93586 OR email to:info@avwatermaster.net

Call Watermaster Administrative staff at 661-234-8233 with questions.

* This form is to be used by entities wishing to know if their property is within the Adjudicated Area of the Antelope Valley.

Landholders within the Adjudicated Area must abide by the terms of the Antelope Valley Adjudication Judgment.

Date

Property APN#(s)

Property Owner

Property Owner Mailing Ad

Property Address, if different than Owner's Address

Contact Phone Number

Contact email

To be completed by the Watermaster:

Parcel Location Findings: ❑ In ~ Out

If inside the Antelope Valley Adjudication Area, Subarea where Parcel is located:

West Antelope Subarea

Willow Springs Subarea

Central Antelope Valley Subarea

Rogers Lake Subarea

South East Subarea

Date Response Provided

Approved 06/27/18



SMALL PUMPER QUALIFYING DOCUMENTATION*
ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER

Please include an application fee according to the fee schedule posted on the Watermaster website:

https://avwatermaster.net. Make check out to: Antelope Valley Watermaster

Please mail to: Antelope Valley Watermaster, P.O. Box 3025, Quartz Hill, California 93586 OR email to:info@avwatermaster.net

Call Watermaster Administrative staff at 661-234-8233 with questions.

* This form is to be used by private entities who believe they qualify as "Small Pumpers" in the Antelope Valley Groundwater

Adjudication and are not now on the "Small Pumper Class" list. Small Pumper Class is defined as: "All private (i.e., non-

governmentJ Persons and entities that own real property within the Basin, as adjudicated, and that have been pumping less than

25 acre feet per Year on their property during any Vear from 1946 to December 23, 2015". Any new production on a parcel that

was not pumped prior to December 23, 2015 does not qualify to be in the Small Pumper Class.

Date Well Site APN#

Property Owner/Well Owner

Property Owner/Well Owner Mailing Address

Property Address, if different than Owner's Address

Contact Phone Number Contact emai

Note: Legal notices under the Judgment will be sent to the above email address. You are required to keep this

information up to date. Please notify the Watermaster of any changes.

Parcel and Well

Please attach photographs showing property and existing well (cell phone photos can be emailed, if convenient)

Please attach an 8%" by 11" paper site plan of the parcel (legible hand sketch or Google map acceptable) showing:

1. Location of parcel features, including major buildings, landscaped areas, all existing wells, roads, etc.

2. Location of the existing wells) with estimated dimensions in feet from well to nearest cross streets.

Please provide supporting documentation listed below, to the extent readily available:

• Documentation that the well was drilled on the property prior to December 23, 2015 (e.g., County well

permit, DWR Well Completion Report, etc.).

• If sufficient documentation is not provided in bullet above, property owner agrees to allow Watermaster

Engineer or designated agent access to the property at amutually-agreed upon time to physically inspect

the well and property.

• Uses of the existing well (for example, domestic, irrigation, livestock, etc.). Also provide an estimate of

annual household occupancy (number of residents), history of land irrigation and acreage, and history of

livestock/animals that resided on the property and that relied on the well during the period 1946 — 2015.

• Land deed/parcel information indicating use of land and/or historical aerial photographs of land showing

land use.

• Other pertinent information that demonstrates the use and production amounts of the well during the 1946

to 2015 time period.

Voluntary Information on Existing Well, if readily available:

Existing Well Latitude/Longitude (or x, y)

Existing Well pumping capacity gpm Average annual production from Existing Well acre-feet/year

Uses) of the Existing Well (agricultural, domestic, industrial, municipal, monitoring, etc.)

Existing Well construction date Casing Materials Casing Diameter,

Surface seal material and depth Screened interval

Well Depth feet Ground surface elevation

Depth to water,

inches

feet below ground surface

feet above mean sea level

feet Is there a meter on the well?

Please attach a copy of the DWR Well Completion Report, if readily available.

Page 1 of 2 Approved 02/27/19



Signatures

understand and agree to abide by the terms of the Antelope Valley Adjudication Judgment. I certify that I own the

property on which the well is located and it will be used for private (i.e., non-governmental) use. I also certify that the

existing well on the property has been pumping less than 25 acre-feet per year (AFY) during any year from 1946 to

December 23, 2015. I understand that if I pump more than 3 AFY from my property I may have to install a meter and

pay a replacement water assessment. I understand that these water rights are not transferable from the parcel.

certify that I did not "opt out" of the Small Pumper Class during the Adjudication process. I further certify that the

information given in this application is correct to the best of my knowledge and that the signature below, whether

original, electronic, or photocopied, is authorized and valid, and is affixed with the intent to be enforceable.

Signature of Property Owner/Well Owner,

Signature of Consultant/Agent ate

To be completed by the Watermaster:

Watermaster Staff Approval

Watermaster Board Approval Date

Date

Date

Page 2 of 2 Approved 02/27/19



REPLACEMENT WELL APPLICATION (FOR EXISTING PRODUCTION RIGHTS)*
ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER

Please include an application fee according to the fee schedule posted on the Watermaster website:

https://avwatermaster.net. Make check out to: Antelope Valley Watermaster

Please mail to: Antelope Valley Watermaster, P.O. Box 3025, Quartz Hill, California 93586 OR email to: info@avwatermaster.net

Call Watermaster Administrative staff at 661-234-8233 with questions.

*This form is for applicants with known production rights to request a replacement well within 300 feet of an existing well owned by the

applicant. If the proposed well is greater than 300 feet from an existing well, please use the New Point of Extraction Application instead

of this form. If new production rights are being requested, please use the New Production Application instead of this form.

This form can also be used for non-production wells such as monitoring wells, test wells, and cathodic protection wells that will pump

only minimal amounts for groundwater sampling. Note that the application fee is lower for these types of wells (see fee scheduleJ.

Date

Property Owner/Well Owner

Property Owner/Well Owner Mailing Address

Property Address, if different than Owner's Address

Contact Phone Number

Well Site APN#

Contact email

Owner's name as Appears in Antelope Valley Adjudication Judgment_

Production Rights as listed in Antelope Valley Adjudication Judgment

Driller Information

Drilling Company

Drilling Company Address

Drilling Company Phone Number, Drilling Company ema

Existing Well Information, if applicable

Will the New Well replace an Existing Well? Existing Well Latitude/Longitude (or x, y)

Will the New Well be used in order to stop sharing a well? Please provide a copy of the shared well agreement.

If so, please provide estimations of annual Production of the Shared Well by year for the 1946 through 2015 time period to

the best of your knowledge

Estimated future annual production of the Existing Well once the New Well has been constructed

Will the Existing Well be destroyed? If not, why not?

Existing Well pumping capacity gpm Average annual production from Existing Well acre-feet/year

Uses) of the Existing Well (agricultural, domestic, industrial, municipal, monitoring, etc.)

Status (active, inactive)

Existing Well construction date Casing Materials Casing Diameter

Surface seal material and depth Screen depths (top/bottom)

Well Depth feet Ground surface elevation _

Depth to water feet

Please attach a copy of the DWR Well Completion Report, if available.

acre-feet/year

feet above mean sea level

inches

feet

Page 1 of 2 Approved 02/27/19



New Well Information

Will this be a New or Replacement Well?

Extraction form if greater than 300 feet)

New Well Latitude/Longitude (or x, y)

Distance from Existing Well (please use the Chanpe of Point of

Uses) of New Well (agricultural, domestic, industrial, municipal, monitoring, etc.)

Estimated New Well pumping capacity gpm Estimated annual production from New Well acre-feet/year

Do other wells exist on this property? If Yes, indicate if active, inactive, or abandoned and show on Site Plan

Will a meter be installed on the well at the time of construction? __ If not, when will the meter be installed?

y Site Plan

An 8%:" by 11" paper site plan must be attached to this application showing:

1. Location of site features, including major buildings, landscaped areas, all existing wells, roads, etc.

2. North arrow and scale.

3. Locations of proposed well and existing wells) with dimensions in feet between wells and to nearest cross streets.

Proposed Well Construction

Please attach a diagram showing proposed well construction, including maximum well depth, casing diameter and

materials, ground surface elevation, screen intervals, and estimated pumping capacity. A completed DWR Well

Completion Report is required to be submitted to the Antelope Valley Watermaster upon completion of well.

Signatures

understand and agree to abide by the terms of the Antelope Valley Adjudication Judgment. I certify that the

information given in this application is correct to the best of my knowledge and that the signature below, whether

original, electronic, or photocopied, is authorized and valid, and is affixed with the intent to be enforceable.

understand that it is my responsibility, as the well owner, to notify the Antelope Valley Watermaster of any changes

in the purpose or pumping capacity of this well, from which, is indicated on this application. I also understand that

additional information may be required if there is a suspected potential for a material injury as defined in the

Judgment. If this well is a monitoring well, I agree to provide the Watermaster with all publicly available monitoring

data.

Signature of Property Owner/Well Owner.

Signature of Well Driller

Signature of Consultant/Agent

Date

ate

Date

To be completed by the Watermaster:

Watermaster Staff Approval Date

Watermaster Board Approval Date

This application is not for a well construction permit; a completed and approved application must be submitted to

the appropriate well permitting agency (e.g., Kern or Los Angeles Counties) for a well construction permit, if the well

is to be installed within the Antelope Valley Adjudicated Area.
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NEW POINT OF EXTRACTION APPLICATION*
ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER

Please include an application fee according to the fee schedule posted on the Watermaster website:

https://avwatermaster.net. Make check out to: Antelope Valley Watermaster

Mail to: Antelope Valley Watermaster, P.O. Box 3025, Quartz Hill, California 93586 OR email to:info@avwatermaster.net

Call Watermaster Administrative staff at 661-234-8233 with questions.

*This form is to be used by applicants with existing production rights to install a new well at a new point of extraction as defined by the

Judgment. Please use the Replacement Well Application if the proposed well will be within 300 feet from an existing well from which the

rights to produce groundwater originate. If new production rights are being requested, please use the New Production Application.

Well Site APN#

Property Owner/Well Owner

Property Owner/Well Owner Mailing Address

Property Address, if different than Owner's Address

Contact Phone Number

Owner's name as Appears in Antelope Valley Adjudication Judgment_

Production Rights as listed in Antelope Valley Adjudication Judgment

Driller Information

Drilling Company

Drilling Company Address

Drilling Company Phone Number,

Contact ema

Drilling Company email

Existing Well Information, if applicable and if not already provided to the Watermaster Engineer

Will the New Well replace an Existing Well? Existing Well Latitude/Longitude (or x, y)

Will the New Well be used in order to stop sharing a well? Please provide a copy of the shared well agreement.

Estimated future annual production of the Existing Well once the New Well has been constructed

Will the Existing Well be destroyed? If not, why not?

Existing Well pumping capacity gpm Average annual production from Existing Well acre-feet/year

Uses) of the Existing Well (agricultural, domestic, industrial, municipal, monitoring, etc.)

Status (active, inactive)

Existing Well construction date Casing Materials Casing Diameter inches

Surface seal material and depth

Well Depth

Depth to water.

Screened interval feet below ground surface

et Ground surface elevation feet above mean sea level

feet

Please attach a copy of the DWR Well Completion Report, if available.

re-feet/year
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New Well Information

Will this be a New or Replacement Well? Distance from Existing Well (please use the New or Replacement

Well Application for Existing Production Rights form if the distance will be within 300 feet)

New Well Latitude/Longitude (or x, y)

Uses) of New Well (agricultural, domestic, industrial, municipal, monitoring, etc.)

Estimated New Well pumping capacity gpm Estimated annual production from New Well acre-feet/year

Do other wells exist on this property? If Yes, indicate if active, inactive, or abandoned and show on Site Plan

Will a meter be installed on the well at the time of construction? If not, when will the meter be installed?

Proposed New Well Construction

yPlease attach a diagram showing proposed well construction, including maximum well depth, casing diameter and

materials, ground surface elevation, screen intervals, and estimated pumping capacity. A completed DWR Well

Completion Report is required to be submitted to the Antelope Valley Watermaster upon completion of well.

Site Plan

y Please attach an 8'/" by 11" paper site plan (legible hand written on Google map acceptable) with a north arrow and

approximate scale to this application showing:

1. Location of site features, including major buildings, landscaped areas, all existing wells, roads, etc.

2. Locations of proposed well and existing wells) with dimensions in feet from wells to nearest cross streets.

Material Injury (written statement not required for Small Pumper Class members requesting a combined total of <3 AFY)

A written statement describing how the New Point of Extraction will not cause Material Injury. Material Injury could be in

the form of significant and unreasonable 1. Chronic lowering of groundwater levels such that neighboring wells are

impacted, 2. Reduction of groundwater storage, 3. Degraded water quality, 4. Land subsidence, 5. Depletions of

interconnected surface water such that beneficial uses are impacted, or other adverse physical impact to the basin or

to another Producer.

Signatures

understand and agree to abide by the terms of the Antelope Valley Adjudication Judgment. I certify that the

information given in this application is correct to the best of my knowledge and that the signature below, whether

original, electronic, or photocopied, is authorized and valid, and is affixed with the intent to be enforceable.

understand that it is my responsibility, as the well owner, to notify the Antelope Valley Watermaster of any changes

in the purpose or pumping capacity of this well, from which, is indicated on this application. 1 also understand that

additional information may be required if there is a suspected potential for a material injury as defined in the

Judgment.

Signature of Property Owner/Well Owner,

Signature of Well Driller

Date

Date

Signature of Consultant/Agent Date

To be completed by the Watermaster:

Watermaster Engineer Approval

Watermaster Board Approva

Date

Date

This application is not for a well construction permit; a completed and approved application must be submitted to

the appropriate well permitting agency (e.g., Kern or Los Angeles Counties) for a well construction permit, if the well

is to be installed within the Antelope Valley Adjudicated Area.

Page 2 of 2 Approved 02/27/19



NEW PRODUCTION APPLICATION
ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER

Please include an application fee according to the fee schedule posted on the Watermaster website:

https://avwatermaster.net. Make check out to: Antelope Valley Watermaster

Mail to: Antelope Valley Watermaster, P.O. Box 3025, Quartz Hill, California 93586 OR email to:info@avwatermaster.net

Call Watermaster Administrative staff at 661-234-8233 with questions.

Date

Property Owner/Well Owner

Property Owner/Well Owner Mailing Add

Contact Phone Number

New Well Latitude/Longitude (or x, y) Antelope Valley Subarea:

Use of New Well (Agricultural, Domestic, Industrial, Municipal, Monitoring, etc.)

If Domestic well, will well be used to supply one single family household only? Yes No.

Do other wells exist on this property? Yes No. If Yes, indicate if active, inactive, or abandoned and show on Site Plan.

When will a meter be installed on the well?

New Production requests are to include the following (Section 18.5.13 of the Judgment):

1. Payment of an application fee sufficient to recover all costs of application review, field investigation, reporting, and hearing,

and other associated costs, incurred by the Watermaster and Watermaster Engineer in processing the application for New

Production. Please attach a check to this application submittal for the fee associated with a New Production application

as per the fee schedule posted on the Watermaster website. Check can be made out to Antelope Valley Watermaster.

2. Written summary describing the proposed quantity, sources of supply, season of use, purpose of use, place of use, manner of

delivery, and other pertinent information regarding the New Production.

3. Mapsl identifying the location of the proposed New Production, including Basin Subarea.

4. Well informations including proposed well design, estimated annual pumping, and agreement to install a meter in accordance

with the Rules &Regulations. Plus, a statement that once the well is installed, the applicant will provide water well permits,

specifications and well-log reports, pump specifications and testing results, and water meter specifications associated with the

New Production.

5. Written confirmation that applicant has obtained all necessary entitlements and permits including all applicable Federal, State,

County, and local land use entitlements and other permits necessary to commence the New Production.

6. Written confirmation that applicant has complied with applicable laws and regulations including all applicable Federal, State,

County, and local laws, rules and regulations, including but not limited to, the California Environmental Quality Act (Public

Resources Code §§ 21000, et. seq.).

7. Preparation of a water conservation plan, approved and stamped by a California licensed and registered professional civil

engineer with expertise in groundwater hydrology, demonstrating that the New Production will be designed, constructed and

i mplemented consistent with California best water management practices.

8. Preparation of an analysis of the economic impact of the New Production on the Basin and other Producers in the Subarea of

the Basin.

9. Preparation of an analysis of the physical impact of the New Production on the Basin and other Producers in the Subarea of

the Basin.

10. A written statement, signed by a California licensed and registered professional civil engineer with expertise in groundwater

hydrology, determining that the New Production will not cause Material Iniurv. Material injury could be in the form of

significant and unreasonable 1. Chronic lowering of groundwater levels, 2. Reduction of groundwater storage, 3. Degraded

1 Maps are to include North arrow and scale, location of proposed well with dimensions in feet from well to nearest cross streets,

and location of site features, including major buildings, landscaped areas, all existing wells, roads, etc.

z Please attach a diagram showing proposed well construction, including maximum well depth, casing diameter and materials,

ground surface elevation, screen intervals, and estimated pumping capacity. A completed DWR Well Completion Report is

required to be submitted to the Antelope Valley Watermaster upon completion of well.
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water quality, 4. Land subsidence, 5. Depletions of interconnected surface water such that beneficial uses are impacted.

11. Written confirmation that the applicant agrees to paV the applicable Replacement Water Assessment for any New Production.

12. Other pertinent information which the Watermaster Engineer may require.

In addition, all New Production applicants who are not Parties to the Judgment3 are to comply with Section 20.9 of the

Judgment, consult with the Watermaster Engineer, and seek the Watermaster's stipulation to allow them to intervene to

become bound by the Judgment prior to commencing Production. The non-Party applicant must file a motion to

intervene with the court that includes reference to their effort to obtain the Watermaster's stipulation to the

intervention. It is strongly recommended that the non-Party applicant consult with a lawyer to assist them with

compliance with Section 20.9 of the Judgment. If applicant believes they are part of the Non-Pumper Class (see footnote

below) and therefore does not need to intervene in the Judgment, please provide supporting documents or statements

demonstrating adherence to items 1-6 in the footnote.

SIGNATURES

understand and agree to be bound by the terms of the Antelope Valley Adjudication Judgment and to pay the

applicable Replacement Water Assessment for any New Production. I certify that the information provided on this

Request for New Production is correct to the best of my knowledge and that the signature below, whether original,

electronic, or photocopied, is authorized and valid, and is affixed with the intent to be enforceable. I understand that

it is my responsibility to notify the Antelope Valley Watermaster of any changes in any of the information provided

on this form within 15 days. I also understand that additional information may be required if there is a suspected

potential for a material injury as defined in the Judgment.

Signature of Applicant Date

To be completed by the Watermaster:

Watermaster Engineer Approval Date

Watermaster Board Approval Date

NOTE: This application is not for a well construction permit; a completed and approved application must be submitted to the

appropriate well permitting agency (e.g., Kern or Los Angeles Counties) for a well construction permit, if the well is to be installed within

the Antelope Valley Adjudicated Area.

3 An applicant may already be a Party to the Judgment if they are part of the Non-Pumper Class (Willis Class) and meet the

criteria described in Section 3.5.22 of the Judgment, as follows:

1. They are a private party and not a "governmental" entity.

2. They (or their successor in interest—see no.4 below) own real property within the Adjudicated Area and were not

pumping water at the time of the Judgment being entered as of December 2015.

3. They (or their successor in interest—see no. 4 below) did not pump water on their property "at any time during the

five Years preceding January 18, 2006."

4. Non-Pumper class status applies to those who are successors in title or interest (via gift or purchase or inheritance or

otherwise) to allon-Pumper Class member's land that meets the above criteria.

5. Note the term "Non-Pumper Class Member" does not apply to those who opted out or to those connected to a

municipal water system, public utility, or mutual water company from which they receive water service. Also, their land

cannot be considered "improved" by the Assessor's Office of Los Angeles or Kern County, unless the person declares

under penalty of perjury that they do not pump and have never pumped water on those properties.

6. Finally, the Non-Pumper Class does not include anyone individually named in the Public Water Suppliers' cross-

complaintunless those persons opted into the Non-Pumper Class.
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Water Conservation Practices for Single Family Home

Date

Property Owner/Well Owner

Property Owner/Well Owner Mailing Addre

Contact Phone Number Contact email

Use of New Well (Agricultural, Domestic, Industrial, Municipal, Monitoring, etc.)

Estimated annual pumping from New Well acre-feet/year and well capacity,

Briefly describe how use was estimated (attach backup information as necessary)

Square footage of home

Lot/Parcel Size

Number of full bathrooms

Number of half-baths

Is there (or will there be) a pool? Size of pool

Is there (or will there be) a spa/hot tub?

Area to contain irrigated landscaping

Description and area if each landscaping type

Will there be any fruit trees? Type and how many?

Please provide details on potential water use other than small domestic household inside use and outside irrigation as

described above. This could include water for farm animals, etc.

Water Conservation Checklist

Please indicate which of the following measures will be used:

❑ ENERGY STAR° water-conserving appliances installed, e.g., dishwasher, washing machine appl.

❑ Water-efficient showerhead using conventional aerator or venturi technology for flow rate < 2.5 gpm fixture

❑ Water-efficient sink faucets/aerators < 2.2 gallons/minute

❑ Ultra-low flow (< 1.6 gpm/flush) toilets installed

❑ Low-volume, non-spray irrigation system installed, e.g., drip irrigation, bubblers, drip emitters, soaker hose,

stream-rotator spray heads

❑ Weather-based irrigation controllers, e.g., computer-based weather record

❑ Collect and use rainwater as permitted by local code

❑ Separate and re-use greywater as permitted by local code

❑ Composting or waterless toilet as permitted by local code

❑ Drought-resistant, native plants (site-appropriate)

❑ Xeriscape landscaping

❑ Evapotranspiration-based irrigation controller with a rain sensor

❑ Soil moisture sensor based irrigation controller

ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER

Proposed Well Site APN#

Size of spa/hot tube

square-feet

gallons/minute

Ilons)
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Please provide additional details here

SIGNATURES

understand and agree to abide by the terms of the Antelope Valley Adjudication Judgment. I certify that the

information provided on this Water Conservation Practices for Single Family Home form is correct to the best of my

knowledge and that the signature below, whether original, electronic, or photocopied, is authorized and valid, and is

affixed with the intent to be enforceable. I understand that it is my responsibility to notify the Antelope Valley

Watermaster of any changes in any of the information provided on this form within 15 days.

Signature of Applicant Date
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TRANSFER REQUEST FORM
ANTELOPE VALLEY WATERMASTER

Please include an application fee according to the fee schedule posted on the Watermaster website:

https://avwatermaster.net. Make check out to: Antelope Valley Watermaster

Mail to: Antelope Valley Watermaster, P.O. Box 3025, Quartz Hill, California 93586 OR email to:info@avwatermaster.net

Call Watermaster Administrative staff at 661-234-8233 with questions. Transfer Requests review could take up to 60 days.

PERMANENT TRANSFER? Yes or No or TEMPORARY/ONE-TIME TRANSFER? Yes or No

IF TRANSFER DUE TO CHANGE IN LAND OWNERSHIP, PLEASE ATTACH DEED AS PROOF OF SALE OR A PRELIMINARY TITLE

REPORT

Date Requested Amount Requested acre-feet

If Temporary, Calendar Years) to be Used

Which Party will be paying the annual Administrative Assessments) for the transferred water?

Is either Party a member of the Antelope Valley United Mutuals Group? Yes or N

TRANSFER FROM (SELLER/TRANSFEROR):

Name Street Address

City State Zip Code

emailPhone

APN#(s) where transfer originates (i.e., production well location(s))

APN#(s) (or water supply service area) where groundwater was

TRANSFER TO (BUYER/TRANSFEREE):

Name _ _Street Add

City State,

Phone ema

Zip Code,

Note: Legal notices under the Judgment will be sent to the above email address. You are required to keep this

information up to date. Please notify the Watermaster of any changes.

APN#(s) (or water supply service area) where transfer will be pumped and used

Purpose of Transfer:

❑ Permanent Transfer resulting from Property Sale/Transfer [PLEASE ATTACH DEED OR PRELIMINARY TITLE REPORT]

❑ Additional Source of Water

❑ Other, explain

Water is to be Transferred from/to: (transferred water retains its original water type):

❑ Current Year Production Right: amount acre-feet

❑ Carry Over Water: amount acre-feet

❑ Storage: amount

❑ Other, explain

acre-feet

(Transferred water retains its original water type — e.g., transferred Carry Over Water remains Carry Over water)
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WATER QUALITY AND WATER LEVELS (not required if transfer is in association of change of land ownership)

Are Parties aware of any water quality issues that exist in either the area transferred from or to? Yes or No

If yes, please explain:

Please provide groundwater elevations in the areas affected by the transfer

Are Parties aware of any water level issues that exist in either the area transferred from or to? Yes or No

If yes, please explain:

MAPS

yPlease include a map of the area where the water was used by the Transferor and a map of the area where the water is

intended to be used by the Transferee. Include locations of production facilities involved in or affected by the Transfer. This

map can include all possible locations of past source and use and future source and use.

SECURITY INTEREST OR LIENHOLDERS

For Permanent Transfers, please provide a list of all parties with a recorded security interest, deed of trust or a lien in such

real property or in crops growing or to be grown thereon, and attach copies of written notices to such parties and copies of

return receipts.

The transfer shall be conditioned upon:

1. Transferee shall succeed to the right of Transferor under the terms of the Judgment.

2. Transferee shall only use Transferred waters for reasonable and beneficial uses.

3. Any Transferee not already a Party to the Judgment must intervene and become a Party to the Judgment.

4. All applicable assessments (Administrative and Balance) and transfer fees are paid in full.

5. If the Watermaster determines that the transfer has resulted in a material injury, the parties will be required

to work with the Watermaster Board to mitigate that material injury.

6. For Permanent Transfers, the Parties agree to duly record in the office of the appropriate County Recorder a

document reflecting the Permanent Transfer reflected in this Transfer Form.

SIGNATURES

understand and agree to abide by the terms of the Antelope Valley Adjudication Judgment. I certify that the

information provided on this Transfer Request Form is correct to the best of my knowledge and that the signature

below, whether original, electronic, or photocopied, is authorized and valid, and is affixed with the intent to be

enforceable. I understand that it is my responsibility to notify the Antelope Valley Watermaster of any changes in any

of the information provided on this form within 15 days. I also understand that additional information may be

required if there is a suspected potential for a material injury as defined in the Judgment.

Signature ofTransferor Date

Signature of Transferee Date

To be completed by the Watermaster:

Watermaster Engineer Approval Date

Watermaster Board Approval Date
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RAFTELIS

March 6, 2019

Mr. Matthew Knudson

General Manager

Antelope Valley State Water Contractors Association

2029 East Avenue Q

Palmdale, CA 93550

Subject: Financial Analysis Study for Replacement Water Assessment

Dear Mr. Knudson,

Raftelis Financial Consultants, Inc. (Raftelis) is pleased to provide this Financial Analysis Study for Replacement

Water Assessment Report (Report) for the Antelope Valley State Water Contractors Association (AVSWCA). The

primary objective of the study was to perform a financial analysis of the imported water costs associated with

AVSWCA's groundwater basin recharge, and to develop Replacement Water Assessment fees to be assessed to

property owners or agencies outside of AVSWCA's service area.

This Report summarizes the key findings and recommendations related to the financial analysis conducted as part

of the study. It has been a pleasure working with you, and we thank you and other key staff from Antelope Valley-

East Kern Water Agency, Littlerock Creek Irrigation District, and Palmdale Water District For the support

provided during the course of this study.

Sincerely,

Raftelis Financial Consultants, Inc.

Sudlur Pardiwala

Executive Vice President

~A,,,~'~;..~...~
Charles Diamond

Consultant

445 S. Figueroa Street, Suite 2270
Los Angeles, CA 90071

www.raftelis.com
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Introduction
The Antelope Valley State Water Contractors Association (AVSWCA) is a joint powers authority created in 1999

to optimize the use of water resources and to protect surface water and groundwater storage within the Antelope

Valley. AVSWCA's three member agencies include the Antelope Valley-East Kern Water Agency (AVEK),

Litderock Creek Irrigation District (LCID), and Palmdale Water District (PWD). Each of the member agencies has

a contract with the California Department of Water Resources for enritlement to and delivery of imported water

from the State Water Project(SWP).

The AVSWCA's service area lies within the adjudicated Antelope Valley Groundwater Basin. As part of the

adjudication judgement, the Antelope Valley Watermaster is tasked with determining the amount of imported

Replacement Water from the SWP to be used to recharge the groundwater basin in order to ensure that that the

basin's Total Safe Yield is not exceeded. Imported SWP water to be utilized as Replacement Water will be

purchased from AVSWCA's member agencies or other entities. AVSCWA is therefore interested in determining

the per acre-foot (AF) cost for Replacement Water Assessments to be charged to groundwater producers within

and surrounding its service area who do not have any entitlement in the SWP or rights in the Groundwater Basin.

Property owners subject to the proposed Replacement Water Assessments that reside within the service areas of

AVSCWA's three member agencies contribute to the recovery of SWP capital costs through property taxes.

However, property owners outside of the three member agencies' service areas (herein referred to as "Outside

Users") do not own any entitlement rights and do not contribute to SWP costs. Therefore, it is appropriate for

Replacement Water Assessments to be charged to Outside Users who are not SWP members or own rights in the

Groundwater Basin. Although AVSWCA has preliminarily set the Replacement Water Assessment fee for

groundwater users within its member agencies' service areas at $415 per acre-foot for 2018, Replacement Water

Assessment fees for Outside Users have to be developed.

The AVSWCA engaged Raftelis Financial Consultants, Inc. (Raftelis) in 2018 to conduct a Financial Analysis

Study for Replacement Water Assessment (Study). The primary objective of the Study was to conduct financial

analyses necessary to develop the proposed Replacement Water Assessments for Outside Users related to

AVSWCA's groundwater recharge activities. This Financial Analysis Study for Replacement Water Assessment

Report (Report) details the analysis performed by Raftelis as well as all results and recommendations.

Methodology &Assumptions
METHODOLOGY

Based on discussions with staff from each of AVSWCA's member agencies, Raftelis recommends establishing

Replacement Water Assessment fees for Outside Users based on fixed cost payments made by each member

agency to the California Department of Water Resources for the importation of SWP water as well as the variable

cost associated with delivering Replacement Water. The member agencies and the property owners within their

service areas continue to fund the fixed costs associated with importing SWP water. Therefore, if any SWP water

enritlement of the three member agencies is utilized as Replacement Water by Outside Users, it is reasonable and

equitable for the Outside Users to pay a Replacement Water Assessment based in part on the investments of the

SWP members. AVSWCA's member agencies have been paying the capital costs of the SWP since the 1960s. The

present value of those investments in the SWP should be accounted for in determining a fair price for the

Replacement Water.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS STUDY FOR REPLACEMENT WATER ASSESSMENT i



The primary steps required to calculate the proposed Replacement Water Assessment to charge to Outside Users

are outlined below:

Calculate the unit rate designed to recover SWP fixed costs:

a) Determine the present value of SWP fixed costs through 2017 (delivery data, used in the analysis,

was available through 2017) for all three member agencies as defined in Tables A, C, D, E, F, and

G of each member agencies' water supply contract with the California Department of Water

Resources. The SWP fixed costs included are the Capital Cost Component of the Transportation

Charge, the Minimum OMP&R Component of the Transportation Charge, Delta Water Charges,

Water System Revenue Bond Surcharge and Off-Aqueduct Power Facilities costs. The capital

costs in each year is then converted to 2018 dollars using an average cost escalation factor of 3.9

percent which is equal to the average annual increase in the Consumer Price Index (CPI) between

1962 and 2017 as shown below in Table 1.

Table 1: Annual Cost Escalation

~naal-Cost Escalation 3.90%a Average CPlfrom 19 2 to

b) Calculate the fixed payment per acre-foot by dividing the result from Step la by total SWP

deliveries received through 2017 across all three member agencies. This number represents the

value of the SWP delivered water in dollars per acre-foot. This would represent the approximate

value of purchasing SWP water entitlement and the corresponding deliveries.

2. Calculate the unit rate designed to recover variable water costs:

a) Take the existing Untreated Water Availability Charge rate in dollars per acre-foot for agricultural

water delivered under terms of water service agreements through AVEK-owned facilities and

adjust to account for 10°/o water loss due to leakage.

3. Add the SWP fixed cost unit rate from Step 1 and the variable cost unit rate from Step 2 to determine the

Replacement Water Assessment for Outside Users to be charged by AVSWCA.

The following key inputs were utilized to calculate the proposed Water Replacement Assessment fees presented in

this Report. Firstly, total SWP deliveries through 2017 to each member agency are shown below in Error!

Reference source not found.. AVEK and LCID first began receiving SWP water in 1972, while PWD began

receiving SWP water in 1985. Information on SWP deliveries was provided to Raftelis by member agency staff.

Table 2: Total SWP Deliveries through 2017 ire Acre-Feet

AVEg 2,242,419 AF

LCID 13,310 AF

e :. °

Total ~ 2,594,38~i AF
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Analysis &Results
This section outlines the calculation of the proposed Replacement Water Assessment for AVSWCA. Table 3 below

shows the determination of the present value of total annual SWP fined cost payments for each member agency

through 2017. As stated previously, SWP fixed costs included in this analysis are the Capital Cost Component of

the Transportation Charge, the Minimum OMP&R Component of the Transportation Charge, Delta Water

Charges, Water System Revenue Bond Surcharges, and Off-Aqueduct Power Facilities costs. Each of these annual

costs in nominal USD are contained in Tables A, C, D, E, F, and G of each member agency's Water Supply

Contract with the California Department of Water Resources. Raftelis then converted these costs into 2018 USD

assuming annual cost escalation of 3.90% (as shown previously in Error! Reference source not found.). Table 3

below shows a summary of total SWP fixed cost payments through 2017 for each member agency in both nominal

and 2018 USD. Please refer to Appendices A, B, and C for detailed SWP Fixed costs by year and category for

AVEK, LCID, and PWD respectively.

Table 3: Present Value of SWP Fixed Costs

PWD S?7,?A1,~75 _ $1'60,873.,533

Table 4 below shows the development of SWP fixed cost payments per acre-foot of delivery for AVSWCA's

member agencies. The present value of total SWP fixed cost payments (from Table 3) is simply divided by the

SWP entitlements in acre-feet (from Table 2) to arrive at unit cost per acre-foot. This result represents the unit rate

to recover SWP fixed costs as described previously in Step lb on page 2. The SWP fixed cost unit rate constitutes

the first of two rate components used to determine the proposed Replacement Water Assessment.

Table 4: Calculation of Unit Rate to Recover SWP Fixed Costs

1 Present Value of Tatal SWP Fixed Cost Payments $1,288,222,022 Table 3

2 Total SWP Deliveries 2,594,388 AF Table 2

The second of the two rate components used to determine the proposed Replacement Water Assessment is the

variable cost unit rate. This unit rate is designed to recover the variable cost of Replacement Water and is

determined by taking the 2019 Unheated Water Availability Charge rate of $406 per AF for agricultural water

delivered under terms of water service agreements through AVEK-owned facilities and adjusting to account for

an assumed 10% of water loss due to the recharge process. This calculation is shown in Equation 1 below.

Equation 1: Variable Cost Unit Rate — 
$406JAF _ ~451.11/AF

100% —10%
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LCID $8,009,081 $17,901,835



The proposed Replacement Water Assessment for Outside Users is determined by sinnply adding the SWP fixed

cost unit rate (From Line 3 in Table 4) to the variable cost unit rate shown in Equation 1. The proposed

Replacement Water Assessments for Outside is shown below in Table 5.

Table 5: Proposed Replacement Water Assessment for Outside Users

;. ,. ,
I ~fiNP F~c~d ~bst Linn Rate ~9,b 93 / ~~ ' Table':4

2 Variable Cost Unit Rate $451.11 / AF Equation 1

Figure 1 shows the proposed Replacement Water Assessment per acre-foot, as determined above in Table 5. The

proposed Replacement Water Assessment of $948.04 per acre-foot is split relatively evenly between the SWP fixed

cost unit rate (52.4%) and variable cost unit rate (47.6%).

Figure 1: Proposed Replacement Water Assessment for Outside Users

Replacemerrt Water Asse~ment for Oubide Users ($/AF)

sl,°°° 948.04
s9ao
ssoo

5700

5600

5500

54ao

$sao
5200

Sloo

So

Total

■ SWP Fi~aed Cost Unit Rate ■Variable Cost Unit Rate
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APPENDIX A: SWP FIXED CUSTS - AVEK



Tables A, C, D, E, F, and G

of the

Water Supply Contract

between

The State of California

Department of Water Resources

ANTELOPE VALLEY-EAST KERN WATER AGENCY

(in dollars except w here olherw ise noted)

Tronsportatlon Charge

Capital Costs (Table D)

Minimum
Annual OMPSR Water System

Calendar Payment of Mnual Interest Component Detta Weter Revenue Bond Off-Aqueduct

Year Principal Payment (Table E & G) Char es Surchar e Power Facilities

1960

7961

1962 - -

1963 3,656 48,476 - - 50,132 411,121

1964 7,02D 75,472 82,492 651,106

7965 13,398 47,551 80,949 463,010

1966 24,589 178,207 202,796 1,482,750

1967 47,671 250,068 297.737 2,095,201

7968 77,671 591,387 114,164 763,222 5,304,717

7969 174,658 867,559 88,040 1,070,257 6,976,698

1970 152,774 1,166,568 135,082 1,454,422 9,125,081

1971 188,395 1,053,317 186,373 1,428,085 8,623,524

1972 211,785 1,406,105 377,285 160,758 2,155,921 12,529,912

1973 227,084 1,734,633 461,155 222,207 2,845,079 14,795,794

1974 239,569 1,690,415 164,921 279,090 - 2,373,895 12,780,972

1975 253,219 1,507,558 574,928 319,822 2,655,527 13,760,026

7976 266,367 1,481,561 405,268 431,018 - 2,584,214 12,887,880

1977 280,012 1,476,986 638,666 468,922 2,865,586 13,754,693

1976 294,057 1,496,168 893,808 600,180 - 3,084,011 14,247,472

1979 309,317 1,480,783 712,340 720,173 3,222,613 14,328,955

7980 325,592 1,477,558 1,000,550 857,818 3,661,518 15,669,366

1981 351,120 2,268,109 733,695 1,355,100 4,708,024 19,391,613

1982 366,401 938,765 1,436,719 1,551,434 - 4,293,319 17,019,738

1883 392,086 1,617,658 2,407,048 1,110,994 1,083,881 6,811,887 25,228,392

1984 421,808 2,625,413 2,004,476 450,4D5 2,499,848 8,001,952 29,384,923

7985 449,800 1,790,324 1,944,232 565,881 3,749,257 8,499,494 30,040,430

1986 475,597 1,745,690 2,206,227 635,086 3,159,857 8,222,437 27,970,361

1987 502,492 1,782,829 2,533,025 fi52,450 3,167,759 8,838,555 28,282,844

1988 527,761 1,813,260 2,193,438 711,641 64,266 2,688,113 7,998,479 25,204,253

7989 553,780 1,824,686 3,193,094 2,083,593 205,668 2,357,669 10,218,490 30,991,144

1990 586,519 1,875,427 7,719,784 2,207,887 185,010 2,528,825 9,043,032 26,396,686
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Tables A, C, D, E, F, and G

of the

Water Supply Contract

between

The State of California

Department of Water Resources

ANTELOPE VALLEY-EAST KERN WATER AGENCY

(in dollars except w here olherw ise noted)

Transportation Charge

Capital Costs(Table D)

Minimum
Annual OMPBR Water System

Calendar Payment of Annual Interest ~pmponent Delta Water Revenue Bond Off-Aqueduct

Year Principal Payment Table E8 G Char es Surchar e Power FacllRies

1,048,414 8,849,376 24,858,9831991 618,476 1,785,880 2,fi44,074 2,454,678 296,854

1992 653,263 1,773,406 2,888,849 2,804,695 402,015 2,780,199 11,392,447 30,805,003

199 888,496 1,688,696 2,667,894 2,811,318 424,871 3,559,487 11,818,764 30,758,188

1994 725,604 1,639,187 2,922,011 2,694,116 424,023 3,863,982 12,368,923 30,981,685

1995 763,215 1,652,147 3,088,320 2,883,156 500,084 4,324,009 13,210,831 31,848,848

1996 802,713 1,585,704 3,333,727 2,834,460 606,388 3,572,858 12,715,849 29,504,440

1997 842,729 1,624,187 3,322,103 3,133,957 626,151 3,411,379 12,960,506 28,943,327

1998 886,136 1,805,685 3,270,632 3,155,093 602,097 3,977,988 13,497,605 29,011,332

1999 929,558 1,593,858 4,090,299 3,262,870 826,108 3,696,973 14,399,668 29,788,448

2000 975,533 1,528,859 4,232,460 3,314,278 940,325 2,372,130 13,363,385 28,607,026

2001 1,022,242 1,512,697 4,040,411 3,315,004 925,355 2,680,895 13,496,804 25,863,590

2002 1,078,342 1,658,005 3,949,101 3,437,351 974,814 1,668,457 12,766,070 23,545,395

2003 1,130,557 1,579,003 5,598,522 3,365,016 1,015,056 1,445,148 14,133,300 25,088,621

2004 1,183,761 1,530,822 2,549,377 3,333,008 1,018,092 1,813,317 11,426,377 19,522,086

2005 1,239,565 1,489,361 2,664,388 3,481,814 959,2fi8 2,047,838 11,862,032 19,505,885

2006 1,300,414 1,427,276 4,436,643 3,507,524 1,038,026 2,845,985 14,556,068 23,037,251

2007 1,388,303 1,373,827 4,782,823 3,855,524 668,215 2,990,954 15,D15,646 22,872,574

2008 1,434,161 1,334,202 5,654,830 3,943,904 999,433 3,547,772 16,914,102 24,797,301

2009 1,503,269 1.373,641 3,726,039 4,310,140 1,080,062 3,357,450 15,350,601 21,660,342

2010 1,585,038 1,297,433 5,686,1 B1 5,385,764 1,033,467 4,321,133 19,309,016 26,223,130

2017 1,672,991 1,250,140 4,229,644 5,928,431 1,118,181 4,852,954 19,150,341 25,031,412

2012 1,758,667 1,210,162 4,248,790 6,189,558 1,090,934 5,401,397 19,899,508 25,034,310'

2013 1,812,080 1,128,915 6,343,556 6,550,942 1,186,869 2,563,236 19,585,578 23,714,509

2014 1,899,283 1,533,728 5,209,033 8,366,143 1,345,233 1,148,978 17,504,398 20,399,023

2075 1,954,611 1,479,091 9,320,182 8,666,793 1,288,246 530,003 23,238,926 26,065,298

2016 1,978,002 1,495,875 7,174,136 10,359,280 1,287,598 153,406 22,448,297 24,233,4D8

2017 1,9D6,927 1,461,738 5,510,660 9,976,357 1,188,800 120,731 20,182,614 20,948,956
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APPENDIX B: SWP FIXED COSTS - LCID



Tables A, C, D, E, F, and G

of the

Water Supply Contract

betw~ee n

The State of California

Department of Water Resources

Littlerock Creek Irrigation District

(in dollars except w here otherw Ise noted)

Trans ortation Charge

Capital Costs(Table D)

Minimum
Mnual OMP&R Water System

Calendar Payment of Mnual Interest Componerrt Delta Water Revenue Bond Off-Aquaduct

Year Principal Payment Table E & G) Char es Surchar e Pawer Facilities

1960

1961

1962 -

1963

1964 121 1,249 1,370 10,813

1965 227 1,459 1,888 12,808

1966 415 3,633 4,048 29,597

1967 809 4,875 5,684 39,999

1968 1,324 10,347 1,910 13,581 91,983

1969 1,966 15,024 1,474 18,464 120,362

1970 2,713 21,477 2,255 26,445 165,917

1871 3,413 20,231 3,119 26,763 181,609

1972 3,832 27,037 7,548 1,387 39,784 231,219

1873 4,113 31,568 9,581 2,577 47,839 267,597

1974 4,336 32,674 2,049 3,721 42,780 230,316

1875 4,580 28,656 10,631 4,752 - 48,679 251,927

1976 4,818 27,596 6,508 8,269 45,191 225,375

1877 5,063 28,048 11,038 6,861 51,010 244,846

1978 5,317 28,623 12,422 9,687 - 56,049 258,934

1979 5,590 26,167 12,223 11,889 57,869 257,307

1980 5,880 28,087 17,113 14,256 65,336 279,fiO4

1981 6,327 42,699 13,032 22,946 85,004 350,118

1882 6,605 17,928 26,245 26,335 - 77,111 35,686

1883 7,051 30,737 41,811 19,002 1,250 99,851 380,975

1984 7,564 48,781 34,781 20,719 77 171,932 411,039

1985 8,060 33,467 35,571 24,474 101,572 358,994

1986 8,503 32,529 38,788 27,822 15,873 123,515 420,162

7887 8,946 33,733 44,658 29,064 95,994 212,395 695,387

1888 9,392 33,704 39,276 32,024 2,154 30,395 146,945 463,043

1989 9,846 34,245 56,576 38,301 3,763 50,948 191,679 581,334

1980 10,411 33,951 31,445 38,438 3,385 110,678 228,308 666,433
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Tables A, C, D, E, F, and G

of the

Water Supply Contract

between

The State of California

Department of Water Resources

Littlerock Creek Irrigation District

(in dollars except w here olherw Isa noted)

TranapoRation Charge

Capital Costs Table D)

Minimum
Annua I OMP~ R W ate r Syste m

Calendar Payment of Mnual Interest Component Delta Water Revenue Bond Off-Aqueduct

Year Principal Payment TableEB Char es Surchar e PowerFacllitles

65,111 201,708 566,6671991 10,942 33,591 46,035 40,793 5,236

1992 11,535 32,403 51,225 46,610 7,053 22,891 171,717 464,320

7993 12,141 30,180 48,657 46,720 7,437 60,615 205,750 535,462

1994 12,784 29,831 53,958 44,772 7,431 88,548 237,325 594,452

1995 13,436 30,107 51,919 47,914 8,769 43,892 196,037 472,602

1996 14,123 28,753 59,930 47,104 10,840 31,891 192,241 448,055

1997 14,821 29,517 64,464 52,082 10,972 24,319 196,175 438,097

1998 15,579 29,173 58,055 52,433 10,550 3 ,385 196,155 421,609

7999 18,340 28,928 61,350 54,224 14,475 18,305 213,822 441,918

2000 17,148 27,848 79,374 55,078 16,486 195,932 390,108

2001 17,970 27,200 67,726 55,090 16,224 184,21 D 353,002

2002 18,837 28,960 69,689 55,912 18,724 188,122 346,967

2001 79,745 25,748 114,340 54,735 17,415 231,383 410,738

2004 20,674 24,283 41,999 54,215 17,432 158,583 270,941

2005 21,648 23,528 37,282 56,310 16,457 155,223 255,246

200fi 22,711 22,435 75,875 57,053 17,809 195,883 310,015

2007 23,854 21,500 81,033 62,714 11,413 200,514 305,433

2008 25,037 20,813 106,363 64,151 17,175 1,845 235,384 345,090

2009 26,245 20,274 57,372 70,109 18,529 3,269 195,798 276,279

2010 27,659 18,849 107,466 87,605 17,731 177 259,467 352,403

2011 29,173 18,001 68,537 96,432 19,149 407 231,699 302,854

2012 30,653 17,291 72,780 100,679 18,453 495 240,351 302,370

2013 32,195 15,825 116,198 106,557 20,052 3,270 284,097 356,097

2014 32,939 14,645 89,881 101,120 21,838 3,804 284,227 307,921

2015 33,975 13,707 161,805 137,621 20,924 2,214 370,048 415,052

2076 34,483 13,912 114,771 164,497 20,895 748 349,304 377,081

2017 33,301 13,387 92,259 158,416 19,257 658 317,278 329,652
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APPENDIX C: SWP FIXED COSTS - PWD



Tables A, C, D, E, F, and G

of the

Water Supply Contract

between

The State of California

Department of Water Resources

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT

(in dollars except w here otherw Ise noted)

Transportation Charge

Capital Costs(Table D)

Minimum
Mnual OMP&R Water System

Calendar Paymentoi Mnual Interest Component Dena Water Revenue Bond Off-Aqueduct

Year Principal Payment (Table E~ G Char es Surchar e Power Facilitlea

1960

1961

1962

1963

1964 946 8,222 8,168 72,363

1865 1,796 10,440 12,236 92,953

1968 3,323 24,593 27,918 204,109

1967 8,487 34,366 - 40,863 287,556

1968 10,751 73,448 14,340 98,537 667,385

1868 1fi,145 110,471 11,056 137,872 897,444

7970 22,300 153,890 16,970 - 193,260 1,212,518

1971 27,937 147,486 23,402 - 188,825 1,200,609

1972 31,440 193,968 52,963 13,021 291,392 1,693,530

1973 33,743 220,289 67,837 26,131 - 348,000 1,946,610

1974 35,597 233,427 18,970 39,831 325,625 1,753,080

1975 37,618 202,360 77,908 50,989 368,875 1,911,383

1976 39,567 199,484 49,562 67,591 356,204 1,776,445

7977 41,584 197,159 80,370 77,255 396,368 1,902,550

1978 43,662 201,374 90,048 98,345 433,429 2,002,349

7979 45,910 198,167 90,841 117,285 452,203 2,010,665

7980 48,293 197,299 126,792 138,590 510,974 2,186,702

198! 52,024 303,742 94,787 211,396 661,949 2,726,464

1982 54,285 122,914 188,716 235,100 601,015 2,382,566

1983 59,032 214,456 310,207 163,925 747,620 2,852,496

1984 63,894 346,012 258,244 174,500 842,650 3,094,398

1985 68,768 233,038 259,837 200,605 157,601 919,850 3,251,098

1986 73,550 225,068 284,701 223,785 301,488 1,108,590 3,771,104

7987 78,491 229,358 328,728 228,654 258,719 1,123,950 3,679,840

1988 83,316 229,980 270,456 248,146 16,240 126,639 974,777 3,071,650

1989 87,9fi8 231,677 424,450 276,155 27,981 493,424 1,541,653 4,875,602

1990 93,341 228,640 227,818 289,119 24,956 545,342 1,409,216 4,113,513
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Tables A, C, D, E, F, and G

of the

Water Supply Contract

between

The State of California

Department of Water Resources

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT

(in dollars except w here olherw ise noted)

Transportation Charge

Capkal Costs (Table D)

Mlnlmum
Annual OMPBR Water System

Calendar Payment of Mnual Interest ~mponent Deka Water Revenue Bond Off-Aqueduct
Year Principal Payment Table E8 G Cher es Surchar e Power Facilities

1991 97,336 226,192 340,042 308,835 38,841 488,207 1,497,253 4,208,443

1992 101,682 220,395 380,758 350,587 52,160 367,996 1,473,576 3,984,527

1993 106,883 204,334 353,768 351,415 55,045 640,919 1,712,164 4,455,886

7994 112,034 200,467 390,690 336,766 54,968 678,876 1,773,801 4,443,018

1995 117,527 201,835 404,431 360,394 64,852 636,541 1,795,580 4,304,641

1996 123,261 191,420 4g2,831 354,307 78,696 723,670 1,914,185 4,441,462

1997 129,259 195,880 478,826 391,745 81,146 648,652 1,925,506 4,300,033

7998 135,477 192,722 447,693 394,387 76,028 657,806 1,906,113 4,096,840

1999 141,697 190,165 607,048 407,859 107,D60 710,674 2,164,703 4,478,099

2000 148,687 363,992 685,260 510,073 121,898 257,146 2,087,038 4,155,371

2001 155,717 231,130 595,727 510,185 135,581 445,872 2,074,212 3,974,820

2002 163,127 225,450 617,420 517,791 139,071 529,674 2,192,533 4,043,849

2003 170,744 213,868 961,287 506,894 144,812 277,984 2,275,589 4,039,495

2004 178,712 206,574 374,148 502,073 144,960 368,929 1,775,396 3,033,283

2005 187,084 200,587 367,640 521,475 136,853 400,828 1,814,461 2,983,663

2006 196,108 191,376 886,040 528,381 148,089 442,278 2,172,252 3,437,928

2007 205,998 183,285 707,653 580,783 95,550 710,515 2,483,784 3,783,423

2008 216,175 177,549 925,683 594,096 144,009 1,052,126 3,109,818 4,559,219

2009 226,411 173,072 517,546 649,264 154,087 1,154,433 2,874,813 4,056,482

2010 238,646 160,990 889,664 811,293 147,438 810,142 3,058,173 4,153,234

2011 251,751 154,104 842,842 893,038 159,239 551,068 2,652,042 3,466,484

2072 264,471 148,214 624,548 932,373 154,732 1,072,349 3,196,687 4,021,549

2013 277,541 135,890 1,030,792 986,811 168,130 512,798 3,111,962 3,768,010

2014 283,992 125,755 771,792 936,466 183,142 348,413 2,849,560 3,087,706

2015 292,536 117,899 1,383,482 1,274,493 175,577 131,952 3,375,939 3,788,529

2016 297,194 120,323 1,025,625 1,523,381 175,457 29,017 3,170,997 3,423,158

2017 288,693 114,988 786,871 1,487,071 181,746 21,152 2,840,521 2,951,301
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